O S hte I I . o 7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009-9334

CHARTER TOWNSHIP 269-216-5220 Fax 375-7180
. www.oshtemo.org
« Established 1839 .

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING

OSHTEMO TOWNSHIP HALL
7275 WEST MAIN STREET

THURSDAY, JANUARY 22, 2026
6:00 P.M.

AGENDA
1. Callto Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Approval of Agenda

4. Election of Officers: Chair, Vice Chair

5. Approval of Minutes: January 8, 2026 Meeting

6. Presentation on Energy Systems and PA 233
Presentations will be heard from representatives of the Michigan Public Service Commission, Michigan
Department of Environment, Great Lakes and Energy, and the University of Michigan Graham
Sustainability Institute.

7. Public Comment (refer to Policy for Public Comment)

8. Planning Commissioner Comments

9. Other Updates and Business

10. Adjournment

Broadcast Notice:
This meeting is being streamed live on the Public Media Network website and app and recorded for watching
on-demand. It is also broadcast on Spectrum and AT&T community access channels.

Packet Paget



Policy for Public Comment
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting:

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda ltems or Public Comment — while this is not intended to be a forum for
dialogue and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may
be delegated to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated
questions can be answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email
(oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited. At the close of
public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include questions
are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further research,
and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board deliberation
which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual
capabilities of the meeting room. Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required.

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on
which the public hearing is being conducted. Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be
directed to any issue.

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting.

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to the orderly
conduct of business. The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which
does not follow these guidelines.
(adopted 5/9/2000)
(revised 5/14/2013)
(revised 1/8/2018)

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone calls,
stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from Monday-
Thursday, 8 a.m.-1 p.m. and 2-5 p.m., and on Friday, 8 a.m.—1 p.m. Additionally, questions and concerns are
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person.

Oshtemo Township Board of Trustees Township Department Information

Supervisor ASSessor:
Cheri Bell 216-5220 chell@oshtemo.org Kristine Biddle 216-5225 assessot(@oshtemo.otg
Clerk Fire Chief:
Dusty Farmer 216-5224 dfarmer@oshtemo.org Greg McComb 375-0487 gmecomb@oshtemo.org
T i Ordinance Enforcement:
Clreasgj rerk 165260 oo Alan Miller 216-5230 amiller@oshtemo.org

are buszka - cbuszka(@os temo.org Pal’ks Director:
Trustees Vanessa Street 216-5233 ystreet(@oshtemo.org
Neil Sikora 760-6769 nsikora@oshtemo.org Rental Info 216-5224 oshtemo(@oshtemo.org
Kristin Cole 375-4260 keole@oshtemo.org Planning Director:

) ) di Stefforia 375-4260

Zak Ford 271-5513 ford@oshtemo.org Jodi < .

e A Public Works Director:
Michael Chapman 375-4260 mchapman(@oshtemo.otg Anna Horner 216-5228 ahorner a)oshtcmo‘org

Packet Page 2


mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbuszka@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbell@oshtemo.org
mailto:kcole@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:kbradford@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:gmccomb@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:ilubbert@oshtemo.org
mailto:ahorner@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP
PLANNING COMMISSION
MINUTES OF AMEETING HELD JANUARY 9, 2026

AGENDA
ELECTION OF OFFICERS

WORK ITEM: MISCELLANEOUS ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS (DRAFT
ONE)

A meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Planning Commission was held Thursday, January
8, 2026, commencing at 6:00 p.m. at the Oshtemo Township Hall, 7275 West Main Street.

MEMBERS PRESENT: Michael Chapman, Township Board Liaison
Deb Everett
Scot Jefferies
Alistair Smith
Jeremiah Smith

MEMBERS ABSENT: None

Also present were Jodi Stefforia, Planning Director; Leeanna Harris, Planning and Zoning
Administrator; Colten Hutson, Zoning Administrator; and approximately 16 interested persons.

CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Acting Chair Everett called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. Those in attendance joined in reciting
the Pledge of Allegiance.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Acting Chair Everett introduced the item of agenda approval. It was noted that Item 4, Election of
Officers, will be removed from the agenda due to the lack of a full Planning Commission being
present.

Mr. A. Smith made a motion to adopt the agenda as amended. Mr. Jefteries supported the motion.
The motion passed unanimously.

Planning Director Stefforia announced that the January 22 Planning Commission meeting will
consist of a formal Planning Commission and public education session regarding battery energy
storage systems and PA 233. Confirmed speakers include representatives from the Michigan Public
Service Commission, the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, and the
Graham Institute for Sustainability at the University of Michigan.

Packet Page 3



Page 2

PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS
Acting Chair Everett opened the floor for public comment on non-agenda items. One individual

addressed the Commission regarding drafting an energy ordinance requesting that the Planning
Commission take sufficient time, seek diverse expert input, and proceed cautiously.

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM THE MEETING OF NOVEMBER 13, 2025
Acting Chair Everett asked for additions, deletions, or corrections to the minutes of the meeting
held on November 13, 2025. There were none. Mr. Jefferies made_a metion to approve the
Minutes of the Meetings of November 13,2025, as presented. Mr. A. Smith supported the motion.
The motion passed unanimously.

MISCELLANEOUS ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS (DRAFT ONE)

Director Stefforia explained that the Planning Department periodically brings forward
miscellaneous text amendments as part of ongoing ordinance maintenance and per department
goals shared with the Township Board annually.. These updates include housekeeping fixes
(corrections and cross-reference cleanups) as well as targeted changes to address provisions that
have proven unworkable during administration and development review. The main impetus for
this round, however, is to address inadequate lighting in the multi-family areas and some older
commercial areas where residents, business owners and the Sheriff’s Department have raised
security concerns.

A request was received from the Legal Department, in coordination with the Sheriff’s Department
and Ordinance Enforcement Department, to update outdoor lighting standards, especially in
commercial and multi-family areas to improve safety and security. Staff noted older apartment
complexes and some businesses seek increased lighting for resident/visitor safety and for security
camera effectiveness. Because some older sites are nonconforming, the Township is also
considering companion amendments to the general ordinance to establish minimum lighting levels
where zoning cannot require upgrades.

Additionally, other changes include clarifying the definition of Assembly/Convention Hall so the
term applies only where a space is principally used for large gatherings, avoiding unintended
barriers to small-scale entrepreneurial uses in commercial spaces.

An amendment to allow indoor recreation uses in existing commercial/industrial buildings (e.g.,
skating rink, bowling, indoor recreation/health club) as permitted rather than requiring a special
use process, while still requiring code/fire/parking compliance, is proposed.

Changes are proposed to reduce burdens in the Village Commercial District by streamlining review
for additions and exterior fagade changes to an administrative review level, while still requiring
compliance with the village form-based code standards.

Also, allowing Assembly/Convention Hall uses in existing Village Commercial buildings as a

special exception to support reuse of previously occupied event spaces is proposed, with discussion
about whether an occupancy cap is necessary and what an appropriate cap would be. Staff offered

Packet Page 4



Page 3

to provide historical background/minutes and prior occupancy information at the next review of
the amendments.

Several corrections to ordinance references and formatting issues are proposed, including
renaming/aligning section titles, updating landscaping references to current sections, fixing
outdated lighting section citations, and removing duplicated provisions.

Home occupation standards are clarified to ensure limitations apply to detached accessory
structures (not attached garages), consistent with intent.

Submittal requirements are modernized by removing obsolete requirements for hard copies, mylar,
CDs, or floppy disks.

Adjust vehicle/equipment display rules for dealerships and similar uses, recognizing existing
conditions along Stadium Drive while protecting required green space/landscaping.

Updating address posting requirements for residential addresses by adding ADUs to the listed
exceptions. There was discussion as to whether other codes (fire/building) also govern address
visibility; commissioners emphasized safety and requested additional coordination with the Fire
Marshal and Building Official.

Clarify communication tower provisions to ensure consistent references to the Township’s
5G/communications standards section and remove duplicative text.

The next steps were discussed. The amendment package is intended to move forward to a public
hearing (date to be determined). Staff indicated additional refinements, particularly on the address
posting topic, could be made prior to the hearing as further input from public safety officials is
gathered.

Mr. Chapman made a motion to move the discussed miscellaneous zoning ordinance amendments
forward to a public hearing at the next available Planning Commission meeting, with the public
hearing date to be determined. Mr. Jefferies supported the motion. The motion passed
unanimously.

2026 PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING SCHEDULE

The Acting Chair introduced the proposed 2026 Planning Commission meeting schedule,
continuing the regular meeting pattern of the second and fourth Thursdays of each month, with
exceptions in November and December.

Mr. A. Smith made a motion to approve the 2026 Planning Commission meeting schedule as
presented. Mr. Jefferies supported the motion. The motion passed unanimously.

Packet Page 5



Page 4

2025 PLANNING DEPARTMENT ANNUAL REPORT

The Planning Commission received the 2025 Annual Report prepared by the Planning Department.
Commissioners acknowledged the volume of work completed during the year and noted that the
report provides a helpful summary for both the Commission and the community.

Commissioners expressed appreciation to staff for compiling the report and recognized the value
of documenting accomplishments and progress over the past year. It was noted that the Annual
Report will be made available on the Township website for public reference.

RESPONSE TO PUBLIC COMMENT

Planning Director Stefforia responded to questions raised during public comment, clarifying that
no application has been submitted or is under review and that discussions to date have been limited
to general education and information sharing. Ms. Stefforia further clarified that she is not
representing any developer, has not conversed with a developer outside a township hall, and has
no ongoing professional involvement with other jurisdictions or with related projects in other
jurisdictions.

She reiterated that the Township’s approach to this issue is education-first, including coordination
with the Fire Department and regional and state-level agencies, to ensure public safety
considerations are fully understood before any policy decisions are contemplated.

In response to questions about timing, Ms. Stefforia indicated that a working draft ordinance can
be shared with the Planning Commission for review and discussion purposes, with the
understanding that it would be clearly identified as a draft and subject to potentially significant
revision as additional expert input is received. She noted that multiple iterations are expected and
that version tracking and redlined changes would help maintain transparency throughout the
process.

She concluded by emphasizing that the issue represents a significant and evolving land use
challenge statewide, that the Township is proceeding deliberately and transparently, and that staff
welcomes informed discussion as the Planning Commission and community continue to learn
more.

ADJOURNMENT
The meeting was adjourned at 7:07 p.m.

A member of the public spoke from the audience asking why additional public comment had not
been taken and questioning action items on the agenda. Acting Chair Everett stated that only
election of officers had been removed from the agenda when it was approved due to only 5
members being present. Stefforia reminded them that the November 13, 2025 meeting minutes,
2026 meeting schedule and 2025 Planning Department Annual Report were, in fact, discussed and
addressed.

Packet Page 6



Page 5

PUBLIC COMMENT (reopened)

At her discretion, Acting Chair Everett reopened the meeting for public comment. Five individuals
addressed the Planning Commission.

With no further comment, public comment was closed.

Trustee Chapman asked that a time for Planning Commissioner comments be added to the end of
the agenda. There was concurrence that this should be added to future agendas.
RE-ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, the meeting was re-adjourned at 7:19 p.m.

Minutes Prepared: ~ January 8, 2026
Minutes Approved:

Packet Page 7



This page left blank intentionally.

Packet Page 8



7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009
S t e m 0 269-216-5220 Fax 269-375-7180 www.oshtemo.org

CHARTER TOWNSHIP
.- Established 1839 .

MEMO
To: Planning Commission
From: Jodi Stefforia, Planning Director and Planning Department Staff
Date: January 16, 2026
RE: Energy Systems Presentations at January 22 Planning Commission meeting

As shared at your last meeting, the Township has invited staff representatives from the Graham
Sustainability Institute at the University of Michigan, Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes
and Energy (EGLE) and the Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) to present on Public Act 233 with
the latter two presenters speaking from their agency’s role in reviewing and permitting a land use such as
a battery energy storage system.

The planned structure of the meeting allows each speaker 20 minutes to present, then 10 minutes for
question and answer with the Planning Commission. Public comment will be offered after the three
presentations are done. At the conclusion of public comment, we will ask the appropriate speaker(s) to
return to the podium to address any new questions raised.

Packet Page 9



This page left blank intentionally.

Packet Page 10



7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009
S te m 0 269-216-5220 Fax 269-375-7180 www.oshtemo.org

CHARTER TOWNSHIP
.- Established 1839 .

MEMO
To: Planning Commission
From: Jodi Stefforia, Planning Director and Planning Department Staff
Date: January 15, 2026
RE: Draft One — Energy Systems Zoning Ordinance Amendments

The attached first draft of zoning ordinance language to address energy systems (solar, wind and battery
storage) is shared in advance of the presentations scheduled for January 22 to help shape questions you
may have about PA 233 and its implementation. We are working to secure additional subject matter
experts to get into technical aspects of energy storage such as safety and battery chemistry. Oshtemo is
not alone in the interest to learn more so we are partnering with other agencies on it.

This first draft has a lot of changes since the draft shared in February 2025 which was never discussed by
the Planning Commission. As a result, we are treating this as the true first draft as it reflects changes due
to additional research and review of MPSC instructions/procedures. It also includes elements of
ordinances from other Michigan communities. The ordinance template was based upon publications
from UM and MSUE and then personalized to Oshtemo Township and expanded upon. To be
comprehensive, wind and solar are included as the zoning ordinance already addresses these land uses;
deletion of existing wind and solar zoning language is included in this draft. Similarly, private accessory-
scale systems are addressed.

Departures from PA 233 include the following:

e A definition of sensitive land use with a 1,000-foot setback required for an energy storage facility.
Sensitive land uses include childcare facility, assisted living facility, school, and hospital.

e Setbacks for solar and energy storage are increased: from perimeter fencing to outer wall of
residences (400 feet vs. 300 feet); road right of way (100 feet vs. 50 feet); and shared property
lines (100 feet vs. 50 feet).

e Decibels allowed at outer wall of residences is decreased (50 dBA versus 55 dBA).

e A prohibition on the use lithium ion and lithium iron phosphate batteries.

e A Community Host Agreement requirement in the amount of $5,000 versus $2,000 per megawatt.

You will see areas of the draft in highlight. These are areas for further discussion or shared for
informational purposes. There are several references to the MPSC Application Filing Instructions and
Procedures; the Planning Commission may decide to fully include that language instead of the reference
as we work through the draft at a future meeting. We are not anticipating a discussion of the draft on
January 22; it is shared at your request made on January 8 to help formulate questions for the
presenters.

Packet Page 11



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 1|Page

Energy Systems - Draft One Zoning Ordinance Amendments (January 2026)

Note: Create new Energy Systems Requirements for Special Uses Subsection in
Ordinance including replacement of existing Section 60 and Section 49.290 to address
utility scale energy storage, solar energy and wind energy systems. Identify zoning
districts in which to allow. Add language for accessory private energy systems as Section
48.170.

Section 49.290 - Energy Systems.

The purpose of this section is to establish minimum requirements and regulations for the
construction, erection, placement, location, maintenance, modification, operation, and
decommissioning of principal use energy systems and private accessory energy systems in the
Township in a manner that promotes economic development and ensures the protection of health,
safety, and welfare of the public while also avoiding adverse impacts to important areas such as
agricultural lands, residential areas, endangered species habitats, conservation lands, and other
sensitive lands.

A. Definitions.

Energy Storage System: A system that absorbs, stores, and discharges electricity. Energy storage
system does not include fossil fuel storage or power-to-gas storage that directly uses fossil fuel
inputs.

Energy storage systems are classified as follows:

1. Energy Storage System, Private Accessory: an Energy Storage System that is an accessory use
that is intended to primarily serve the needs of the consumer on-site.

2. Energy Storage System, Principal Use: An Energy Storage System that is a principal use (or co-
located with a second principal use) and that is designed and built to connect to the transmission
grid.

Leq: The equivalent average sound level for the measurement period.
Non-Patrticipating Property: Any property that is adjacent to a participating property.

Occupied Community Building: A school, place of worship, day-care facility, public library,
community center, or other similar building that the applicant knows or reasonably should know is
used on a regular basis as a gathering place for community members.

Participating Property: A solar energy system, energy storage system or wind energy system host
property or any real property that is the subject of an agreement that provides for the payment of
monetary compensation to the landowner from system owner (or affiliate) regardless of whether
any part of a system is constructed on the property.

Sensitive Land Uses: A land use with a high volume of people and/or a vulnerable population. These
uses include Assisted Living Facilities, Commercial Child Care Facilities, Educational Facilities
(Pre-K though 12) , and Hospitals.

Packet Page 12



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 2|Page

Solar Energy System: A system that captures and converts solar energy into electricity, for
the purpose of sale or for use in locations other than solely the solar energy system property.
A solar energy system includes, but is not limited to, the following equipment and facilities to
be constructed by an electric provider or independent power producer: photovoltaic solar
panels; solar inverters; access roads; distribution, collection, and feeder lines; wires and
cables; conduit; footings; foundations; towers; poles; crossarms; guy lines and anchors;
substations; interconnection or switching facilities; circuit breakers and transformers; energy
storage systems; overhead and underground control; communications and radio relay systems
and telecommunications equipment; utility lines and installations; generation tie lines; solar
monitoring stations; and accessory equipment and structures.

Solar Energy Systems are classified as follows:

1. Solar Energy System, Private Accessory: A solar energy system with a building-mounted
and/or ground-mounted collector array and related apparatus intended to generate
electricity only for the premises on which the system is located and in some instances, on
neighboring premises, and not primarily for connection to a public utility power grid;
provided, this term is not intended to include a solar energy collector device not exceeding
5 square feet in area.

2. Solar Energy System, Principal Use: A Solar Energy System with a name plate capacity of
more than 2 megawatts for the primary purpose of off-site use through the electrical grid or
export to the wholesale market.

Wind Energy System: A system that captures and converts wind into electricity for the purpose
of sale or for use in locations other than solely the wind energy system property. Wind energy
system includes, but is not limited to, the following equipment and facilities to be constructed
by an electric provider or independent power producer: wind towers; wind turbines; access
roads; distribution, collection, and feeder lines; wires and cables; conduit; footings;
foundations; towers; poles; crossarms; guy lines and anchors; substations; interconnection or
switching facilities; circuit breakers and transformers; energy storage systems; overhead and
underground control; communications and radio relay systems and telecommunications
equipment; monitoring and recording equipment and facilities; erosion control facilities; utility
lines and installations; generation tie lines; ancillary buildings; wind monitoring stations; and
accessory equipment and structures.

Wind Energy Systems are classified as follows:

1. Wind Energy System, Private Accessory: A Wind Energy Storage System that is an
accessory use that is intended to primarily serve the needs of the consumer on-site.

2. Wind Energy System, Principal Use: A Wind Energy System for the primary purpose of
off-site use through the electrical grid or export to the wholesale market.

Packet Page 13



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 3|Page

B. General Provisions. Principal Use Energy System.

Any application for a Principal Use Energy System shall contain all of the following. Each item
listed below shall be numbered to correspond with the subsection it addresses. An incomplete
application will not be accepted.

1.

The complete name, mailing address, email address, and telephone number of the applicant
and property owner(s).

The planned date for the start of construction and the expected duration of construction.

The submission shall include content responsive to all of the following, to the extent not
otherwise provided pursuant to the below referenced sections:

a. A description of the energy system, including a site plan as described in Section 64 of
this Ordinance. All information and supporting materials relied upon by the applicant
to demonstrate compliance with the site plan approval standards as specified in this
Ordinance shall be provided.

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Site Selection. In the AG: Agricultural District and RR: Rural Residential District, this
land use shall not unreasonably diminish farmland, including, but not limited to, prime
farmland and, to the extent that evidence of such farmland is available in the evidentiary
record, farmland dedicated to the cultivation of specialty crops.

A map of all properties upon which any component of a facility or ancillary feature would
be located showing current land use, tax identification number and owner of record of
each property. Identify any parcels within the facility boundaries participating in farmland
development rights agreements Michigan’s Farmland and Open Space Preservation
Program (PA 116). Additionally, for wind energy systems, all properties within two
thousand (2,000) feet of such properties, and for solar energy or energy storage
systems, all properties within one thousand (1,000) feet. This should indicate the
location of all existing structures and shall identify such structures as occupied or vacant
and their use if occupied. This should also include the identification of land being used
for agriculture including the cultivation of specialty crops according to publicly available
data.

Lot lines and required setbacks shown and dimensioned.

Size and location of existing and proposed water utilities, including any proposed
connections to public or private community sewer or water supply systems.

A map of any existing overhead and underground major facilities for electric, gas, and
telecommunications transmission within the facility and surrounding area.

The location and size of any existing or proposed substations or energy storage facilities
accessory to the principal use.

The location and size of all surface water drainage facilities, including source, volume
expected, route, and course to final destination.’

Designated groundwater management zones, designated agricultural districts and flood-
prone areas.

Packet Page 14



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 4|Page

ix. Recreational and other land uses that might be affected by the sight or sound of the
construction or operation of the facility, interconnections and related facilities. Identify
any wildlife or scenic corridors, open spaces, known archaeological, geologic, historical,
or scenic areas, parks, designated wilderness, forest lands, scenic vistas, conservation
easement wetlands, federal or state designated scenic byways, nature preserves,
designated trails, major communication and utility uses and infrastructure, and
institutional, community, and municipal uses and facilities.

Xx. A map depicting the proposed facilities, adjacent properties, all structures within
participating and adjacent properties, property lines, municipal boundaries, and the
projected sound isolines along with the modeled sound isolines including the statutory
limit.

xi. For wind energy systems, a map or schematic showing the area including sensitive
receptors that will be impacted by shadow flicker for wind facilities, including isolines
indicating areas expected to experience 30 hours or more per year of shadow flicker.

b. A description of the expected use of the energy system.
c. A description of the expected public benefits of the proposed energy system.

d. A description of the anticipated effects on the environment and natural resources including
records of consultation with relevant state, tribal and federal agencies. REQUIRE AN EIS?

e. A qualitative assessment of the compatibility of the facility, including off-site staging and
storage areas with the Go! Green Oshtemo and Oshtemo 2045 Comprehensive Plan
including the expected direct and indirect impacts of the proposed energy system on the
conservation of the environment, historic resources, recreational resources, and natural
resources including wildlife and/or scenic corridors and how the applicant intends to address
and mitigate these impacts. The assessment shall identify the nearby land uses and shall
address the land use impacts of the facility on residential areas, schools, civic facilities,
recreational areas and commercial areas. The assessment and evaluation shall
demonstrate to the Planning Commission’s satisfaction that conflicts from facility-generated
noise, traffic, and visual impacts with current and planned uses have been minimized to the
extent practicable.

f. Information on the effects of the proposed energy system on public health and safety.
g. A description of the portion of the community where the energy system will be located.

h. A statement and reasonable evidence that the proposed energy system will not commence
commercial operation until it complies with applicable state and federal environmental laws,
including, but not limited to, the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994
PA 451, MCL 324.101 to 324.90106.

i. Evidence of consultation of the proposed system as presented to the Township, before
submission of the application, with the following county, state and federal agencies before
submitting the application, including,

i. Federal agencies — where applicable.

ii.  Michigan Department of Natural Resources.

Packet Page 15



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 5|Page

n.

O.

p.

ii. State Historic Preservation Office.
iv. Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy.

v.  Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural Development.

Vi. Kalamazoo County Drain Commission.
vii.  Road Commission of Kalamazoo County.
Viii. Owners of major facilities for electric, gas, or telecommunications lines.

iX. Michigan Department of Transportation — Aeronautics Commission

The Soil and Economic Survey Report under Section 60303 of the Natural Resources and
Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.60303, for Kalamazoo County, and
when within 1,000 feet of Van Kal Street, Van Buren County.

MISO Interconnection queue information per Section 6.3.12 of the MPSC Certificate for
Solar Energy, Wind Energy, and Energy Storage Facilities Application Filing Instructions
and Procedures as may be amended and/or renumbered by the Michigan Public Service
Commission .

For solar energy and energy storage systems, if the proposed site of the energy system is
undeveloped land, a description and location of feasible alternative developed locations,
including, but not limited to, vacant industrial property and brownfields, and an explanation
of why they were not chosen.

. If the energy system is reasonably expected to have an impact on television signals,

microwave signals, agricultural global position systems, military defense radar, radio
reception, or weather and doppler radio, a plan to minimize and mitigate that impact.
Information in the plan concerning military defense radar is exempt from disclosure under
the Freedom of Information Act, 1976 PA 442, MCL 15.231 to 15.246, and shall not be
disclosed by the commission or the electric provider or independent power producer except
pursuant to court order.

A stormwater management plan pursuant to Section 56.20.

A fire response plan and an emergency response plan providing the same information as
required by the Michigan Public Service Commission’s application for a certificate for Solar
Energy, Wind Energy, and Energy Storage Facilities. For energy storage facilities, see also
Section 49.290.D.3.K.

A decommissioning plan, satisfying Section 6.3.13 of the MPSC Certificate for Solar
Energy, Wind Energy, and Energy Storage Facilities Application Filing Instructions and
Procedures as may be amended and/or renumbered by the Michigan Public Service
Commission, that is consistent with agreements reached between the applicant and other
landowners of participating properties and that ensures the return of all participating
properties to a useful condition similar to that which existed before construction, including
removal of above and below ground facilities and infrastructure that have no ongoing
purpose. The decommissioning plan shall include a Memorandum of Decommissioning Plan

Packet Page 16



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 6|Page

that shall be executed and recorded at the Kalamazoo County Register of Deeds. A
recorded copy of the Memorandum of Decommissioning Plan shall be executed and
recorded upon issuance of a building permit or if a building permit is not required, within
seven (7) days prior to commencement of construction. A draft of the proposed
Memorandum of Decommissioning Plan shall be provided to the Township within 30 days
after special use approval.

The decommissioning plan shall include, but is not limited to, financial assurance in the form
of abond, a parent company guarantee, or an irrevocable letter of credit, but excluding cash.
The applicant shall hire a third party Michigan licensed engineer with expertise in
decommissioning to calculate the amount of the financial assurance which shall not be less
than the estimated cost of decommissioning the energy system, after deducting salvage
value which shall be evaluated every five (5) years and the amount of the financial
assurance adjusted accordingly. However, the financial assurance shall be posted before
the start of commercial operations in increments as follows:

i. Atleast 25% by the start of full construction.
ii. Atleast 50% by the start of the first year following the start of construction.
ii. 100% by the start of full commercial operation.

The Township must be notified in writing at least 60 days before the financial assurance is
set to expire. Failure to provide proper notification and updated financial assurance
information is a violation of this ordinance.

g. A preconstruction sound report, satisfying Michigan Public Service Commission Sound
Modeling Guidelines, detailing the sound modeling results along with mitigation plans to
ensure that sound emitted from the facilities will remain below ordinance limits throughout
the operational life of the facilities. Post-construction sound monitoring protocol is required
as part of the preconstruction sound report and shall satisfy Section 7.7 of the Certificate for
Solar Energy, Wind Energy, and Energy Storage Facilities Application Filing Instructions
and Procedures as may be amended and/or renumbered by the Michigan Public Service
Commission.

r. For solar energy systems and energy storage systems, a visual impact assessment
prepared by a third party qualified professional of the visual impacts of the proposed project
including a description of the project, the existing visual landscape, and important scenic
resources, plus visual simulations that show what the project will look like including
proposed screening and landscaping, a description of potential project impacts and
mitigation measures that would help reduce the visual impacts created by the project.

s. For solar energy systems and energy storage systems, a photometric plan to demonstrate
compliance with dark sky-friendly lighting solutions.

t. For wind energy systems, light-mitigation plans, including exemptions requested for during
the construction period.

u. For wind energy systems, a report detailing the flicker modeling results with mitigation plans
to ensure that flicker will remain below the limit listed in Section C.2.E throughout the

Packet Page 17



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 7|Page

operational life of the facility. The report must be prepared by a qualified third party using
the most current modeling software available and be based on real world or adjusted case
assessment modeling. The report must show the locations and estimated amount of shadow
flicker to be experienced at all occupied community buildings and non-participating
residences as a result of the individual turbines in the system.

v. For energy storage systems, evidence of compliance with the following:

i. (2026) NFPA 855 or any applicable successor standard adopted by the MPSC in effect
at the time of commencement of construction including, but not limited to the following:

i.1. Commissioning Plan (NFPA 855 Chapters 4.2.4 & 6.1.3.2)
i.2 Emergency Operation Plan (NFPA 855 Chapter 4.3.2.1.4)
i.3. Hazard Mitigation Analysis (NFPA 855 Chapter 4.4)

ii. UL 9540 Standard for Energy Storage Systems and Equipment

iii. UL 9540A Test Method for Evaluating Thermal Runaway Fire Propagation in Battery
Energy Storage Systems. This testing is required to prove that the system’s design and
fire suppression measures are effective at preventing the spread of a thermal event.

w. A Community Host Agreement in the amount of $5,000 per megawatt of nameplate
capacity which shall be executed prior to commercial operation of the system.

X. Installation and Operational Safety. The system shall comply with all of the following
requirements:

i. The energy system shall be designed and constructed for interconnection to a
Michigan Public Service Commission or Midcontinent Independent System
Operator regulated utility electrical power grid and shall be operated with such
interconnection.

i. The energy system and all foundation elements shall comply with all applicable
building and electrical code requirements, and any applicable federal/state
regulations. The manufacturer's engineer or another qualified engineer shall
provide written certification that the design, installation (including foundations), and
interconnection is compliant with the manufacturer and industry standards, all
applicable local construction and electrical codes, and any applicable federal/state
regulations.

ii. Other than transmission or distribution lines for interconnection to the electric
power grid, all electrical wiring shall be buried underground; except where the
manufacturer's engineer or a qualified engineer employed by the utility that
owns/operates the electrical power grid to which the energy system shall be
interconnected certifies an underground wiring installation is not permitted by an
applicable code and/or applicable federal/state regulation, with attached complete
documentation supporting any such certification.

y. A plan for third party monitoring of the energy system with at least once weekly site
visits while the system is being constructed and shall continue to all approvals have

Packet Page 18



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 8|Page

aa.

bb.

CC.

dd.

ee.

ff.

been issued by the appropriate regulating authorities.

Through the special use process, the Planning Commission may require reasonable
measures to minimize visual impacts by preserving existing natural vegetation,
requiring new vegetative screening or other appropriate measures. The Planning
Commission shall determine such visual screening measures as may be required, if
any, on a site-specific basis pursuant to the landscaping standards of Section 53 and/or
the standards for site plan approval as specified in Section 64 of this Ordinance, as
most applicable to the circumstances. In making this determination the Planning
Commission is specifically authorized to consider whether additional visual screening
measures are appropriate where a system is proposed to be located on property
adjoining a residential property.

A Groundcover and Vegetation Establishment and Management Plan shall be provided as
part of the site plan. Vegetation establishment must include native species and natural seed
mixes and may not include invasive plant species or noxious weeds and shall satisfy Section
226(6)(a) and Section 226(6)(b) of Michigan Public Act 233 of 2023.

For solar energy systems, describe the plan to establish and maintain pollinator habitat
and vegetative ground cover for the life of the proposed facility. This information is not
required if the facility is proposed entirely on brownfield land.

If the system includes an access drive(s) for maintenance purposes, the surface of the
access drive(s) shall be permeable unless on brownfield land, or on an already paved
surface at the time of application for approval such as a parking lot or former building
foundation.

Except as otherwise depicted on and approved with the site plan, the area within which
the system is located shall not be paved with asphalt/concrete or any other surface
material that is impermeable to water other than for slab foundations for structures and
equipment. This shall not apply to a system located on brownfield land or on an existing
paved area such as a former building slab or in an unused parking area when adequate
parking remains for any other use on the site.

Non-motorized facilities shall be provided pursuant to the adopted Non-Motorized
Facilities Map.

Construction Information: Describe the project’'s proposed construction and installation

methods including:

1. Soil surveying and testing plans, pursuant to Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Act (NREPA).

. Grading and excavation.

. Construction of temporary and permanent access roads, staging areas, and laydown
areas and trenches.

. Stringing of cable and/or laying of pipe.

. Installation of electric transmission line poles and structures, including foundations.

. Depth of underground infrastructure.

. Post-construction restoration.

. Maps showing the following:

i. The planned routes (may be preliminary) for cranes and other heavy equipment.

Wi

o~NO O~

Packet Page 19



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 9|Page

i. The location of any existing deeded easement granted to any entity within the
footprint of the facility.

iii. The location of known existing and proposed county and intercounty drains, drain
easements, and underground drainage tile including data provided by the county
drain commission or the property owner as applicable and to the extent available.

gg. Emergency Response Plan. In addition to the more specific provisions of Section C.3.K for
an energy storage system, for all energy systems, an Emergency Response Plan (ERP)
shall include the following:

1.

N

ook w

N

9.

Evidence of consultation or a good-faith effort to consult with the Oshtemo Township
Fire Chief and Kalamazoo County emergency managers to ensure that the ERP is in
alignment with acceptable operating procedures, capabilities, resources, site
accessibility, etc.

An identification of contingencies that would constitute a safety or security emergency
(fire emergencies are to be addressed in a separate Fire Response Plan (FRP)).
Emergency response measures by contingency.

Evacuation control measures by contingency.

Community notification procedures by contingency.

An identification of potential approach and departure routes to and from the facility site
for police, fire, ambulance, and other emergency vehicles.

A commitment to review and update the ERP with fire departments, first responders,
and county emergency managers at least once every 3 years.

An analysis of whether plans to be implemented in response to an emergency can be
fulfilled by existing local emergency response capacity, and identification of any specific
equipment or training deficiencies in local emergency response capacity.

Other information the applicant finds relevant.

Changes to the design, type, manufacturer, etc. of facilities or equipment after the initial filing
must be analyzed to determine if changes are necessary to the ERP. Additional consultation
with the Oshtemo Township Fire Department, first responders, and Kalamazoo County
emergency managers is required for amended plans.

hh. Fire Response Plan. In addition to the more specific provisions of Section D.3.K for an
energy storage system, for all energy systems, a Fire Response Plan (FRP) shall include
the following:

1.

Evidence of consultation or a good-faith effort to consult with the Oshtemo Township
Fire Chief to ensure that the FRP is in alignment with acceptable operating procedures,
capabilities, resources, etc.

A description of all on-site equipment and systems to be provided to prevent or handle
fire emergencies.

A description of all contingency plans to be implemented in response to the occurrence
of a fire emergency.

For wind and solar projects, a commitment to conduct, or provide funding to conduct,
site-specific training drills with emergency responders before commencing operation,
and upon request while the facility is in operation. Training should familiarize local fire
departments with the project, hazards, procedures, and current best practices. (Energy
storage projects are addressed in Section D.3.K)

A commitment to review and update the FRP at least once every 3 years with the
Oshtemo Township Fire Department, first responders, and Kalamazoo County

Packet Page 20



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 10 |Page

C.

emergency manager (including Van Buren County for projects located within 1,000 feet
of the border between Kalamazoo County and Van Buren County).

7. An analysis of whether plans to be implemented in response to a fire emergency can be
fulfilled by existing local emergency response capacity. The analysis should include
identification of any specific equipment or training deficiencies in local emergency
response capacity and recommendations for measures to mitigate deficiencies.

8. Other information the applicants find relevant.

Changes to the design, type, manufacturer, etc. of facilities or equipment after the initial
filing must be analyzed to determine if changes are necessary to the FRP. Additional
consultation with the Oshtemo Township Fire Department, first responders, and Kalamazoo
County emergency managers is required for amended plans.

Unanticipated Discoveries Plan. An Unanticipated Discoveries Plan (UDP) that
addresses the anticipated impacts and plans to mitigate impacts to the environment and
natural resources, including, but not limited to, sensitive habitats and waterways,
wetlands and floodplains, wildlife corridors, parks, historic and cultural sites, and
threatened or endangered species. The UDP must include the following:

1. A set of procedures to be followed if cultural resources are discovered. Examples of
cultural materials include, but are not limited to, the following:
i. An accumulation of shell, burned rocks, or other food-related materials.
ii. Bones or small pieces of bone.
iii. An area of charcoal or very dark stained soil with artifacts.
iv. Stone tools or waste flakes (i.e., an arrowhead, or stone chips).
v. Clusters of tin cans or bottles.
vi. Logging or agricultural equipment that appears to be older than 50 years
vii. Buried railroad tracks, decking, or other industrial materials.
2. A set of procedures to be followed if human remains are discovered.
3. A contact list that includes the following:
i. Contact for the State Historic Preservation Office
ii. Contacts for Tribal Historic Preservation Offices of Michigan
iii. Local, project-specific, emergency contacts (i.e., Kalamazoo County Sheriff,
Kalamazoo County Medical Examiner.)

Post Approval Requirements and Information

Completion Report. Before commencing commercial operations, the applicant shall file a
Completion Report with the Township Clerk certifying compliance with PA 233, this Section
as well as any conditions imposed by the Planning Commission in granting approval. At a
minimum, the Completion Report should include the following:

a.
b.

C.

d.

Finalized site plans, finalized schematics, and dimensioned drawings.

Descriptions demonstrating compliance with Section 49.290.B and 49.290.D for the relevant
technologies included within the facility.

A list of all permits received including the permitting agency, the date the permit was
received, and conditions attached to each permit.

Submit a Postconstruction Sound Monitoring Report as part of the required Completion
Report. The report must include the information set forth in Attachment D, Section 2.4 of

Packet Page 21



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 11 |Page

the MPSC Certificate for Solar Energy, Wind Energy, and Energy Storage Facilities
Application Filing Instructions and Procedures as may be amended and/or renumbered by
the Michigan Public Service Commission.

2. Conformity to approved plan. As-built survey and record construction drawings are required
pursuant to Section 64.90.

D.

Specific Provisions: Principal Use Energy Systems.

The following requirements shall apply to all Principal Use Solar Energy Systems, Principal
Use Energy Storage Systems and Principal Use Wind Energy Systems:

1.

Solar Energy System, Principal use: A principal use solar energy system (SES), where
permitted, is  subject to special land use approval by the Planning Commission and/or other
applicable authority, and shall meet the following requirements:

A

Height: Total height for a principal use SES shall not exceed a maximum of 16 feet above
the natural grade of the ground beneath when the arrays are at maximum tilt.

Setbacks: Setback distance shall be measured from the stated location below to the nearest
edge of the perimeter fencing of the principal use SES as follows:

i. 400 feet from the nearest point on the outer wall of any occupied community buildings
and residences on non-participating properties.

ii. 100 feet from the nearest edge of a public road right-of way.
iii. 100 feet from the nearest shared property line of non-participating parties.

Fencing: A principal use SES shall be secured with perimeter fencing to restrict
unauthorized access. Perimeter fencing shall comply with the latest version of the National
Electric Code as of November 2023 or any applicable successor standard approved by the
Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) as reasonable and consistent with the
purposes of Subsection 226(8) of the Clean and Renewable Energy Waste Reduction Act,
2008 PA 295, MCL 460.1226.

Lighting: A principal use SES shall comply with Section 54.

Sound: The sound pressure level of a principal use SES and all ancillary solar equipment
shall not exceed 50 dBA (Leq (1-hour)) at the nearest point on the outer wall of the nearest
dwelling of an adjacent non-participating lot. Decibel modeling shall use the A-weighted

sound level meter as designed by the American National Standards Institute.

The collector panels and all other components of the system not within a fully enclosed
building shall comply with all of the following:

a. Designed and maintained with an anti-reflective surface material or coating;

Packet Page 22



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 12 |Page

b. Designed and operated so as to not direct glare onto any adjoining property or any
public road or other public way. This requirement applies whether collector panels
are stationary or in a tracking array.

c. An analysis from a third party qualified professional to determine if glare from the
solar panels will be visible from Newman’s Airport, residences and roadways may
be required. The analysis will consider the changing position of the sun throughout
the day and year.

G. Aprincipal use SES shall not display lettering, company insignia, advertising, or graphics
of any kind on any part of the system, except such non-obtrusive lettering and/or
insignia intended to identify the manufacturer, which shall not be visible from any
adjoining property or adjoining public road or other public way. Additional signage may
be permitted subject to the requirements of Section 55.

H. A principal use SES shall be properly maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's
recommendations and so as to be operable as designed as evidenced by a
maintenance plan and schedule submitted with the application. If the maintenance
procedures include the use of detergents or other non-organic substances to clean the
solar collector panels and/or any other apparatus, the intended use of such products
shall be disclosed in the application, with appropriate details on the type of product, the
frequency and quantity of use, and the soil/water quality protection measures to be
utilized as part of the maintenance plan. Any such soil/water quality protection
measures shall also be included in a stormwater management plan submitted as part
of the application and shown on the site plan.

I.  Michigan Public Service Commission requirements: Principal use SES shall comply with
any more stringent requirements adopted by the MPSC as provided in MCL
460.1226(8)(a)(vi).

2. Wind Energy System, Principal use: A principal use wind energy system (WES), where
permitted, is subject to special land use approval by the Planning Commission and/or other
applicable authority, and shall meet the following requirements:

A. Setbacks: Setback distance shall be measured from the stated location below to the center
of the base of the wind tower as follows:

i. Occupied community buildings and residences on non-participating properties: A
horizontal distance equal to 2.1 times the maximum blade tip height from the nearest
point on the outside wall of the structure.

ii. Residences and other structures on participating properties: A horizontal distance equal

to 1.1 times the maximum blade tip height from the nearest point on the outside wall of
the structure.

Packet Page 23



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 13 |Page

iii. Non-participating property lines: A horizontal distance equal to 1.1 times the maximum
blade tip height from the property line;

iv. Public road right-of-way: A horizontal distance equal to 1.1 times the maximum blade tip
height from the center line of the public road right-of-way;

v. Overhead communication and electric transmission, not including utility service lines to
individual houses or accessory buildings: A horizontal distance equal to 1.1 times the
maximum blade tip height from the center line of the easement containing the overhead
line.

B. Height: Total height, measured at the wind tower blade tip, for a principal use WES shall not
exceed the height allowed under a Determination of No Hazard to Air Navigation by the
Federal Aviation Administration under 14 CFR Part 77.

C. Sound: The sound pressure level generated by a principal use WES shall not exceed 50
dBA (Leq (1-hour)) measured at the nearest point on the outer wall of the nearest dwelling
of an adjacent non-participating lot. Decibel modeling shall use the A-weighted scale as
designed by the American National Standards Institute.

D. Lighting: The system shall be equipped with functioning light-mitigating technology. To allow
proper conspicuity of a wind turbine at night during construction, a turbine shall be lit with
temporary lighting until the permanent lighting configuration, including the light-mitigating
technology, is implemented. A temporary exemption from the requirements of this section
may be granted if installation of appropriate light-mitigating technology is not feasible. A
request for a temporary exemption must be in writing and state all of the following:

i. The purpose of the exemption;
ii. The proposed length of the exemption;

iii. A description of the light-mitigating technologies submitted to the Federal Aviation
Administration;

iv. The technical or economic reason a light-mitigating technology is not feasible;
All other lighting shall comply with Section 54.

E. Shadow Flicker: Shadow flicker shall not exceed 30 hours per year under planned operating
conditions as indicated by industry standard computer modeling and measured at the
exterior wall of an occupied community building or non-participating residence.

F. Signal Interference: A principal use WES shall meet any standards concerning radar
interference, lighting, or other relevant issues as determined by the Michigan Public Service

Commission in any implementation or rule-making process.

G. A principal use WES shall not display lettering, company insignia, advertising, or
graphics of any kind on any part of the system, except such non-obtrusive lettering

Packet Page 24



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 14 |Page

and/or insignia intended to identify the manufacturer, which shall not be visible from any
adjoining property or adjoining public road or other public way. Additional signage may
be permitted subject to the requirements of Section 55.

H. Michigan Public Service Commission requirements: A principal use WES shall comply with
any more stringent requirements adopted by the MPSC as provided in MCL
460.1226(8)(b)(vii).

3. Energy Storage System, Principal use: A principal use energy storage system (ESS), where
permitted, is subject to special land use approval by the Planning Commission, and/or other
applicable authority, and shall meet the following requirements:

A. Full compliance with the following:

i. (2026) NFPA 855: Standard for the Installation of Stationary Energy Storage Systems
or any applicable successor standard adopted by the MPSC in effect as the time of
commencement of construction as reasonable and consistent with the purposes of this
subsection;

ii. UL 9540 Standard for Energy Storage Systems and Equipment

ii. UL 9540A Test Method for Evaluating Thermal Runaway Fire propagation in Battery
Energy Storage Systems.
iv. Other applicable codes.

B. Battery Type Limitations:
i. The use of lithium ion and lithium iron phosphate batteries is prohibited.

C. Setbacks: Setback distance shall be measured from the stated location below to the nearest
edge of the perimeter fencing of the principal use ESS as follows:

i. Occupied community buildings and residences on non-participating properties: 400
feet from the nearest point on the outer wall of the building or residence.

ii. Public road right-of-way: 100 feet from the nearest edge of a public road right-of-way.
iii. Non-participating parties: 200 feet from the nearest shared property line.

iv. Sensitive Land Uses: 2,000 feet from the nearest point on the outer wall of the building
or residence.

D. Sound: The sound pressure level of a principal use ESS shall not exceed 50 dBA (Leq (1-
hour)) as modeled at the property line shared with an adjacent non-participating lot. Decibel
modeling shall use the A-weighted scale as designed by the American National Standards
Institute.

E. Lighting: The principal use ESS shall comply with Section 54.

F. Drive aisles: Internal and perimeter drive aisles shall comply with Section 52.50.C.

G. Safety Signage: The principal use ESS shall post signs in compliance with NFPA 70/70E

Packet Page 25



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 15 |Page

or any applicable successor code in place at the time of commencement of construction.
Additionally, signage shall be provided per NFPA 855 7.4.4, or any applicable
successor code in place at the time of application for approval, including information
on the system type and technology, special hazards, fire suppression system and 24-
hour emergency contact information, including reach-back phone number. A clearly
visible warning sign concerning voltage shall be placed at the base of all pad-mounted
transformers and substations. Additional signage may be permitted subject to the
requirements of Section 55.

H. Michigan Public Service Commission Requirements: A principal use ESS shall comply with
any more stringent requirements adopted by the MPSC as provided in MCL
460.1226(8)(c)(v). INFO FOR NOW QUOTING THE MCL PROVISION - REMOVE UPON
FINALIZING DRAFT - “The energy storage facility will comply with any more stringent requirements
adopted by the commission. Before adopting such requirements, the commission must determine
that the requirements are necessary for compliance with state or federal environmental regulations.

I. Repair and Augmentation. In addition to repairing or replacing system components to
maintain the system, the system may at any time be augmented without the need to submit
a new site plan provided the augmentation is within the same footprint (i.e., same dedicated
use building or on footings/foundations in the same location) as the original permit. If there
is a change in the battery chemistry, an updated Hazard Mitigation Analysis, Fire Response
Plan and Emergency Response Plan shall be provided. When a system is anticipated to be
augmented over its lifetime by adding additional components, the applicant shall apply for
the final/augmented site arrangement

J. Modifications that increase an ESS facility footprint or total energy capacity by 10% or more
require a new site plan and special use approval by the Planning Commission. Any increase
in energy capacity requires written notification to the Township Clerk and/or designated
personnel at least 30 days prior to the increase in energy capacity. All obligations, including
but not limited to the Community Host Agreement and decommission agreement, must be
updated to reflect the increase in energy capacity. The financial surety shall be increased if
there is an increase in energy capacity.

K. A Fire Response Plan and an Emergency Response Plan.

i. The Fire Response Plan (FRP) shall be in compliance with NFPA 855 and include the
following:

1. Evidence of consultation or a good faith effort to consult with the Oshtemo Township
Fire Chief to ensure that the FRP is in alignment with acceptable operating procedures,
capabilities, resources, etc.

2. A description of all on-site equipment and systems to be provided to prevent or handle
fire emergencies.

3. A description of all contingency plans to be implemented in response to the occurrence
of a fire emergency.

4. A commitment to review and update the FRP with the Oshtemo Township Fire
Department, first responders, and county emergency managers at least once every
three (3) years.

5. An analysis of whether plans to be implemented in response to a fire emergency can
be fulfilled by existing local emergency response capacity. The analysis should include
identification of any specific equipment or training deficiencies in local emergency

Packet Page 26



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 16 |Page

response capacity and recommendations for measures to mitigate deficiencies.

6. The means by which firefighters and other emergency services personnel can access
and shut down the system on an emergency basis. This information shall be provided
to the Township or other appropriate agency managing emergency response.

7. A 24-hour emergency contact telephone number for use by emergency services
providers.

8. The FRP must meet all requirements of the Clean and Renewable Energy and Energy
Waste Reduction Act, as amended, MCL 460.1001 et. seq

9. Other information the applicant finds relevant.

The Emergency Response Plan (ERP) shall be in compliance with NFPA 855 and include

the following:

1. Evidence of consultation or a good faith effort to consult with local first responders and
county emergency managers to ensure that the ERP is in alignment with acceptable
operating procedures, capabilities, resources, etc.

. An identification of contingencies that would constitute a safety or security emergency
(fire emergencies are to be addressed in a separate fire response plan);

. Emergency response measures by contingency;

. Evacuation control measures by contingency;

. Community notification procedures by contingency;

. An identification of potential approach and departure routes to and from the facility site
for police, fire, ambulance, and other emergency vehicles;

. A commitment to review and update the ERP with fire departments, first responders,
and county emergency managers at least once every three (3) years;

8. The means by which firefighters and other emergency services personnel can access
and shut down the system on an emergency basis. This information shall be provided
to the Township or other appropriate agency managing emergency response.

9. A 24-hour emergency contact telephone number for use by emergency services
providers.

10. An analysis of whether plans to be implemented in response to an emergency can be
fulfilled by existing local emergency response capacity, and identification of any specific
equipment or training deficiencies in local emergency response capacity; and

11. Other information the applicant finds relevant.

oo W N

~

L. Hazard Mitigation Analysis. A Hazard Mitigation Analysis in compliance with NFPA 855 (4.4)

M.

shall be provided.

Public Safety. The Emergency Response Plan and Fire Response Plan shall provide
reasonable protection of the public health, safety and welfare including but not limited to an
emergency shutdown procedure in place and shall provide the local fire department site
safety plans to include electrical, fire, smoke, and hazardous materials release, emergency
response protocols and identification of typical hazards related to, electrical, fire, smoke and
hazardous materials pertinent to the system. Upon request, all systems shall provide first
responder training at the site.

An annual report shall be provided to the Township Clerk no later than March 31 of each
year including the following information for the previous calendar year: QUARTERLY?

i. technical performance metrics (capacity and uptime)

ii. operational and maintenance logs;
iii. system health (health of individual battery cells, the balance of the system and any

Packet Page 27



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 17 |Page

performance degradation);

iv. safety (detailing any incidents or near-misses);

v. environmental compliance (reporting on compliance with all relevant environmental
regulations and standards such as but not limited to the Natural Resources and
Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.101 to 324.90106).

4. Hybrid Energy System, Principal use: A hybrid principal use system incorporating any
combination of energy storage system (ESS), solar energy system (SES) and wind energy
system (WES), where permitted, is subject to special land use approval by the Planning
Commission, and/or other applicable authority, and shall meet the above requirements based
upon the applicable energy systems. When there is a conflict, the stricter provision shall apply.

Section 48.170 — Specific Provisions, Energy Systems, Private Accessory

The following requirements shall apply to Private Accessory Systems.
1. Solar Energy Systems, Private Accessory.

A. Maximum Height: The system may be mounted on a building and/or may be ground
mounted.

i. The height of a building-mounted system on a principal building or accessory building
shall not exceed the applicable roof height limit as specified in the ordinance for the
district, as applicable.

i. The height of a ground-mounted system, at full tilt, shall not exceed a height of 10
feet.

B. Roof Placement: A roof-mounted system shall be placed on the roof in compliance with
requirements imposed by the applicable Fire Code and Construction Code.

C. Total Area: The total area of a building-mounted collector array and all apparatus
associated with the system shall not be larger than the square footage of or hang over
the roof when attached to the roof or, when attached to a wall, be larger than the square
footage of or extend beyond the building wall. A ground-mounted system on a
residential property shall not exceed the total combined maximum accessory building
square footage limit as specified in the zoning ordinance or 1,000 square feet,
whichever is less.

D. Setbacks and Location: The collector array and all other apparatus associated with a
ground-mounted system shall comply with the otherwise applicable accessory building
setback requirements in the zoning ordinance.

E. Off-site Impacts: The collector panels and all other components of the system not within

Packet Page 28



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 18 |Page

F.

a fully enclosed building shall comply with all of the following requirements:

All components of the system not fully enclosed within a building shall be designed
and maintained with an anti-reflective surface material.

All components shall be designed and operated to not direct glare onto any adjoining
property or any public road or other public way.

The system shall not be illuminated or have lighting of any kind.

Lettering, company insignia, advertising, or graphics of any kind shall not be displayed
on any part of the system, except such non-obtrusive lettering and/or insignia intended
to identify the manufacturer and not visible from any adjoining property or adjoining
public road or other public way.

The area within which a ground-mounted system is located shall not be paved with
asphalt/concrete or any other surface material that is impermeable. This shall not apply
to a ground-mounted system located on brownfield land or on an existing paved area such
as a former building slab or in an unused parking area when adequate parking remains
for the principal use. All surface water runoff from the site shall be effectively managed
on-site.

Installation and Operational Safety: The system shall comply with all of the following
requirements:

1. The system shall be installed, maintained, and used in accordance with manufacturer's
directions. If the system will include any batteries for electricity storage, the location of
the batteries shall be disclosed to and approved in writing by the Fire Chief and filed
with the Building Permit application for the system. Battery storage shall be designed,
located, and maintained so as to comply with all applicable codes and regulations.

2. The system shall not be made operational until the Building Official has issued a
Certificate of Occupancy upon determining that the completed system installation
complies with all applicable Construction Code requirements.

. Removal: The system, including all structural support components, shall be dismantled

and removed when the system is no longer functional due to age, abandonment, or other
cause. All removed components of the system intended for disposal shall be disposed of
off-site in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

2. Wind Energy Systems, Private Accessory

A

Setbacks: Setback distance shall be measured from the stated location below to the center
of the base of the wind tower as follows:

Occupied community buildings and residences on non-participating properties: A

horizontal distance equal to 2.1 times the maximum blade tip height from the nearest point
on the outside wall of the structure.

Packet Page 29



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 19 |Page

Residences and other structures on participating properties: A horizontal distance equal
to 1.1 times the maximum blade tip height from the nearest point on the outside wall of
the structure.

Non-participating property lines: A horizontal distance equal to 1.1 times the maximum
blade tip height from the property line;

Public road right-of-way: A horizontal distance equal to 1.1 times the maximum blade tip
height from the center line of the public road right-of-way;

Overhead communication and electric transmission, not including utility service lines to
individual houses or outbuildings: A horizontal distance equal to 1.1 times the maximum
blade tip height from the center line of the easement containing the overhead line.

. Height: The system may be mounted on a building and/or may be ground mounted.

i. The height of a building-mounted system on a principal building or accessory
building shall not exceed the applicable height limit for the district. A wall-mounted
system on a principal building or accessory building shall not exceed the applicable
roof height limit for the district, as specified in the ordinance for the district, as
applicable.

ii. The height of a ground-mounted system shall not exceed 60 feet above natural
grade.

Roof Placement: A roof-mounted system shall be placed on the roof in compliance with
requirements imposed by the applicable Construction Code.

Ground Clearance: On freestanding systems, the rotor shall be located on the tower or
support such that the minimum blade clearance above ground level is 20 feet.

Sound: The sound pressure level generated by the system shall not exceed 40 dBA (Leq
(1-hour)) measured at the nearest point on the outer wall of the nearest dwelling of an
adjacent non-participating lot. Decibel modeling shall use the A-weighted scale as designed
by the American National Standards Institute.

Lighting: The system shall be equipped with light-mitigating technology.

Wiring: All wiring between the system and the main use or electrical grid shall be
underground.

The system shall not display lettering, company insignia, advertising, or graphics of any
kind on any part of the system, except such non-obtrusive lettering and/or insignia
intended to identify the manufacturer, which shall not be visible from any adjoining
property or adjoining public road or other public way.

Packet Page 30



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 20 |Page

3. Energy Storage System, Private Accessory.

A

Coverage: Lot coverage shall not exceed the otherwise permissible percentage of lot
coverage for buildings in the applicable district, as specified in Section 50.

Setbacks: All energy storage system structures and related structural apparatus not
physically attached to a building shall satisfy the setback requirements in the applicable
district, as specified in Section 50.

Lettering, company insignia, advertising, or graphics of any kind shall not be displayed on
any part of the system, except such non-obtrusive lettering and/or insignia intended to
identify the manufacturer and not visible from any adjoining property or adjoining public road
or other public way.

Installation and Operational Safety: The system shall comply with all of the following
requirements:

1. On-Site battery energy storage with an aggregate energy capacity of more than 600
kWh are subject to additional regulations in the applicable fire code, and required
documentation shall be submitted along with the building/electrical permit applications.

2. The system shall be installed, maintained, and used in accordance with manufacturer's
directions. If the system will include any batteries for electricity storage, the location of
the batteries shall be disclosed to and approved in writing by the Fire Chief and filed with
the Building Permit application for the system. Battery storage shall be designed,
located, and maintained so as to comply with all applicable codes and regulations.

3. The system shall not be made operational until the Building Official has issued a
Certificate of Occupancy upon determining that the completed system installation
complies with all applicable Construction Code requirements.

Removal: The system, including all structural support components, shall be dismantled and
removed when the system is no longer functional due to age, abandonment, or other cause.

Packet Page 31



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 21 |Page

Notes Regarding Below:

1) undertake related amendments to add Principal Use Energy System as a Special
Use in the AG, RR, and the 4 industrial districts with the exception of not allowing
solar in the industrial districts. Private accessory systems will be allowed in all
districts.

2) Delete Section 60 which addresses solar energy systems to incorporate them with
these amendments.

3) Eliminate references to WECS throughout all the districts.

1. Add/amend Sections below:

District: Section # Lanquage

AG: 4.40.1 Principal Use Energy System REMOVE?
4.30.F Energy System, Private Accessory

RR: 5.40.M Principal Use Energy System REMOVE?
5.30.G Energy System, Private Accessory

R-1: 6.30.D Energy System, Private Accessory

R-2: 7.30.D Energy System, Private Accessory

R-3: 8.30.E Energy System, Private Accessory

R-4: 9.30.E Energy System, Private Accessory

R-5: 10.30.E Energy System, Private Accessory

R-C: 11.30.C Energy System, Private Accessory

C: 18.30.C Energy System, Private Accessory

VC: 19.30.D Energy System, Private Accessory

BRP: 20.30.B. Energy System, Private Accessory

C-R: 21.30.B Energy System, Private Accessory

I-R: 26.50. Principal Use Energy System, excluding solar energy systems
26.40.C Energy System, Private Accessory

I-1: 27.40.L Principal Use Energy System, excluding solar energy systems
27.30.E Energy System, Private Accessory

Packet Page 32



Draft 1 Wind Energy, Energy Storage & Solar Energy Systems Zoning Text - Working Draft 1/15/26 22 |Page

1-2: 28.40.E Principal Use Energy System, excluding solar energy systems
28.30.C Energy System, Private Accessory

1-3: 29.40.1 Principal Use Energy System, excluding solar energy systems
29.30.D Energy System, Private Accessory

MUD: 30.30.C.i Energy System, Private Accessory

2. Delete Section 60 Solar Energy Systems in its entirety.

3. Delete references to Wind Energy Conversion Systems (WECS) throughout the districts where
it is listed as a special use in those districts where energy systems is not being put in their
place:

District Section #

R-1: 6.40.F
R-2: 7.40.H
R-3: 8.40.N
R-4: 9.40.J
R-5: 10.40.G
R-C: 11.40.K
C: 18.40.W
VC: 19.50.S.
BRP: 20.40.K
CR: 21.40.R

Packet Page 33



This page left blank intentionally.

Packet Page 34



7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009
S t e m 0 269-216-5220 Fax 269-375-7180 www.oshtemo.org

CHARTER TOWNSHIP
.- Established 1839 .

MEMO
To: Planning Commission
From: Jodi Stefforia, Planning Director and Planning Department Staff
Date: January 16, 2026
RE: MPSC Certificate for Solar Energy, Wind Energy, and Energy Storage Facilities —

Application Filing Instructions and Procedures

For your information as the Planning Commission spends this year crafting zoning language to address
energy systems, we have attached the Michigan Public Service Commission’s (MPSC) application filing
instructions and procedures document. This is what a developer would follow if approval is requested of
the MPSC rather than through a local review process.

We have incorporated several of the provisions of the instructions/procedures in the first draft of zoning
language and also referenced specific sections for an applicant to refer to and follow rather than including
the actual language. As the Planning Commission works through the zoning provisions this year, if it is
preferred that actual language be incorporated rather than referring to the MPSC document, we can work
it in with a subsequent draft.

Packet Page 35



EXHIBIT A

AMPSC

MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

MPSC Certificate for

Solar Energy, Wind

Energy, and Energy
Storage Facilities

Pursuant to Public Act 233 of 2023

Application Filing
Instructions and
Procedures

October 10, 2024

Dan Scripps, Chair
Alessandra Carreon, Commissioner

Katherine Peretick, Commissioner

i
Packet Page 36



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Page
1. APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY & ENERGY
STORAGE SITING CERTIFICATE.......ccciiirirrrnes s s sssssssss s ssssssssssssssssmsssnns 1
P B O 1= N | O I Y PP 1
1.2 PRIMARY REGULATORY CITATIONS .....cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 1
1.3  KEY DEFINITIONS ...ttt 1
1.4 MPSC CONTACT AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.......cccvviiiiiiiiiiiieeeeennnn. 2
2. APPLICABILITY — WHO AND WHAT IS ELIGIBLE? .......ccccereeeereeereneee s seeesssmensnns 2
3. PRE-APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS. ........cccooiimrrrernrnss s s s ssssss s 3
4. APPLICATION SUBMITTAL AND APPROVAL SCHEDULE .........ccccocmreemrrrneernnnees 3
5. APPLICATION FEES ... s s s s s ssssns s ssss s sms s ssssnasnsnns 4
6. APPLICATION FILING REQUIREMENTS.........cooooirrcrrrceersssmesssme s s s e s ssne s ssmssssmeas 7
6.1  OVERVIEW AND PROCEDURES. ... 7
G 11 8 I 0 8
6.3 REQUIRED EXHIBITS ... 10
6.3.1 Exhibit A-1.1 through A-1.16 — Site Plan .............cccccooiininiiiiiiiinnns 10
6.3.2 Exhibit A-2 — Project Description ...........coovviiiiiiiiiiiieeeie e 10
6.3.3 Exhibit A-3 — Project Schedule..............ccccouiiies 10
6.3.4 Exhibits A-4.1 through A-4.5 — Local Outreach ............ccccevvvveirennnneee. 10
6.3.5 Exhibit A-5 — NFPA Compliance (Facilities with Energy Storage
1O 5] 1 PP 12
6.3.6 Exh)i/t))its A-6.1 through A-6.4 — Environmental Compliance................. 12
6.3.7 Exhibit A-7 — Signal Mitigation Plan..............ccccovviiiiiiiii e, 13
6.3.8 Exhibits A-8.1 through A-8.5 — Public Benefits..........cccccvvviviinnnnnnnnnns 13
6.3.9 Exhibit A-9 — Farmland Protection................ccciiiiiiii, 15
6.3.10 Exhibit A-10 — Public Health and Safety...........cccccccoiiiiiins 15
6.3.11 Exhibit A-11 — Dark Skies (Solar and/or Storage Facilities Only) ....... 17
6.3.12 Exhibit A-12 — Transmission and Interconnection Agreements .......... 17
6.3.13 Exhibits A-13.1 through A-13.3 — Decommissioning..............cccceeeeeee. 17
6.3.14 Exhibits A-14 — CoNditioNS ...........uuumuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeneennees 20
6.3.15 Exhibit A-15 — Other Requested Information...............ccoooooiiiiiiinnnnnn. 20
6.3.16 Exhibit A-16 — Application Checklist .............ccccceiimmimiiiiiiinee 20
6.4 AFFECTED LOCAL UNIT COORDINATION AND GRANT .......ccooeiiiiiiinns 21
6.4.1 One-Time Grant to Affected Local Units...........ccccooiviiiiiiiiiiiinnnnnnn. 21
7. EXHIBITS A-1.1 THROUGH A1.16 — SITE PLAN.......ccccirrrrrnrr e e 22
7.1 EXHIBIT A-1.1 = PLANNED FACILITIES......ccoiii 22
7.2 EXHIBIT A-1.2 — AREA LAND USE INFORMATION .......ccooeiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeee, 23
7.3 EXHIBIT A-1.3 — EXPLANATORY INFORMATION ..., 24
7.4 EXHIBIT A-1.4 — CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION .......ccoooiiiiiiiiii, 26
7.5 EXHIBIT A-1.5 = ALTERNATIVES ... 27

Packet Page 37



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Page
7.6 EXHIBIT A-1.6 = CHANGES ... oo 27
7.7 EXHIBIT A-1.7 — SOUND REPORT AND MONITORING PROTOCOL ........ 27
7.8 EXHIBIT A-1.8 - SHADOW FLICKER REPORT (WIND FACILITIES ONLY)28
7.9 EXHIBIT A-1.9 - EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN ..., 29
7.10 EXHIBIT A-1.10 — FIRE RESPONSE PLAN (FRP)......cccooviiiiiiiiiee 29
7.11 EXHIBIT A-1.11 — COMMISSIONING PLAN (FACILITIES WITH STORAGE

L] 30
7.12 EXHIBIT A-1.12 - EMERGENCY OPERATIONS PLAN (FACILITIES WITH

STORAGE ONLY )ittt esasesesasnassnsnnssnnssnnnnsnnnnnnnnnnnnnes 31
7.13 EXHIBIT A-1.13 — HAZARD MITIGATION ANALYSIS (FACILITIES WITH

STORAGE ONLY )ittt esesseasssnnennnnes 31
7.14 EXHIBIT A-1.14 — UNANTICIPATED DISCOVERIES PLAN .......ccccoiiiiinnns 31
7.15 EXHIBIT A-1.15 — PARTICIPATING PARCEL LIST ...ccooiiiiiiiieee, 32
7.16 EXHIBIT A-1.16 — COMPLAINT RESOLUTION PROCESS ............ccceeennnen. 32

8. POST CERTIFICATE REQUIREMENTS AND INFORMATION .......ccccciiimrrrceernnnne 32
8.1 COMPLETION REPORT (REQUIRED) ....coeeeeee e 32
8.2  AS-BUILT SURVEY ... 33
8.3 DECOMMISSIONING AND FINANCIAL ASSURANCE........cccooiiiiiiine. 33

8.3.1 DEeCOMMIUSSIONING ....uutiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitbiei e 33
8.3.2 Financial ASSUranCe ............uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 33

Packet Page 38



LIST OF ATTACHMENTS

ATTACHMENT A
ATTACHMENT B
ATTACHMENT C
ATTACHMENT D
ATTACHMENT E
ATTACHMENT F

LIST OF ACRONYMS

DEFINITIONS

PRE-APPLICATION SUPPORTING INFORMATION
SOUND MODEL AND MEASUREMENTS PROCEDURES
SAMPLE DECOMMISSIONING AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT A-14 CONDITIONS

iv
Packet Page 39



1. APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY &
ENERGY STORAGE SITING CERTIFICATE

These application instructions apply to an electric provider or independent power
producer (applicant) application for Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC or
Commission) approval of a Renewable Energy or Storage Siting Certificate (Certificate)
for an energy facility under the provisions of Michigan Compiled Laws (MCL) 460.1221,
et seq. (effective November 29, 2024). The application shall be consistent with these
instructions, and any additional information considered relevant by the applicant may also
be included in the application.

1.1  OBJECTIVES

These instructions have been developed to assist the applicant with the entire process
associated with obtaining and complying with a Certificate. These instructions will clarify:

1. Who and what are eligible to apply for a renewable energy or storage siting
certificate (Section 2).

i. What are the pre-application requirements (Section 3).
ii. What fees must be paid (Section 5).
iii. What application documents/exhibits are required (Section 6.2).

iv. What information is necessary to complete the application exhibits
(Section 6.3 and Section 7).

v. How the application is to be submitted (Section 6.1).
vi. How more information can be obtained (Section 1.4).
1.2 PRIMARY REGULATORY CITATIONS
MCL 460.1221, et seq. (effective November 29, 2024).
Mich Admin Code, R 792.10401-R 792.10448.
1.3 KEY DEFINITIONS
Additional definitions can be found in Attachment B.

"Affected local unit" means a unit of local government exercising zoning authority in
which all or part of a proposed energy facility will be located.

"Certificate" means a certificate issued for an energy facility under section 226(5) of
Public Act (PA) 233 of 2023.

Packet Page 40



“Chief elected official” means a local government official including mayors, village
presidents, township supervisors, and board chairs.

“‘Compatible renewable energy ordinance” or “CREO” means an ordinance that
provides for the development of energy facilities within the local unit of government, the
requirements of which are no more restrictive than the provisions included in section
226(8). ACREO under Act 233 may only contain the setback, fencing, height, sound, and
other applicable requirements expressly outlined in Section 226(8), and may not contain
additional requirements beyond those specifically identified in that section. A local unit of
government is considered not to have a CREO if it has a moratorium on the development
of energy facilities in effect within its jurisdiction.

‘MPSC” or “Commission” means the state regulatory body in Michigan charged with
serving the public by ensuring safe, reliable, accessible energy and telecommunications
at reasonable rates.

‘MPSC Staff’ or “Staff” means the professional, independent, subject matter experts
employed by the MPSC who are granted intervention by right in contested cases before
the Commission.

1.4 MPSC CONTACT AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

For additional information on the Renewable Energy and Energy Storage Facility Siting
Commission activities, additional resources and contact information visit:
https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/commission/workgroups/2023-energy-

legislation/renewable-energy-and-energy-storage-facility-siting.

2. APPLICABILITY - WHO AND WHAT IS ELIGIBLE?

(a) Projects eligible to obtain a Certificate from MPSC include those where:

1. Landowners are willing to participate in allowing a solar, wind, or energy
storage facility project on their property.

2. Nameplate capacities, measured in alternating current (AC), meet the following
criteria:

i. Solar facilities, including hybrid or co-located facilities comprised of solar
and storage facilities, having a nameplate capacity of 50 megawatts (MW)
or more.

" Participating or not participating in a renewable energy or energy storage project is a decision for
individual landowners. Commission approval of a certificate under PA 233 does not confer the power of
eminent domain or require landowners to participate against their wishes.

Packet Page 41



3.
(@)

4.
(a)

i. Wind facilities, including hybrid or co-located facilities comprised of wind
with solar and/or storage having a nameplate capacity of 100 MW or more.

iii. Energy storage facilities of nameplate capacity of 50 MW or more with a
discharge capability of 200 megawatt hours (MWh) or more.

PRE-APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS

The applicant must first apply for siting approval with the affected local unit(s)
(ALU) when it has received notification from the chief elected official(s) that each
ALU in which the project is sited has a CREO.

The pre-application process requires meetings and details are provided in
Attachment C. A Pre-application Notification checklist of required notifications to
be made is below:

[1 Chief Elected Officials Meeting Offer — 60 days before public meeting.
O Public Meeting Notice each ALU — 30 days before meeting.
O Public Meeting Notice copy to MPSC — 30 days before meeting.

O Public Meeting Notice newspaper(s) (each city and township) — 14 days before
meeting.

00 MPSC Staff pre-application meeting — 30 days prior to application submittal.
APPLICATION SUBMITTAL AND APPROVAL SCHEDULE

Upon receipt of an application through MPSC'’s Electronic Docket Filings System
(E-Docket) system, the MPSC Staff (hereinafter referred to as Staff) will determine
whether the application is complete.

1. Staff has 60 calendar days to determine completeness.

2. At the time of the application filing, the applicant shall set up a virtual technical
conference to include Staff and ALUs to view the site plan in an electronic
format and to ask questions.

3. Atthe time of application filing, the applicant shall submit a copy of the site plan
(or aninternet address where the site plan can be reviewed) to the clerk of each
ALU.

4. If Staff determines that the application is incomplete, Staff will file a memo in
the case docket describing the application deficiencies.

5. Once the application is considered complete, the Commission has one year

from the time of the complete application filing date to issue a certificate or deny
the application.

Packet Page 42



(b)

(c)

i.  The application is considered complete if no memo notifying the applicant
that its application is incomplete has been filed in the docket within 60 days.

Concurrent with Staff’s review for completeness, a prehearing will be scheduled,
and a Notice of Hearing will be filed in the docket containing noticing requirements
for the applicant, and information for how interested persons may petition to
intervene, or otherwise participate in the prehearing.

If the application is considered complete, the schedule for the case will be set by
the administrative law judge (ALJ) presiding over the case at the prehearing. The
adopted case schedule will be posted to the case docket.

At the time of the prehearing, the applicant must pay the base application fee
(Section 5).

APPLICATION FEES

The applicant is required to pay an application fee designed to cover the Staff’s
administrative cost in processing the evaluation, and also pay the costs for
retaining consultants on specialty issues outside of the Staff's expertise.

1. At the time of the prehearing, an applicant not regulated by the MPSC is
required to pay a one-time Base Application Fee of $10,000 to the MPSC
Executive Secretary; if the applicant is regulated by the MPSC, no application
fee is required.?

i. Payments must be made by check.

i.  Additional fees, such as contracting with subject matter expert consultants
or costs pertaining to additional ongoing compliance may follow.

Within 30 days of the application being deemed complete, Staff will provide an
estimate to the applicant of total estimated fees, which includes the costs of
consultants retained by the Commission. Exhibit S-1 “Fee Exhibit” will be posted
to the docket. The applicant has an opportunity to contest the final assessed fees
after the evidentiary record is closed.

2MCL 460.112 provides a funding system where regulated utilities are assessed for the cost of regulation.
Since regulated utilities are already subject to an annual assessment, the Public Utilities Assessment,
they are exempt from the Base Application Fee described here. However, if the applicant is a regulated
utility, it may still be subject to additional fees as described in the Fee Schedule table.

Packet Page 43



Fees Schedule

RENEWABLE ENERGY & STORAGE SITING APPLICATION FEE SCHEDULE
Base Application Fee - Applicable to applicants not regulated by the MPSC

Contested case (includes up to 150 Staff hours) | $10,000
Additional Fees
Applicable to all applicants regardless if regulated by the MPSC

)Additional MPSC Staff hours 3 Billed hourly above application fee
Consultant Expert testimony Actual Fees
External Public Meetings Actual Fees
Court Fees- including transcription & court reporting* Actual Fees
Environmental Reporting & Testing® Actual fees
Miscellaneous Filings & Additional Fees

Miscellaneous maintenance following issuance of Actual fees billed hourly
certificate

Formal Complaints® $500

(c) Further details about fees are provided below:

1. At the cross-examination or final evidentiary hearing in a contested case
proceeding, whichever is later, Staff shall file an exhibit containing the total
assessed fee, labeled, Exhibit S-1.1.

2. Within 14 days of the filing and service of the Fee Exhibit, the applicant shall
file any objections to the total assessed fees.

3. Within 14 days of any objections filed, Staff shall file a response indicating its
position on the disputed issues.

4. If a dispute remains after the required filings, the ALJ who presided over the
proceedings shall include a decision regarding the total assessed fees in the

3 Includes Staff time associated with the case proceeding through the completion of cross examination or
final evidentiary hearing, whichever is later. This item also includes an additional forty (40) hours of Staff
time to allow for working on briefs, reply briefs, and exceptions to the PFD.

4 All hearing costs associated with Staff hours will be included in Additional MPSC Staff hours, not in
“Court Fees”. The applicant will not be responsible for any attorney fees accrued by any third-party
intervenors to a contested case proceeding. Fees associated with the attorneys representing Staff will not
be included in any fees assessed to the applicant.

5 Any fees in this category are limited to those necessary to satisfy the Commission’s required agency
review and environmental obligations under MEPA, Part 17 of NREPA, MCL 324.1701 et seq.

5 No formal complaint case fees will be assessed in cases which involve a regulated utility. Formal
complaint cases which involve an applicant not regulated by the MPSC will have the fee paid by the
applicant when the case is determined to be prima facie.

Packet Page 44



proposal for final decision (PFD) without further proceedings unless an
additional hearing is deemed necessary.

5. The Commission may choose to “read the record”, in which case a PFD will not
be issued. In this event, the Commission reserves the right to address disputed
issues and the total assessed fees in the final order.

6. The Commission will render a decision with regard to the total assessed fee in
its final order.

7. Furthermore, if a contested case proceeding is settled by the parties and
accrued Staff time does not exceed 150 hours, the base application fee of
$10,000 must still be paid by the applicant, along with the additional fees.

8. There will be no reduction in the base application fee for a contested
proceeding if Staff hours are less than 150 hours.

9. Environmental reporting and testing fees are limited to those related to the
Commission’s required agency review and environmental obligations.

10. Staff may provide a non-binding estimate of its expected hours and anticipated
additional fees, upon the reasonable request of an applicant.

11. Staff should work informally with the applicant to give the applicant a sense of
whether the fees associated with outside expert witnesses would be expected
to support the Staff's case and the magnitude of such costs.

12.Fees associated with attorneys representing Staff will not be included in any
fees assessed to the applicant under the provisions of MCL 460.1221 —
460.1232.

13. Staff hours associated with any appeal of a final Commission order will not be
included in any fees assessed to the applicant under the provisions of MCL
460.1221 — 460.1232.

14. Staff hours included in the assessed fees for a contested case proceeding shall
be hours associated with the contested case proceeding through the
completion of cross examination, or final evidentiary hearing, whichever is later.
Additionally, another 40 hours of Staff time will be included in assessed fees to
account for Staff's efforts to work on initial briefs, reply briefs, and
exceptions/replies to exceptions.

15.Staff may provide a summary of accrued Staff hours associated with a
contested case proceeding and other known expenses that will be assessed
as part of the additional fees, upon the reasonable request of an applicant.

16.The Commission may charge reasonable fees of ongoing Staff billable hours
after a certificate has been granted for the lifetime of the project. Examples of

Packet Page 45



6.
6.1

(b)

(f)

such costs may include, but are not limited to, the following: environmental site
analysis if site plan has been altered, any project follow-up considerations post
construction and operation, and other accounting, engineering, or legal
aspects.

17.The cost for processing the application as a contested case shall not exceed
$250,000, excluding costs for retaining consultation for specialty issues outside
of MPSC expertise. Total costs for processing an application inclusive of
consultation may exceed $250,000.7

APPLICATION FILING REQUIREMENTS
OVERVIEW AND PROCEDURES

The application is comprised of a series of Exhibits and associated testimony that
is filed through E-Dockets. The Exhibits take the form of maps, narratives, and
Appendices with supporting documentation. Exhibit A-1.1 through Exhibit A-1.16
is the Site Plan, which must be completed prior to the public meetings and outreach
activities. Exhibits A-2 throughA-16 comprise the remaining components of the
application.

File the application which contains the required information and exhibits to the E-
Docket. Each required exhibit must be addressed and should be numbered as
listed in these guidelines.

Submit a copy of the site plan (or an internet address where the site plan can be
reviewed) to the clerk of each ALU.

Make the one-time grant to each ALU. See Section 6.4.1 for guidance.

Provide notice of the opportunity to comment on the application as prescribed by
the commission. The notice shall be published in a newspaper of general
circulation in each ALU or a comparable digital alternative. The notice shall be
written in plain, nontechnical, and easily understood terms and shall contain a title
that includes the name of the applicant and the words “NOTICE OF INTENT TO
CONSTRUCT FACILITY”, with the words “WIND ENERGY”,
“‘SOLAR ENERGY”, or “ENERGY STORAGE?", as applicable, entered in the blank
space.

The applicant shall send the notice of the public meeting by U.S. mail to postal
addressees within one mile of proposed solar or energy storage facilities, and
within two miles of proposed wind energy facilities, including to those addressees

7 Costs incurred by the applicant for one-time grants, host and community agreements payments, or
agreements with third-party independent monitors to comply with conditions of the permit (e.g. acoustics
experts for sound modeling and measurements) are outside of the scope of application fees to process the
contested case and are notincluded in the $250,000 cap.

Packet Page 46



within those specified boundaries that are not located within the bounds of the
ALUs where the facilities will be located.

The Executive Secretary may provide further direction regarding public notice.

6.2 EXHIBIT LIST

(a) Each of the exhibits in Table 6-1 and Table 6-2 must be included in the application
using the exhibit identifier provided. If the exhibit is not applicable to the type of
application, please include the exhibit page and indicate “Intentionally left blank”.

Tables 6-1 and 6-2 outline the exhibits required in the application and references
the section that provides detailed information that must be included for each

exhibit.
Table 6-1
Site Plan Exhibits
Site Plan Site Plan
Site Plan Description Drawings Narrative
Exhibit Number Guidelines Guidelines
Section Section
Site Plan Section 7
A-1.1 Exhibit A-1.1 — Planned Facilities 7.1
A-1.2 Exhibit A-1.2 — Area Land Use 7.2 (a)(1)-(10)
Information
A-1.3 Exhibit A-1.3 — Explanatory Information 7.3
and Associated Appendices
A-1.4 Exhibit A-1.4 — Construction Information | 7.4 (8) 7.4 (1) &related to
Exhibit F-2
7.4 (2)-(7)
A-1.5 Exhibit A-1.5 — Alternatives 7.5 7.5
A-1.6 Exhibit A-1.6 — Changes 7.6 7.6
A-1.7 Exhibit A-1.7 — Sound Report and 7.2 (9) 7.7(a)
Monitoring Protocol
A-1.8 Exhibit A-1.8 — Shadow Flicker Report 7.2 (10) 7.8
for Wind Facilities
A-1.9 Exhibit A-1.9 — Emergency Response 7.9
Plan
A-1.10 Exhibit A-1.10 — Fire Response Plan 7.10
A-1.11 Exhibit A-1.11 — Commissioning Plan 7.1
A-1.12 Exhibit A-1.12 — Emergency Operation 712
Plan
A-1.13 Exhibit A-1.13 — Hazard Mitigation 713
Analysis
A-1.14 Exhibit A-1.14 — Unanticipated 7.14
Discoveries Plan
A-1.15 Exhibit A-1.15 — Participating Parcel List 7.15
A-1.16 Exhibit A-1.16 — Complaint Resolution 7.16
Process

M Energy Storage Facilities Only

Packet Page 47



Table 6-2
Summary of Additional Application Exhibits

Application
Exhibit Description Guidance Section
Numbers
A-2 Exhibit A-2 — Project Description 6.3.2
A-3 Exhibit A-3 — Project Schedule 6.3.3
Exhibits A-4.1 through A-4.5 — Local Outreach 6.3.4
A-4.1 Exhibit A-4.1 Chief Elected Official 6.3.4(1)
A-4.2 Exhibit A-4.2 Summary of Community Outreach and 6.3.4(2)
Education Efforts
A-4.3 Exhibit A-4.3 - Accommodations or changes 6.3.4(3)
A-4.4 Exhibit A-4.4 - Summary of Agency Consultations 6.3.4(4)
A-4.5 Exhibit A-4.5 - Summary of Tribal Engagement 6.3.4(5)
A-5 Exhibit A-5 — NFPA Stationary Energy Storage System 6.3.5
Compliance!"
Exhibits A-6.1 through A.6.4 — Environmental Compliance 6.3.6
A-6.1 Exhibit A-6.1 - Soil and Economic Survey Report 6.3.6(a)(1)
A-6.2 Exhibit A-6.2 Environmental Compliance Report 6.3.6(a)(2)
A-6.3 Exhibit A-6.3 Permit List and Status 6.3.6(a)(3)
A-6.4 Exhibit A-6.4 Stormwater Mitigation Plan 6.3.6(a)(5)
A-7 Exhibit A-7 — Signal Mitigation Plan 6.3.6(a)(4)
Exhibits A-8.1 through A-8.5 — Public Benefits 6.3.8
A-8.1 Exhibit A-8.1 Tax Revenue 6.3.8(a)(1)
A-8.2 Exhibit A-8.2 Payments to Landowners 6.3.8(a)(2)
A-8.3 Exhibit A-8.3 Host Community and Community Benefits 6.3.8(a)(3)
Agreements
A-8.4 Exhibit A-8.4 Local Job Creation 6.3.8(a)(4)
A-8.5 Exhibit A-8.5 Energy Needs Contributions 6.3.8(a)(5)
A-9 Exhibit A-9 — Farmland Protection 6.3.9
A-10 Exhibit A-10 — Public Health and Safety 6.3.10
A-11 Exhibit A-11 — Dark Skies!" 6.3.11
A-12 Exhibit A-12 — Transmission and Interconnection Agreements | 6.3.12
Exhibits A-13.1 through A-13.3 — Decommissioning 6.3.13
A-13.1 Exhibit A-13.1 - Decommissioning Plan 6.3.13(a)
A-13.2 Exhibit A-13.2 - Detailed Decommissioning Cost Estimate 6.3.13(b)
A-13.3 Exhibit A-13.3 - Proposed Decommissioning Agreement 6.3.13(c)
A-14 Exhibit A-14 - Conditions 6.3.14
A-15 Exhibit A-15 - Other Requested Information 6.3.15
A-16 Exhibit A-16 — Application Checklist 6.3.16

Q) Energy Storage Facilities Only

Packet Page 48




6.3.3

6.3.4
(a)

REQUIRED EXHIBITS

The required document exhibits are described below. Additional details for each
exhibit are provided in Attachments as needed.

Exhibit A-1.1 through A-1.16 — Site Plan
See Section 7 for detailed guidelines.
Exhibit A-2 — Project Description

The Project Description shall include the following information:

1. Complete name, address, and phone number of the applicant and
representative for the application.

2. Adescription of the facility, including the following:

i.  General description of size, purpose, and location.

i.  General description of the community where the facility will be located (i.e.
land use, population).

iii. The percentage of land within the township, city, or village dedicated to
energy generation at the time of the application. In addition, and the
percentage of land within the county dedicated to energy generation at the
time of the application.

iv. Expected use.
Exhibit A-3 — Project Schedule

The application shall include expert witness testimony and exhibits presenting
the following information:

1. Detailed schedule of planned construction activities including planned
construction start date and expected duration of construction.

2. Testimony describing each element within the construction schedule.

Exhibits A-4.1 through A-4.5 — Local Outreach
The following local outreach documentation is to be provided:

1. Exhibit A-4.1 - Chief Elected Official Documentation:
i.  Acopy of applicant’s offer to meet with the chief elected official in each ALU.

i. Documentation of the chief elected official response(s) to the meeting
request if provided.

Packet Page 49



iii. A summary of all meetings, including meeting dates held between the
applicant and the chief elected officials.

2. Exhibit A-4.2 - Summary of Community Outreach and Education Efforts

Provide a summary including a copy of all presentation or education materials,
number of attendees for any public meetings or meetings with elected officials,
meeting length, number of commenters and topics discussed during the meetings.

i.  Outreach conducted to locally impacted community groups, environmental
organizations, and labor union representatives. Include, at a minimum, the
date and time the outreach took place, who participated in the consultation,
and summary of findings.

3. Exhibit A-4.3 - Accommodations or changes made to the project design to
address the public comments received.

4. Exhibit A-4.4 - Summary of Agency Consultations. Provide a summary for
each federal, state and local agency consultation that includes, at a minimum:
the date and time the consultation took place; who participated in the
consultation; and copies of correspondence listing necessary permits, next
steps, and associated timeline. Provide a justification for any consultations the
applicant deemed not necessary.

i. Federal agencies — where applicable.
ii.  Michigan Department of Natural Resources.
iii.  State Historic Preservation Office.
iv.  Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy.
v.  Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural Development.
vi.  County Drain Commission.

vii.  County Road Agency.

viii.  Owners of major facilities for electric, gas, or telecommunications lines.

ix.  Michigan Department of Transportation — Aeronautics Commission (if
applicable).

Packet Page 50



6.3.5
(@)

6.3.6

5. Exhibit A-4.5 — Summary of Tribal Engagement

i. A summary of tribal engagement, including at a minimum, the
communication and outreach conducted with each Tribe, date and time,
who participated, and a summary of tribal input and outcomes if applicable.

Exhibit A-5 - NFPA Compliance (Facilities with Energy Storage Only)

Provide documentation that the energy storage facility complies with the version
of National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 855 “Standard for the Installation of
Stationary Energy Storage Systems in effect on November 29, 2024 or as adopted
by the Commission.

Exhibits A-6.1 through A-6.4 — Environmental Compliance

Exhibits A-6.1 through A-6.4 are designed to demonstrate compliance with
applicable state and federal environmental laws. Below is a list of the sub exhibits.

1. Exhibit A-6.1: Soil and Economic Survey Report.

2. Exhibit A-6.2: Environmental Compliance Report. This report describes
how the proposed facility will comply with applicable state and federal laws,
including the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA),
Public Act 451 of 1994, and Section 1705(2) of the Michigan Environmental
Protection Act (MEPA), MCL 324.1705(2).

i. Provide a description of the expected direct impacts of the proposed
energy facility on the environment and natural resources and a plan
describing how these impacts are proposed to be addressed and/or
mitigated.

i. Provide a statement and reasonable evidence that the proposed facility
will not begin commercial operation until it complies with applicable state
and federal environmental laws including NREPA.

3. Exhibit A-6.3 Permit List and Status.

i. Provide a list of all permits necessary prior to construction with the
information identified below:

e Subject.
¢ Responsible Agency.

e Date or Proposed Date Application Submitted.

e Date Permit Issued or Expected to be Issued.

Packet Page 51



6.3.7

6.3.8
(@)

i. Include any permits received prior to filing an application in this exhibit.

4. Exhibit A-6.4 Stormwater Mitigation Plan.

i. Conduct a stormwater assessment and prepare a plan that describes
measures to minimize, mitigate, and repair any drainage impacts. The
assessment and plan may be preliminary.

i.  The Plan shall address any guidance from consultation with the county drain
commissioner and shall include the date and time the consultation took
place, who participated in the consultation, and copies of correspondence
listing necessary permits, next steps, and associated timeline for each
consultation.

Exhibit A-7 — Signal Mitigation Plan

i. Ifthe facility is reasonably expected to have an impact on television signals,
microwave signals, agricultural global position systems, military defense
radar, radio reception, or weather and doppler radio, provide a plan to
minimize and mitigate that impact.

i.  Wind turbine facilities should provide evidence of prior consultation with
nearby communication tower operators, including those of the United States
Defense Department.

Exhibits A-8.1 through A-8.5 — Public Benefits

Provide a description of the expected public benefits of the proposed energy
facility, including, but not limited to, the list below. Explain how the public
benefits of the proposed energy facility justify its construction.

. Exhibit A-8.1 - Expected tax revenue paid by the energy facility to local taxing

districts.

. Exhibit A-8.2 - Payments to owners of participating property.

These may be filed confidentially if provided to Staff pursuant to a
confidentiality agreement that will be superseded by a protective order,
once one is entered.

. Exhibit A-8.3 - Provide signed copies of host community agreements (which

includes a payment provision of $2,000 per MW megawatt of nameplate
capacity to the ALU upon commencement of operation) and/or community
benefits agreements (which includes payment provisions as outlined in
6.2.10(a)(3)(ii) of this guidance).

Packet Page 52



i. Host community agreements or community benefits agreements are
required for each ALU, according to the nameplate capacity located within
the ALU.8

e If host community agreements are not signed after good-faith
negotiations with an ALU, community benefit agreements may be
entered into with one or more community-based organizations
providing benefits within or serving the residents of each ALU without
a signed host community agreement.

e In the event that agreements were proposed and were not signed,
those may be provided in lieu of signed agreements with an
explanation of why the proposed agreements have not yet been
executed.

i. Community benefits agreements with community-based organizations
within, or that serve residents of, the ALU, must include provisions for
payments that are equal to, or greater than, what would have paid
pursuant to a host community agreement. The topics and specific terms of
the agreements may vary and may include, but are not limited to, any of
the following:

o Workforce development, job quality, and job access provisions that
include, but are not limited to, any of the following:

o Terms of employment, such as wages and benefits, employment
status, workplace health and safety, scheduling, and career
advancement opportunities.

o Worker recruitment, screening, and hiring strategies and practices,
targeted hiring planning and execution, investment in workforce
training and education, and worker input and representation in
decision making affecting employment and training.

e Funding for or providing specific environmental benefits.
e Funding for or providing specific community improvements or

amenities, such as park and playground equipment, urban greening,
enhanced safety crossings, paving roads, and bike paths.

8 Because each geographic location will have at least two ALUs, such as a township and a county, the
provisions of PA 233 indicate that both of the ALUs, the township and the county, qualify for host benefit
agreements in the amount of $2,000/MW each. If there is a portion of a facility in a village, that is also
part of a township and a county, in that instance for that portion, each of the three ALUs would qualify for
host benefit agreements in the amount of $2,000/MW each.

Packet Page 53



e Annual contributions to a nonprofit or community-based organization
that awards grants.

4. Exhibit A-8.4 — Local Job Creation. Provide a project labor agreement or

collective bargaining agreement if applicable.

Exhibit A-8.5 — Energy Needs Contributions. When applicable, contributions
to meeting Michigan’s identified energy, capacity, reliability, or resource
adequacy needs such as approved Integrated Resource Plans and Renewable
Energy Plans.

6.3.9 Exhibit A-9 — Farmland Protection

(@)

(b)

Provide an explanation for how the proposed facility will not unreasonably diminish
farmland.

Provide the information below at both the local (township/city/village) and the
county level using publicly available data, such as
https://croplandcros.scinet.usda.gov/, as follows:

1.

Type of farmland being utilized by the project (i.e. Standard, Prime, Specialty
Crops).

2. Total acreage of farmland utilized by the project.

3. Farmland utilized by the project as a percentage of farmland in the township

and county.
Current percentage of land within the township and county considered
farmland, differentiated by type.

Total acreage of farmland within the township and the county, differentiated by
type.

6.3.10 Exhibit A-10 — Public Health and Safety

Public health and safety impacts of the project are considered acceptable if the design
criteria for the proposed facility are met. The following sections outline the applicable
standards required for each type of proposed facility.

(@)

1.

Solar Facility — Describe how the proposed facility will meet the following
standards:

Setbacks

i.  Occupied community buildings and dwellings on non-participating
properties — 300 feet from nearest point on the outer wall.

Packet Page 54



ii.  Public road right of way — 50 feet measured from the nearest edge of a
public road right-of-way.

iii.  Non-participating parties — 50 feet measured from the nearest shared
property line.

2. Fencing — National Electric Code, most recent version.
3. Maximum height — Solar array may not exceed 25 feet above ground at full tilt.

4. Sound - Must not generate >55 decibel (dB); (average hourly) at nearest wall
of nonparticipating property.

(b) Wind Facility — Describe how the facility will meet the following standards:
1. Setbacks

i. 2.1 x maximum blade height to nearest point on the outside wall of the
structure.

ii. Residences and other nonparticipating parties — 1.1 x maximum blade tip
height to nearest point on the outside wall of the structure.

iii.  Nonparticipating property lines — 1.1 x maximum blade tip height to
nearest point on the outside wall of the structure.

iv.  Public right-of-way - 1.1 x maximum blade tip height to center line of the
public road right-of-way.

2. Shadow Flicker — Occupied buildings or nonparticipating residences
experience <30 hr/yr shadow flicker.

3. Maximum height — Wind tower blade tips may not exceed height allowed
under a Determination of No Hazard to Air Navigation by the Federal Aviation
Administration under 14 CFR Part 77.

4. Sound - Must not generate >55 decibel (dB); (average hourly) at nearest wall
of nonparticipating property.

5. Radar Interference — “any standard” concerning radar interference.

(c) Energy Storage Facility — Describe how the facility will meet the following
standards:

1. Setbacks

i.  Occupied community buildings and dwellings on nonparticipating
properties — 300 feet from nearest point on the outer wall.

Packet Page 55



ii. Public road right of way — 50 feet measured from the nearest edge of a
public road right-of-way.

iii. Nonparticipating parties — 50 feet measured from the nearest shared
property line.

2. Fire Protection — Facility complies with the latest version of NFPA 855
“Standard for the Installation of Station Energy Storage Systems.”

3. Sound — Facility does not generate >55 decibel (dB; (average hourly) at
nearest wall of nonparticipating property.

6.3.11 Exhibit A-11 — Dark Skies (Solar and/or Storage Facilities Only)

Provide plans to comply with dark sky-friendly lighting solutions for solar or storage
facilities and light-mitigation plans for wind facilities as submitted to the Federal Aviation
Administration, including exemptions requested for during the construction period.

6.3.12 Exhibit A-12 — Transmission and Interconnection Agreements

(a) Provide the following information related to power transmission and
interconnection.

1. Queue number or other information providing the ability to identify the proposed
facility within the interconnection queue.

2. Copies of all studies completed by the regional transmission organization
including feasibility studies and system impact studies.

i. If a generator interconnection agreement has been executed, the
executed generator interconnection agreement may be submitted in lieu
of the studies.

ii. The generator interconnection agreement and/or studies may be filed
subject to a protective order and non-disclosure agreement.

6.3.13 Exhibits A-13.1 through A-13.3 — Decommissioning

Exhibit A-13.1 — Decommissioning Plan. Submit a decommissioning plan that
includes the following:

1. An overview of the proposed energy facility including:

i. A detailed description of the proposed energy facility above ground and
overview of the current land use of the site where the proposed energy
facility will be located.

i.  The expected useful life of the proposed energy facility.

Packet Page 56



iii. A description of events which would trigger applicant-initiated
decommissioning.

iv. A physical and chemical analysis of the soil which can be used to ensure
soil is returned to a useful condition.

v. Alist of known hazardous substances at the time of development.
A description of the energy facility removal process including:
i. Aproposed decommissioning schedule.

i.  Adescription of facilities that will be removed and those that will be kept in
place including the reasoning and agreement with the property owner.

iii.  Adescription of removal methods and site clearance activities.

iv.  Adescription of anticipated hazardous substances used in the facility and
removal from the site based upon what is known at the time the application
is filed.

v. A description of planned materials management methods and
transportation plans and an initial plan as to whether components will be
sold, landfilled, recycled or other, with the understanding that such plans
will be updated periodically.

vi. A description of resources, conditions, or activities potentially affected by
decommissioning and mitigation measures to be employed during the
decommissioning process.

A description of the site restoration plan that returns the site to a useful
condition similar to its pre-construction state. Process milestones and PA 116
restoration requirements should be detailed, including necessary steps to
ensure soil is returned to at least as good or better condition.

A list of expected necessary permits for demolition or new temporary
construction which may be required for component removal and a statement
that such permits will be obtained prior to the start date of decommissioning.

Details describing the financial assurance:

i.  Thetype and manner of financial assurance the developer plans to provide
(cash is prohibited), subject to the terms of any future Commission
approval and Commission-approved decommissioning agreement:

a. Bond.

b. Parent company guarantee.

Packet Page 57



c. lrrevocable letter of credit.

i.  Such financial assurance shall be expressly held for the benefit of the
Michigan Public Service Commission.

6. The following commitments and assurances shall be included in the
decommissioning plan:

a. A commitment to provide decommissioning plan and financial
assurance cost updates on a 5-year basis for the first 20 years of
commercial operation and every 3 years thereafter.

b. An assurance statement from that restoration will be in
accordance with agreements with landowners.

c. A commitment and plan to coordinate with landowners, ALUs,
and local governments not exercising zoning authority in which
all or part of a proposed energy facility will be located to the extent
possible, prior to beginning decommissioning activities.

d. An assurance that decommissioning plan updates and cost
estimates shall be filed in the MPSC docket assigned to the
energy facility.

e. An assurance that the financial assurance shall be updated
according to the required periodic decommission plan and cost
estimate updates.

f. Assurance that the applicant will provide annual proof in the
MPSC docket assigned to the energy facility that the financial
assurance remains sufficient and in effect.

g. A statement agreeing to provide a decommissioning completion
report within 60 days after decommissioning is complete.

Exhibit A-13.2 - Detailed Decommissioning Cost Estimate

1. Provide a decommissioning cost estimate for restoration of participating
properties to useful condition similar to that which existed before construction,
including removal of above-surface facilities and infrastructure that have no
ongoing purpose. The estimate must include the following:

i. Detailed cost estimates for removal of energy facility equipment and
infrastructure, land restoration and reclamation, and liability insurance
requirements calculated by a third party with expertise in decommissioning
to restore to useful condition similar to before the energy facility.

Packet Page 58



i. An estimate of salvage value for energy facility equipment and
infrastructure calculated by a third party with expertise in
decommissioning.

iii.  An estimate of the cost to hire a decommissioning consultant to manage
the decommissioning process in the event of owner abandonment or
bankruptcy.

Exhibit A-13.3 - Proposed Decommissioning Agreement

1. Submit a Decommissioning Agreement between the applicant and each
Business Structure and State of Organization. A copy of the proposed
agreement is provided in Attachment F and a word file is available here. Any
changes to the sample agreement shall be redlined.

6.3.14 Exhibits A-14 — Conditions

(@) Submit a completed Exhibit N regarding the proposed minimum conditions in
Attachment G.

1. The applicant shall include proposals to meet the proposed minimum
conditions when filing an application or provide an explanation justifying why
any of the proposed minimum conditions should not be applied to the facilities.
Those participating in the case are encouraged to evaluate the efficacy of the
proposed conditions made by the applicant in the application and to propose
modifications or additions to proposed conditions in contested cases filed
pursuant to PA 233.

2. For each condition listed, consider how the project meets, plans to meet, or
should not be required to meet, that condition. Either reference where in the
application that condition is addressed or provide a response — either in the
table or as an attachment to the table (i.e., Exhibit O-1).

6.3.15 Exhibit A-15 — Other Requested Information

(a) Provide other information identified during a pre-application meeting or requested
by the Commission that is not otherwise included in the preceding exhibits.

6.3.16 Exhibit A-16 — Application Checklist

The checklist is available on the MPSC Renewable Energy and Energy Storage Facility
Website. Staff may make non-substantive changes to this document over time to best
accommodate the requirements as prescribed in the Application Filing Instructions and
Procedures.

Packet Page 59



6.4 AFFECTED LOCAL UNIT COORDINATION AND GRANT
6.4.1 One-Time Grant to Affected Local Units

(@)  When the application is filed, the applicant must make a one-time grant® to each
ALU in which the project is located unless at least one of the following is true:

1. The ALU notified the applicant that it had a CREO, and the application was
subsequently not reviewed promptly by the ALU (by the 120-day deadline or
other deadline as agreed upon).

2. The ALU notified the applicant that it had a CREO and subsequently denied the
application despite it complying with the statute.

3. The ALU notified the applicant that it had a CREO and later amends the CREO
so that it imposes requirements more restrictive than 226(8).

(b) If one ALU in the project area meets one of the criteria above, only that ALU in the
project area is ineligible for the grant. All other ALUs in the project area remain
eligible.

The Commission has established the one-time grant of $150,000, whereby each ALU
receives no more than $75,000. The applicant shall split the one-time grant amount
equally among all ALUs, and the one-time grant to each ALU should be delivered with a
copy of the application within 24 hours of being filed pursuant to PA 233.

Each ALU shall deposit the grant in a local intervenor compensation fund for use in
covering costs associated with the ALU’s participation in the contested case proceeding
on the application for a certificate. ALUs may pool one-time grant funds allocated for the
purposes of participating in the contested case proceeding.

Within 15 days following the pre-hearing, one-time grants to ALUs that have not
intervened in the case shall be refunded to the applicant. ALUs that have participated as
intervenors in the case are directed to file an official exhibit in the case prior to the
conclusion of cross examination or the close of the record containing paid invoices for
legal services for participation in the case and an estimate for funds to be spent on legal
services for briefing and exceptions. Remaining one-time grant funds not utilized for
participation in the case shall be refunded to the applicant within 30 days following the

9 Grants are intended to cover the cost of participation in the contested case proceeding for
ALUs. Individual landowners seeking to participate in proceedings will continue to follow
established processes for intervention, subject to MCL 460.1226(3), and public comment but are
not eligible recipients for grant funding.

Packet Page 60



date on which answers to petitions for rehearing on the Commission's final order are due,
when applicable.

7. EXHIBITS A-1.1 THROUGH A1.16 — SITE PLAN

Site plans should be prepared using the latest or most recent edition USGS maps
(1:24,000 topographic edition) and GIS mapping to the extent available. All items provided
must be clear and legible, which could entail providing some of the requested items on
separate layers, separate maps, or by showing some areas on another scale.

7.1 EXHIBIT A-1.1 — PLANNED FACILITIES

(a) Site Plans must, at a minimum, depict the following information:
1. The proposed location of the facility and potential right-of-way extents,

including proposed electric collection and transmission lines and
interconnections, all fenced in or secured areas, as well as ancillary features
located on the facility site such as roads, railroads, switchyards, energy
generation, storage or regulation facilities, substations, and similar facilities.

2. The proposed location of any off-site utility interconnections that are available
to the applicant at the time of application, including all electric transmission
lines, communications lines, stormwater drainage lines, county and intercounty
drains, and appurtenances thereto, to be installed connecting to and servicing
the site of the facility.

3. The proposed limits of clearing and disturbance for construction of all facility
components and ancillary features, including laydown yards and temporary
staging or storage areas.

4. Major institutions, parks, and recreational areas within 1000 feet of the site.

5. Lakes, reservoirs, streams, canals, rivers, wetlands, and other waterbodies
within 1000 feet of the site.

6. Legal boundaries of cities, villages, townships, and counties within 1000 fit of
the site.

7. Occupied structures within 1000 feet of the site.

8. The location of inverters and other noise-emitting facilities showing the distance
to occupied structures, property lines, and public rights-of-way.

9. The area of the proposed site or right-of-way for the facility, and the
identification of participating properties and adjacent properties.

Packet Page 61



7.2

10.The location of any deeded easement known to date that exists within the
footprint of the facility.

i. The existing site plan elements, including without limitation, project
boundary(ies), parcel boundaries, public roads, railroads, public
right-of-way, existing public utilities, and easement locations shall be
shown as approximate locations based on readily available
desktop/GIS/publicly available spatial data within the footprint of the
facility.

An aerial photograph or a map using satellite imagery with depictions of planned
facilities, fences, roads, occupied buildings, and planned screening, landscaping,
and vegetative cover.

A dimensioned drawing or map with dimensions added showing setbacks from the
project boundary and fences to all structures on participating properties, road
rights-of-way, waterways, wetlands, occupied buildings and structures on non-
participating properties, and property lines of non-participating properties.

A description of the maximum height of solar panels, wind turbines, storage
facilities, and associated electrical equipment in relation to existing overhead
communication and electric transmission lines.

EXHIBIT A-1.2 — AREA LAND USE INFORMATION

Exhibit A-2 maps must show, at a minimum, the following information within the
proposed facility (including all components and ancillary feature(s)) and within
1,000 feet of the proposed facility (including all components and ancillary
feature(s)). The applicant should ensure that all items provided are clear and
legible which could entail providing some of the requested items on separate
layers, separate portable document format (pdf) maps, or by showing some areas
on another scale.

1. Municipal boundaries and taxing jurisdictions, at a scale sufficient to determine
and demonstrate relation of facilities to those geographic and political features.

2. Proposed land uses within the facility and surrounding area including, but not
limited to, the identification of land being utilized for agriculture including the
cultivation of specialty crops according to publicly available data.

3. Farmland, including, but not limited to, prime farmland within the facility and
surrounding area within 1000 feet of the perimeter.

4. Existing overhead and underground major facilities for electric, gas, and
telecommunications transmission.

Packet Page 62



7.3

5. A map of all properties upon which any component of a facility or ancillary
feature would be located must show the current land use, tax parcel number
and owner of record of each property, and any publicly known proposed land
use plans for any of these properties. Also, identify any parcels within the
project boundaries participating in farmland development rights agreements
under Michigan’s Farmland and Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116).

i.  For wind facilities, all properties within 2,000 feet of such facilities must be
shown.

6. Existing local zoning districts.

7. Designated coastal areas, inland waterways, groundwater management zones,
designated agricultural districts, flood-prone areas, and coastal erosion hazard
areas.

8. Recreational and other land uses that might be affected by the sight or sound
of the construction or operation of the facility, interconnections and related
facilities. ldentify any wild, scenic, and recreational river corridors, open
spaces, known archaeological, geologic, historical, or scenic areas, parks,
designated wilderness, forest lands, scenic vistas, conservation easement
lands, federal or state designated scenic byways, nature preserves, designated
trails, public-access fishing areas, major communication and utility uses and
infrastructure, and institutional, community, and municipal uses and facilities.

9. Depict the proposed facilities, adjacent properties, all structures within
participating and adjacent properties, property lines, and the projected sound
isolines along with the modeled sound isolines including the statutory limit and
any limits that have been adopted in administrative rules by the MPSC (not
applicable at this time).

10. Depict the area that will be impacted by shadow flicker for wind facilities,
including isolines indicating areas expected to experience 30 hours or more per
year of shadow flicker and locations of occupied structures.

EXHIBIT A-1.3 - EXPLANATORY INFORMATION

Written explanations of the elements and features shown on all provided maps as
well as other planned site/facility information including a description of the project
area and the portion of the community where the project will be sited including
socioeconomic and demographic profiles and major industries in the area.
Examples of relevant project area information include geography, topography,
cities, villages, townships, counties, major industries, and landmarks.

Packet Page 63



1.

Provide justification for how the proposed project location, layout, construction
methods, etc. minimize the following:

i.  Environmental and Natural Resource impacts
i. Noise
iii.  Visual impacts
iv. Impacts to traffic
v. Impacts to solid waste disposal capacity

vi. Impacts to county and intercounty drains and preliminary plans to
minimize, mitigate, and repair drainage issues; and

vii.  Other impacts to non-participating property owners during construction
and operation.

2. Provide the number of acres of the proposed site for the facility.

3. Provide written descriptions explaining the relation of the location of the facility

site, and all ancillary features not located on the facility site, to the ALUs of
government.

Provide a qualitative assessment of the compatibility of the facility, including
any off-site staging and storage areas, with existing, proposed and allowed land
uses located within a 1,000-foot perimeter of the facility site. The assessment
shall identify the nearby land uses of and shall address the land use impacts of
the facility on residential areas, schools, civic facilities, recreational facilities,
and commercial areas. The assessment and evaluation shall demonstrate that
conflicts from facility-generated noise, traffic, and visual impacts with current
and planned uses have been minimized to the extent practicable.

Provide a description of the planned screening, landscaping, and vegetative
cover. For solar developments, describe the plan to establish and maintain
pollinator habitat and vegetative ground cover for the life of the proposed
facility. This information is not required if the proposed facility is located entirely
on brownfield land.

i.  Describe the plan to meet or exceed pollinator standards throughout the
lifetime of the proposed facility as established by the “Michigan Pollinator
Habitat Planning Scorecard for Solar Sites” developed by the Michigan
State University Department of Entomology in effect on February 27, 2024,
or any applicable successor standards approved by the commission.

Packet Page 64



i. Explain how the seed mix used to establish pollinator plantings shall not
include invasive species as identified by the Midwest Invasive Species
Information Network, led by researchers at the Michigan State University
Department of Entomology and supporting regional partners.

6. Provide a written description of how planned fencing complies with the version
of the National Electric Code in effect on November 29, 2024, or as approved
by the Commission.

7.4 EXHIBIT A-1.4 - CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION

(a) Describe the project’s proposed construction and installation methods including:
1. Soil surveying and testing plans, pursuant to NREPA.
2. Grading and excavation.

3. Construction of temporary and permanent access roads, staging areas, and
laydown areas and trenches.

4. Stringing of cable and/or laying of pipe.

5. Installation of electric transmission line poles and structures, including
foundations.

6. Depth of underground infrastructure.
7. Post-construction restoration.
8. Maps showing the following:

i. The planned routes (may be preliminary) for cranes and other heavy
equipment.

i.  The location of any existing deeded easement granted to any entity within
the footprint of the facility.

iii. The location of known existing and proposed county and intercounty
drains, drain easements, and underground drainage tile including data
provided by the county drain commission or the property owner as
applicable and to the extent available.

Packet Page 65



7.5

7.6

(b)

7.7

EXHIBIT A-1.5 - ALTERNATIVES

Provide a map and description of each alternative site location, proposed site
layout, or other alternatives that are or were considered, including rationale for why
alternative locations were not selected for development.

If the proposed site of the energy facility is undeveloped land, the applicant must
provide a description of feasible alternative developed locations, including, but not
limited to, vacant industrial property and brownfields, and an explanation of why
they were not chosen for the project site.

EXHIBIT A-1.6 - CHANGES

Provide a map and description of any known potential modifications or variations
in the proposed site plan that are being considered at the time of filing and that will
be finalized prior to construction.

Minor changes are not required to be submitted. A minor change is any change
within the project footprint that still allows the facilities to meet all of the criteria
outlined in PA 233, does not create new or additional impacts and does not require
new permits; however, a minor change does not include any of the following:

1. A change that would expand the footprint or perimeter of the site plan.

2. A change in planned technologies (such as the addition of an energy storage
facility to an existing site or other technological changes increasing noise or
impacting permit requirements).

3. Reduced setback distances from any part of the planned facilities to occupied
structures, non-participating property lines, or rights-of-way if the new setbacks
violate any setback requirements in PA 233.

Any change that affects water detention or retention or other stormwater runoff.
An increase in the height of the tallest equipment or structures.

Repowering.

A -

Any increase of noise impacts to non-participating structures above the 55 dB
average hourly limit.

EXHIBIT A-1.7 — SOUND REPORT AND MONITORING PROTOCOL

Exhibit A-7 Submit a report detailing the sound modeling results along with
proposed preconstruction (optional) and postconstruction sound monitoring plans

Packet Page 66



7.8

to be completed upon receipt of a siting certificate from the Commission as well as
mitigation plans to ensure that sound emitted from the facilities will remain below
the statutory limit throughout the operational life of the facilities. An overview of the
sound report requirements is provided below. See Attachment D, for further detail
for Sound Report requirements.

1.

Sound modeling must be conducted following the requirements of International
Organization for Standardization (1SO) 9613-2 (2024), “Engineering method for
the prediction of sound pressure levels outdoors.”

The purpose of the Sound Report is to provide the Commission with information
necessary to assess if the facility meets the noise limits defined in MCL 460.
1226.

All sound studies shall be completed by or under the direction of a qualified
noise control engineer whose qualifications are documented in the report.

The sound monitoring should generally follow the requirements of the American
National Standards Institute (ANSI) S12.18 and ANSI S12.9 Part 3, where
applicable.

Reporting shall include, but is not limited to, the following:

i.  Facility Description

i. Maps and descriptions of sources and monitoring locations, including the
distance from each to the nearest facility equipment.

ii.  Sound Modeling Results
iv.  Discussion including an assessment of the noise impacts and ability to
meet MCL 460.1226.

Submit a Pre-construction Sound Monitoring Protocol (optional) in accordance
with the guidance in Attachment D.

Submit a Post-construction Sound Monitoring Protocol in accordance with the
guidance provided in Attachment D.

EXHIBIT A-1.8 - SHADOW FLICKER REPORT (WIND FACILITIES ONLY)

Provide a report detailing the flicker modeling results for wind facilities along with
mitigation plans to ensure that flicker will remain below the statutory limit
throughout the operational life of the facilities.

1.

The report must be prepared by a qualified third party using the latest or most
recent current modeling software available establishing that no Occupied

Packet Page 67



7.9

Residence will experience more than 30 hours per year, of shadow flicker at
the nearest external wall based on real world or adjusted case assessment
modeling.

The report must show the locations and estimated amount of shadow flicker to
be experienced at all Occupied Residences as a result of the individual turbines
in the project.

EXHIBIT A-1.9 - EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN

The Emergency Response Plan (ERP) shall include:

1.

o g &~ w

9.

Evidence of consultation or a good-faith effort to consult with local first
responders and county emergency managers to ensure that the ERP is in
alignment with acceptable operating procedures, capabilities, resources, site
access, etc.

An identification of contingencies that would constitute a safety or security
emergency (fire emergencies are to be addressed in a separate Fire Response
Plan (FRP)).

Emergency response measures by contingency.
Evacuation control measures by contingency.
Community notification procedures by contingency.

An identification of potential approach and departure routes to and from the
facility site for police, fire, ambulance, and other emergency vehicles.

A commitment to review and update the ERP with fire departments, first
responders, and county emergency managers at least once every 3 years.

An analysis of whether plans to be implemented in response to an emergency
can be fulfiled by existing local emergency response capacity, and
identification of any specific equipment or training deficiencies in local
emergency response capacity.

Other information the applicant finds relevant.

Changes to the design, type, manufacturer, etc. of facilities or equipment after the
initial filing must be analyzed to determine if changes are necessary to the ERP.
Additional consultation with local fire departments, first responders, and county
emergency managers is required for amended plans.

EXHIBIT A-1.10 — FIRE RESPONSE PLAN (FRP)

The FRP shall include the following:

Packet Page 68



8.

. Evidence of consultation or a good-faith effort to consult with local fire

department representatives to ensure that the FRP is in alignment with
acceptable operating procedures, capabilities, resources, etc. If consultation
with local fire department representatives is not possible, provide evidence of
consultation or a good-faith effort to consult with the State Fire Marshal or other
local emergency manager.

A description of all on-site equipment and systems to be provided to prevent or
handle fire emergencies.

A description of all contingency plans to be implemented in response to the
occurrence of a fire emergency.

For energy storage projects, a commitment to offer to conduct, or provide
funding to conduct, site-specific training drills with emergency responders
before commencing operation, and at least once per year while the facility is in
operation. Training should familiarize local fire departments with the project,
hazards, procedures, and current best practices.

For wind and solar projects, a commitment to conduct, or provide funding to
conduct, site-specific training drills with emergency responders before
commencing operation, and upon request while the facility is in operation.
Training should familiarize local fire departments with the project, hazards,
procedures, and current best practices.

A commitment to review and update the FRP with fire departments, first
responders, and county emergency managers at least once every 3 years.

An analysis of whether plans to be implemented in response to a fire
emergency can be fulfilled by existing local emergency response capacity. The
analysis should include identification of any specific equipment or training
deficiencies in local emergency response capacity and recommendations for
measures to mitigate deficiencies.

Other information the applicants find relevant.

(b)  Changes to the design, type, manufacturer, etc. of facilities or equipment after the
initial filing must be analyzed to determine if changes are necessary to the FRP.
Additional consultation with local fire departments, first responders, and county
emergency managers is required for amended plans.

7.11 EXHIBIT A-1.11 — COMMISSIONING PLAN (FACILITIES WITH STORAGE

ONLY)

(a) For energy storage projects, provide a Commissioning Plan in compliance with
NFPA 855 (4.2.4 & 6.1.3.2).

Packet Page 69



7.12 EXHIBIT A-1.12 - EMERGENCY OPERATIONS PLAN (FACILITIES WITH
STORAGE ONLY)

(a) For energy storage projects, provide an Emergency Operations Plan in compliance
with NFPA 855 (4.3.2.1.4).

7.13 EXHIBIT A-1.13 - HAZARD MITIGATION ANALYSIS (FACILITIES WITH
STORAGE ONLY)

(@) For energy storage projects provide a Hazard Mitigation Analysis in compliance
with NFPA 855 (4.4).

7.14 EXHIBIT A-1.14 - UNANTICIPATED DISCOVERIES PLAN

(@)  Submit an Unanticipated Discoveries Plan (UDP) that addresses the anticipated
impacts and plans to mitigate impacts to the environment and natural resources,
including, but not limited to, sensitive habitats and waterways, wetlands and
floodplains, wildlife corridors, parks, historic and cultural sites, and threatened or
endangered species. The UDP must include:

1. A set of procedures to be followed if cultural resources are discovered.
Examples of cultural materials include, but are not limited to, the following:

i.  Anaccumulation of shell, burned rocks, or other food-related materials
ii. Bones or small pieces of bone
iii.  Anarea of charcoal or very dark stained soil with artifacts
iv.  Stone tools or waste flakes (i.e., an arrowhead, or stone chips)
v.  Clusters of tin cans or bottles

vi.  Logging or agricultural equipment that appears to be older than 50 years
vii.  Buried railroad tracks, decking, or other industrial materials
3. Aset of procedures to be followed if human remains are discovered.
4. A contact list that includes the following:
i.  Contact for the State Historic Preservation Office

i.  Contacts for Tribal Historic Preservation Offices of Michigan

Packet Page 70



715

(@)

8.
8.1

(@)

iii. Local, project-specific, emergency contacts (i.e., County Sheriff, County
Medical Examiner.)

EXHIBIT A-1.15 — PARTICIPATING PARCEL LIST

Provide a list of all parcels that are participating or adjacent to the proposed
facilities, including land-owner information for each parcel. Landowner information
may be redacted and filed confidentially pursuant to protective order at the
discretion of the applicant if the land-owner information is not available publicly.

EXHIBIT A-1.16 — COMPLAINT RESOLUTION PROCESS

Provide a complaint resolution process for the site. The complaint process should
include:

1. The name of a designated applicant representative provided with the authority
to resolve local complaints.

2. Adedicated phone number for complaints.
3. An email address for complaints.
4. Website information instructing the public on the complaint resolution process.

5. Procedures for regular reporting of complaints received and how each
complaint was resolved to be filed on a periodic basis in the docket.

POST CERTIFICATE REQUIREMENTS AND INFORMATION
COMPLETION REPORT (REQUIRED)

Before commencing commercial operations, file a completion report in the case
docket certifying compliance with the statute as well as any conditions associated
with an approved certificate. At a minimum, the completion report should include:

1. Finalized site plans, finalized schematics, and dimensioned drawings.

2. Descriptions demonstrating compliance with Section 226(8) for the relevant
technologies included within the facility.

3. Alist of all permits received including the permitting agency, the date the permit
was received, and conditions attached to each permit.

Packet Page 71



8.2

4. Submit a Postconstruction Sound Monitoring Report as part of the required
Completion Report. The report must include the information set forth in
Attachment D, Section 2.4 of these instructions.

AS-BUILT SURVEY

Within 90 days of achieving the project Commercial Operation Date (COD), submit a
letter in the case docket that confirms that an ALTA/ACSM (American Land Title
Association/American Congress on Surveying and Mapping) as-built survey was
submitted to the Affected Local Unit(s).

8.3

8.3.1

(@)

(b)

DECOMMISSIONING AND FINANCIAL ASSURANCE

Updates to the Decommissioning Plan and/or Financial Assurance must be filed
in the MPSC docket for the project.

Proof that the financial assurance remains sufficient and in effect must be filed in
the MPSC docket for the project annually.

Decommissioning

Decommissioning plans shall be updated to incorporate any improvements in the
decommission process or necessary changes, including, but not limited to,
changes to address any newly identified hazardous substances that would
increase cost.

Notify MPSC within 60 days of completing decommissioning activities and submit
a decommissioning report in the MPSC docket assigned to the project that includes
a summary of decommissioning activities and a description of any mitigation
measures used during decommissioning.

Financial Assurance

Submit initial proof of financial assurance to the MPSC docket assigned to the
project prior to commencing construction. Financial assurance may be in the
form of a:

1. Bond.
2. Parent company guarantee.
3. lrrevocable letter of credit.

Applicants with facilities which include PA 116 farmland may, in consultation with
the Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural Development (MDARD), provide

Packet Page 72



(d)

financial assurance pursuant to PA 233 which satisfies the requirements of both
PA 116 and PA 233.

When decommissioning plans are updated, the decommissioning cost estimate
must be updated by a third party with expertise in decommissioning based on the
updated decommission plan.

Submit proof of financial assurance to the MPSC docket assigned to the project
annually.

1. Changes to the amount of the financial assurance is only required when the
costs are revised from decommissioning plan updates.

Packet Page 73



ATTACHMENT A

LIST OF ACRONYMS

AC
ACSM
ALJ

ALTA
ALU
ANSI

COD
CREO

dB
E-Docket
ERP

FRP

IEC
10U
ISO

MCL
MDARD
MEPA
MNIA
MPSC
MZEA
MW

NFPA
NREPA

PA
pdf
PFD

alternating current
American Congress on Surveying and Mapping
Administrative Law Judge

American Land Title Association
affected local unit

American National Standards Institute

commercial operation date
Compatible Renewable Energy Ordinance

decibel
Electronic Docket Filings System
Emergency Response Plan

Fire Response Plan

International Electrotechnical Commission
investor-owned utility

International Organization for Standardization

Michigan Compiled Laws

Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural Development
Michigan Environmental Protection Act

Military Needs and Interest Assessment

Michigan Public Service Commission

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act

megawatts

National Fire Protection Association
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act

Public Act

portable document format
Proposal for Decision

Packet Page 74



UDP Unanticipated Discoveries Plan
USGS United States Geological Survey

Packet Page 75



ATTACHMENT B

DEFINITIONS

"Affected local unit” means a unit of local government exercising zoning authority in
which all or part of a proposed energy facility will be located.

"Aircraft detection lighting system" means a sensor-based system designed to detect
aircraft as they approach a wind energy facility and that automatically activates
obstruction lights until they are no longer needed.

"Applicant" means an applicant for a certificate.

"Certificate" means a certificate issued for an energy facility under section 226(5) of PA
233 of 2023.

"Community-based organization" means a workforce development and training
organization, labor union, local governmental entity, environmental advocacy
organization, or an organization that represents the interests of underserved
communities.

"Compatible renewable energy ordinance" means an ordinance that provides for the
development of energy facilities within the local unit of government, the requirements of
which are no more restrictive than the provisions included in section 226(8). A CREO
under Act 233 may only contain the setback, fencing, height, sound, and other applicable
requirements expressly outlined in Section 226(8), and may not contain additional
requirements beyond those specifically identified in that section. A local unit of
government is considered not to have a CREOQ if it has a moratorium on the development
of energy facilities in effect within its jurisdiction.

"Construction" means any substantial action taken constituting the placement, erection,
expansion, or repowering of an energy facility.

“Chief Elected Official” means a local government official including mayors, village
presidents, township supervisors, and board chairs

"Dark sky-friendly lighting technology" means a light fixture that is designed to
minimize the amount of light that escapes upward into the sky.

“Electric Provider” means a corporation, person, agency, authority, or other legal entity
or instrumentality aligned with distribution facilities for delivery of electric energy for use

Packet Page 76



primarily by the public. Included are investor-owned electric utilities, municipal and State
utilities, Federal electric utilities, and rural electric cooperatives.

"Energy facility" means an energy storage facility, solar energy facility, or wind energy
facility. An energy facility may be located on more than 1 parcel of property, including
noncontiguous parcels, but shares a single point of interconnection to the grid.

"Energy storage facility" means a system that absorbs, stores, and discharges
electricity. Energy storage facility does not include either of the following:

(i) Fossil fuel storage.
(ii) Power-to-gas storage that directly uses fossil fuel inputs.

"Independent power producer”, or "IPP", means a person that is not an electric provider
but owns or operates facilities to generate electric power for sale to electric providers, this
state, or local units of government.

"Light intensity dimming solution technology" means obstruction lighting that
provides a means of tailoring the intensity level of lights according to surrounding visibility.

"Light-mitigating technology system" means an aircraft detection lighting system, a
light intensity dimming solution technology, or a comparable solution that reduces the
impact of nighttime lighting while maintaining night conspicuity sufficient to assist aircraft
in identifying and avoiding collision with the wind energy facilities.

"Local unit of government" or "local unit" means a county, township, city, or village.

"Maximum blade tip height" means the nominal hub height plus the nominal blade
length of a wind turbine, as listed in the wind turbine specifications provided by the wind
turbine manufacturer. If not listed in the wind turbine specifications, maximum blade tip
height means the actual hub height plus the actual blade length.

“MPSC” or “Commission” means the Michigan Public Service Commission, the state
regulatory body in Michigan charged with serving the public by ensuring safe, reliable,
accessible energy and telecommunications at reasonable rates.

“MPSC Staff” or “Staff’ means the professional, independent, subject matter experts
employed by the MPSC who are granted intervention by right in contested cases before
the Commission.

"Nameplate capacity" means the designed full-load sustained generating output of an
energy facility. Nameplate capacity shall be determined by reference to the sustained

Packet Page 77



output of an energy facility even if components of the energy facility are located on
different parcels, whether contiguous or noncontiguous.

"Nonparticipating property" means a property that is adjacent to an energy facility and
that is not a participating property.

"Occupied community building" means a school, place of worship, day-care facility,
public library, community center, or other similar building that the applicant knows or
reasonably should know is used on a regular basis as a gathering place for community
members.

"Participating property" means real property that either is owned by an applicant or that
is the subject of an agreement that provides for the payment by an applicant to a
landowner of monetary compensation related to an energy facility regardless of whether
any part of that energy facility is constructed on the property.

"Person" means an individual, governmental entity authorized by this state, political
subdivision of this state, business, proprietorship, firm, partnership, limited partnership,
limited liability partnership, co-partnership, joint venture, syndicate, business trust, labor
organization, company, corporation, association, subchapter S corporation, limited
liability company, committee, receiver, estate, trust, or any other legal entity or
combination or group of persons acting jointly as a unit.

“Prime farmland” is defined in the same manner as is done by the U.S. Department of
Agriculture’s Natural Resource Conservation Service and is shown in the online database
by the same entity (see 7 CFR 657.5). Prime farmland means land that has the best
combination of physical and chemical characteristics for producing food, feed, forage,
fiber, and oilseed crops, and is also available for these uses (the land could be cropland,
pastureland, rangeland, forest and, or other land, but not urban built-up land or water). It
has the soil quality, growing season, and moisture supply needed to economically
produce sustained high yields of crops when treated and managed, including water
management, according to acceptable farming methods. In general, prime farmlands
have an adequate and dependable water supply from precipitation or irrigation, a
favorable temperature and growing season, acceptable acidity or alkalinity, acceptable
salt and sodium content, and few or no rocks. They are permeable to water and air. Prime
farmlands are not excessively erodible or saturated with water for a long period of time,
and they either do not flood frequently or are protected from flooding. Examples of soils
that qualify as prime farmland are Palouse silt loam, 0 to 7 percent slopes; Brookston silty
clay loam, drained; and Tama silty clay loam, 0 to 5 percent slopes.

Packet Page 78



"Project labor agreement" means a prehire collective bargaining agreement with 1 or
more labor organizations that establishes the terms and conditions of employment for a
specific construction project and does all of the following:

(i) Binds all contractors and subcontractors on the construction project through
the inclusion of appropriate specifications in all relevant solicitation
provisions and contract documents.

(i) Allows all contractors and subcontractors on the construction project to
compete for contracts and subcontracts without regard to whether they are
otherwise parties to collective bargaining agreements.

(i)  Contains guarantees against strikes, lockouts, and similar job disruptions.

(iv) Sets forth the effective, prompt, and mutually binding procedures for
resolving labor disputes arising during the term of the project labor
agreement.

(v) Provides other mechanisms for labor-management cooperation on matters
of mutual interest and concern, including productivity, quality of work,
safety, and health.

(vi)  Complies with all state and federal laws, rules, and regulations.

"Repowering", with respect to an energy facility, means replacement of all or
substantially all of the energy facility for the purpose of extending its life beyond its original
contract. Repowering does not include repairs or replacements related to the ongoing
operations that do not increase the capacity or energy output of the energy facility.

“Specialty Crops” means land other than prime farmland that is used for the production
of specific high value food and fiber crops. It has the special combination of soil quality,
location, growing season, and moisture supply needed to economically produce
sustained high quality and/or high yields of a specific crop when treated and managed
according to acceptable farming methods. Examples of such crops are citrus, tree nuts,
olives, cranberries, fruit, and vegetables. (Definition is adopted from the USDA definition
of “Unique Farmland.”)

"Solar energy facility" means a system that captures and converts solar energy into
electricity, for the purpose of sale or for use in locations other than solely the solar energy
facility property. Solar energy facility includes, but is not limited to, the following
equipment and facilities to be constructed by an electric provider or independent power
producer: photovoltaic solar panels; solar inverters; access roads; distribution, collection,
and feeder lines; wires and cables; conduit; footings; foundations; towers; poles;
crossarms; guy lines and anchors; substations; interconnection or switching facilities;
circuit breakers and transformers; energy storage facilities; overhead and underground

Packet Page 79



control; communications and radio relay systems and telecommunications equipment;
utility lines and installations; generation tie lines; solar monitoring stations; and accessory
equipment and structures.

"Wind energy facility" means a system that captures and converts wind into electricity,
for the purpose of sale or for use in locations other than solely the wind energy facility
property. Wind energy facility includes, but is not limited to, the following equipment and
facilities to be constructed by an electric provider or independent power producer: wind
towers; wind turbines; access roads; distribution, collection, and feeder lines; wires and
cables; conduit; footings; foundations; towers; poles; crossarms; guy lines and anchors;
substations; interconnection or switching facilities; circuit breakers and transformers;
energy storage facilities; overhead and underground control; communications and radio
relay systems and telecommunications equipment; monitoring and recording equipment
and facilities; erosion control facilities; utility lines and installations; generation tie lines;
ancillary buildings; wind monitoring stations; and accessory equipment and structures.

Packet Page 80



ATTACHMENT C

PRE-APPLICATION SUPPORTING INFORMATION

C-1  MEETING WITH CHIEF ELECTED OFFICIAL

The applicant must offer to meet with each affected local unit's (ALU) chief elected
official'® to establish if the ALU has a compatible renewable energy ordinance (CREO). If
the ALU has a CREO, then applicants must follow the ALU siting process in each ALU.
CREOs are described in the following section of this attachment.

The applicant’s offer to meet shall be delivered by email and by certified U.S. mail at least
60 days before the scheduled public meeting in each affected local unit (ALU). ALUs
include the city, township, village, or county, exercising zoning jurisdiction over the project
location. Reasonable efforts to obtain email addresses for the CEO should be made by
reviewing the website of the affected local unit and if necessary, by contacting the office
of the ALU. Alocal unit of government in a zoned jurisdiction that does not exercise zoning
jurisdiction is not considered an ALU.

A copy of the offers to meet with the chief elected officials should be sent to the entire
board or other legislative body of the ALU.

The applicant may proceed as if there is not a CREO if the chief elected official has failed
to respond to the offer to meet and has not provided notice of a CREO thirty days following
receipt of the certified mail.

C-2 COMPATIBLE RENEWABLE ENERGY ORDINANCE NOTIFICATION

CREO means an ordinance that provides for the development of energy facilities within
the ALU, the requirements of which are no more restrictive than the provisions included
in section 226(8) of PA 233.

A CREO may be an ordinance for a single technology such as wind, solar, or energy
storage facilities or it may be an ordinance that addresses multiple technology types. To
be considered a CREO, the ordinance must be no more restrictive than PA 233 for the
technology type(s) addressed in the ordinance. An ALU is considered not to have a
compatible renewable energy ordinance if it has a moratorium on the development of
energy facilities in effect within its jurisdiction. If notification from chief elected official(s)
from each ALU to the applicant states that the ALU has a CREOQO, then applicants must

9 The titles of chief elected officials may vary between jurisdictions. Chief elected officials include
mayors, village presidents, township supervisors, and board chairs.

Packet Page 81



follow the ALU siting process in each ALU. CREOs are not required in unzoned areas
because there is no ALU exercising zoning jurisdiction in an unzoned area.

When a local ordinance does not meet the definition of CREO, the applicant may still
choose to follow the ALU siting process if the ALU process allows the facilities to be sited.
If an applicant chooses to follow an ALU’s siting process, including a special land use
approval process, a siting certificate from the MPSC is not required.

For example, if an applicant wanted to site a hybrid project containing solar and storage
facilities in an ALU, the local process should be utilized in any of the following
circumstances:

1. The ALU has a single ordinance that is a CREO addressing solar and storage
facilities.

2. The ALU has two separate ordinances that are CREOs addressing solar and
storage facilities.

If a project is being sited in an area that crosses jurisdictional boundaries and one of the
ALUs does not notify the applicant that it has a CREO or after attempts to site the project
in one or more ALUs have failed, the applicant may file for a certificate pursuant to PA
233. When a project crosses multiple jurisdictional boundaries and one or more ALUs
have CREOQOs, and one or more ALUs do not have CREOQOs, or after attempts to site the
project in ALUs have failed, the MPSC will review the entire project if an application is
filed, including the portions of the project that are in areas with CREOs and areas without
CREOs, including unzoned areas, if the facilities do not meet the minimum size thresholds
without the inclusion of the unzoned areas. By stipulation of the parties in a contested
case, particularly the ALU(s) and the applicant, the ALU’s approvals pursuant to an ALU
siting process may be considered by the Commission for those portions of the project
included in the stipulation.

Resolving disputes between applicants and ALUs regarding CREOs is not within the
Commission’s jurisdiction. Should an applicant apply for siting approval at the MPSC
while it is in dispute with the ALU regarding whether its ordinance is a CREO, the ALU,
the Staff, or another intervenor, may file a motion to dismiss or stay, which will be
adjudicated by the administrative law judge pursuant to the Commission's rules of practice
and procedure. The administrative law judge’s ruling could be appealed to the
Commission pursuant to the Commission's rules of practice and procedure.

The applicant should retain records of the notification from the chief elected official
regarding CREO status for later submission in a contested case.

Packet Page 82



If an ALU would like to request the Commission to require the developer to obtain a siting
certificate for the proposed facilities from the Commission pursuant to PA 233 Section
222(2), the ALU should send its request to the Commission by contacting LARA-MPSC-
Edockets@michigan.gov to the attention of the MPSC Executive Secretary and to the
Staff at LARA-MPSC-Siting@michigan.gov with a copy of the request provided to the
developer.

If notification from chief elected local official(s) from each ALU to the applicant states that
the ALU has a CREO, then applicants must follow the ALU siting process in each ALU.

C-3 REQUIREMENTS FOR PUBLIC NOTICE AND PUBLIC MEETINGS

The applicant must hold a public meeting in each city and township where the proposed
facilities are located before filing an application with the Commission except in cities and
townships where at least one of the following is true: ™

« The ALU notified the applicant that it had a CREO, and the application was
subsequently not reviewed promptly by the ALU (by the 120-day deadline or other
deadline as agreed upon).

« The ALU notified the applicant that it had a CREO and subsequently denied the
application despite the proposed project complying with the statute.

« The ALU notified the applicant that it had a CREO and later amends its CREO so
that it imposes requirements more restrictive than Section 226(8).

Public meetings must be held in each ALU; however, a public meeting held in a township
is considered to be held in each village located within the township. Exceptions due to a
lack of appropriate facilities to hold required public meetings within the ALU where the
project is located will be considered on a case-by-case basis upon a showing of a good-
faith effort to hold the meetings as close to the project as feasible.

Unless otherwise requested by the chief elected official, the public meeting should start
between 5:00 pm and 7:30 pm if held on a traditional workday of Monday through Friday.

The public meetings should be recorded or transcribed for later submission as evidence
in siting cases filed pursuant to PA 233.

" Public meetings as outlined in PA 233 are not required when applicants are working to site facilities with
ALUs, the applicant should follow the requirements of the ALU.

Packet Page 83



C-3.1 PUBLIC NOTICE FOR PUBLIC MEETINGS

The applicant shall provide a notice of the public meeting that includes the date, time, and
location of the public meeting; a description and location of the proposed renewable
energy and/or energy storage facilities; an internet site where the site plan is accessible
to the public, and directions for submitting written comments to the applicant for those
unable to attend the public meeting.

The notice of public meeting provided by the applicant shall be published in a newspaper
of general circulation in each ALU unit or a comparable digital alternative at least 14 days
prior to the public meeting(s). The applicant shall publish notice of the meeting in a
newspaper of general circulation in the ALU(s) or in a comparable digital alternative.

The public meeting notice shall be written in plain, nontechnical, and easily understood
terms and shall contain a title that includes the name of the application and the words
‘NOTICE OF INTENT TO CONSTRUCT FACILITY”, with the words
‘WIND ENERGY”, “SOLAR ENERGY”, or “ENERGY STORAGE”, as applicable entered
into the blank space.

Additionally, the notice must be submitted to the clerk in each ALU at least 30 days in
advance of the public meeting. A copy must be provided to the MPSC by emailing LARA-
MPSC-Edockets@michigan.gov to the attention of the MPSC Executive Secretary and
LARA-MPSC-Siting@michigan.gov on the same date in which the local clerk/s was
provided notice.

The Executive Secretary may provide further direction regarding public notice.
C-4 PRE-APPLICATION MEETING WITH STAFF

Thirty days before filing an application for a certificate, the Applicant shall contact the Staff
(Siting-Certificate-Coordinator@michigan.gov) to schedule a pre-application meeting to
be held virtually using Microsoft Teams or other videoconferencing software. During the
meeting, the applicant will discuss the following:

Overview of project.

Map of project.

Status of project.

Labor and employment considerations.
Expected application filing date.

Questions related to the contested case process.

N o o bk 0w Db~

Questions related to filing requirements.

Packet Page 84



8. Other items of interest.

ALUs that have renewable energy projects or energy storage projects proposed within
their boundaries may request meetings with Staff by contacting the Staff (LARA-MPSC-
Siting@michigan.gov) to schedule a meeting to be held virtually using Microsoft Teams
or other videoconferencing software. Staff will answer questions regarding the contested
case process, the filing requirements, and discuss other items of interest to ALU, however,
consultations with Staff are not a substitute for the advice of counsel.

C-5 PUBLIC NOTICE OF THE OPPORTUNITY TO COMMENT ON THE
APPLICATION

The applicant is required to provide public notice of the opportunity to comment on the
application. This notice shall be filed as a public notice in a newspaper of general
circulation in each ALU or in a comparable digital alternative. The notice shall be written
in plain, nontechnical, and easily understood terms and shall contain a title that includes
the name of the applicant and the words “NOTICE OF INTENT TO CONSTRUCT
FACILITY,” with the words “WIND ENERGY,” “SOLAR ENERGY,” or
‘ENERGY STORAGE,” as applicable, entered into the blank space.

The applicant shall also send the notice of the opportunity to comment on the application
by U.S. mail to postal addressees within one mile of proposed solar or proposed energy
storage facilities, and within two miles of proposed wind energy facilities, including to
those addressees within those specified boundaries that are not located within the bounds
of the ALU and local governments not exercising zoning authority where the facilities will
be located.

C-6 TECHNICAL CONFERENCE

The applicant shall work with Staff to hold a technical conference with invitations
provided to all intervening parties and local governments not exercising zoning
authority. The technical conference may be held virtually and should be scheduled
approximately 4 weeks following the pre-hearing.

The purpose of the technical conference is to allow Staff and intervening parties to ask
questions and view the site plan in an electronic format where the applicant can zoom in
on specific areas. The goal of the technical conference is to reduce the burden
associated with multiple rounds of discovery questions and to allow for direct
communication between case participants early in the case.

Packet Page 85



ATTACHMENT D

SOUND REPORT REQUIREMENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Page
D1.0  PRECONSTRUCTION SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS (EX. A-1.7)
D1.1 SOUND MODELING (EXHIBIT A=1.7) ceoeeeeeeeeeeeee et 3
D1.1.1 Modeling Parameters .......couueiieeiiiiiiicieieeeeeeeee et 3
D1.1.2 Source SoUNd POWET.........cccoeiiiiiiiiee e 5
D1.2 SOUND MONITORING (EXHIBIT A-1.7) ceeeeeeiieeee e 5
D I R e ¥ 0T T 5
D1.2.2 EQUIDMIENE ... e aaaaas 6
D1.2.3 SIING .uueeiiiiiieeeeeece e e e eaaas 6
D1.2.4 Data Collection and ANAlYSiS ........uceeeieeereeeiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeiiee e 7
D1.3 MONITORING AND MODELING DOCUMENTATION TO SUBMIT
(EXHIBIT Al 7)) ettt e e e e e e e e e et eeeeaaeeeees 8
D1.4 POSTCONSTRUCTION SOUND MONITORING PROTOCOL
(EXHIBIT A7) ettt e e e e e e e e e et e e e e eaaeeeees 9
D1.5 OTHER DOCUMENTATION ...cotttuiiiieeeeee et e e e e et e e e e e e e e aen s 9
D2.0 POSTCONSTRUCTION SOUND MONITORING
D2.1 PURPOSE ...ttt e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e ar b as 10
D2.2 MONITORING GUIDELINES ... 10
A I = [V o] 1 7= o (RPN 10
D2.2.2 SIING cevvreniieieeeiieeiee e e e aaaanaa 11
D2.2.3 Data Processing and ANalySiS ........coevveiueiieiieiiiieeeeiicee v 12
D2.3 FACILITY SOUND LEVELANALYSIS ..coooeeeieee e 14

Packet Page 86



D2.3.1 General ProCEAUIES ... 14

D2.3.2 Special Procedures for Wind Energy.........ccccevveeeeeiiiiieeeeeiiieeeees 14
D2.4 DOCUMENTATION TO SUBMIT ....coooeiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 16
D2.5 OTHER DOCUMENTATION ....outttiieeeee et e et 18
D3.0 DEFINITIONS, ABBREVIATIONS, AND REFERENCES
D3.1 DEFINITIONS ... et e e e e e e e e s 18
D3.2 LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS ......coooiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 21
D3.3 STANDARDS REFERENCED IN THIS DOCUMENT .......ccceeeiiiiiiiiiiinnnee. 22
D3.4 MCL AB0.1226 ....coeeeeiiieee et e e et e e e e e e e e e et b e e e e e e e e e e eaaaaaaanes 23
LIST OF TABLES
Table Page

Table 1 Sound Modeling

Parameters. ... ... ..o 3

Packet Page 87



D1.0 PRECONSTRUCTION SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS (Exhibit A-1.7)

All sound studies shall be completed by or under the direction of a qualified noise control
engineer. The preferred qualification is Board Certification through the Institute of Noise
Control Engineering (INCE). If the preparer is not Board Certified, then qualifications shall
be justified and submitted with the application. A professional engineering license alone
is not sufficient qualification to prepare the preconstruction or postconstruction noise
studies.

The purpose of the preconstruction sound report is to provide the Commission with
information necessary to assess whether the facility meets the noise limits defined in Ml
MCL 460.1226.

D1.1 Sound modeling (Exhibit A-1.7)
D1.1.1 Modeling Parameters

Sound modeling shall be conducted following the requirements of ISO 9613-2 (2024),
“‘Engineering method for the prediction of sound pressure levels outdoors.”

For modeling wind turbine sound, ANSI/ACP 111-1 (2022), “Wind Turbine Sound
Modeling,” and Annex D of ISO 9613-2 (2024) provide additional guidance for the
calculation of sound pressure levels from wind turbines. Where any ambiguity exists, the
parameters in Table 1 must be used.

Table 1
Sound Modeling Parameters

PARAMETER VALUE
0.0 over water and large areas of hard ground,

G (Ground factor
( ) 0.5 everywhere else

. . . Minimum of +2 dB for wind projects,
Modeling uncertainty adjustment o
Minimum of +0 dB for all other sources

4.0 m for wind projects, otherwise,

e 4.0 m for two- or more-story dwellings (default)

Receptor/grid height e If sound barriers are proposed, the height of the highest
window for each dwelling

e 1.5 m for property boundaries and one-story dwellings

Source height For wind turbines, hub height.

Packet Page 88



For all other sources, top of the sound source

Receptors

All dwellings within 1 mile of any facility sound source

Temperature/Humidity

10°C, 70%

Sound power level

See below

Source directivity

For wind turbines, omnidirectional. For all other sources,
directionality of sound power may be considered, if known.

Cmet (meteorological adjustment)

0 (none)

Include all sources within

8,000 m

Dense vegetation

No foliage attenuation allowed to be considered outside of
Project-controlled parcels

Tonal prominence

+ 5 dB tonal penalty to source sound power. The tonal penalty can
be removed if it can be shown that the facility would not have a
tonal prominence at a dwelling when the measured background
sound of the lowest hourly Lo is added.

Facade pressure doubling™

+6 dB to modeled free field outer wall sound pressure level

Other energy facilities

Other energy facilities that have an application submitted prior to
this facility, approved, or built, within two miles of the facility must
be included in a separate cumulative impact model run.

Packet Page 89




D1.1.2 Source Sound Power

The sound power level of equipment shall be based on the following in this order of
preference:

1) Data from the manufacturer, such as those based on IEC 61400-11 or IEC TS
61400-14 for wind turbines, or similar standards used for other equipment. For
wind turbines, the maximum “apparent” sound power at any wind speed must be
used. For other equipment, the maximum sound power of any applicable
operational mode must be used. For example, for a solar project, the inverters
would be assumed to be operating at full power and the substation transformer
fans would be operating. For an energy storage facility, the higher of the charging
or discharging sound emissions would be used. If an energy storage project is
coupled with a solar project, then both daytime and nighttime scenarios should be
modeled to assess the worst case.

2) If manufacturer data is not available, then tests of the same or similar equipment
can be used, or standards for the piece of equipment can be used, such as NEMA
TR-1 which specifies the maximum sound emissions for liquid-immersed
transformers.

3) If sound power data are otherwise not available, the published sound power levels
for similar equipment can be used. The applicant must demonstrate that the
equipment proposed to be used is substantially similar.

4) If none of these are available, the application must justify and explain the
alternative method to determine sound power.

Some manufacturers only provide a sound pressure level at a certain distance, rather
than a sound power level. Care should be taken in converting this to a sound power level,
especially with larger devices such as transformers and central inverters. Standards such
as IEEE C57.12.90 or an applicable selection from the ISO 3740 series (such as ISO
3744 or ISO 3746) should be used to take into account the measurement area around
the source.

D1.2 Sound Monitoring (Exhibit A-1.7)
D1.2.1 Purpose

Preconstruction sound monitoring provides an understanding of potential noise impacts
on the existing soundscape prior to development of an energy facility. The purpose of
preconstruction sound monitoring is to determine the existing character of the area that

Packet Page 90



is being considered for construction of an energy facility. The sound monitoring should
generally follow the requirements of ANSI S12.18 and ANSI S12.9 Part 3, where
applicable.

D1.2.2 Equipment

Sound level meters shall meet the ANSI/IEC Class 1 performance requirements (i.e., IEC
61672-1 and ANSI S1.4 Part 1) and log 1/3 octave band equivalent sound pressure levels.
The microphone shall be protected by a 7-inch diameter hydrophobic windscreen or
equivalent. If possible, sound level meters should be coupled with audio recorders to aid
in sound source identification and soundscape characterization.

Each sound level meter shall be field calibrated with an acoustical calibrator meeting the
requirements of IEC 60942 Class 1 immediately before and after each monitoring period.
Any calibration drift above 0.5 dB will be noted and addressed with respect to ANSI
S12.18. Each sound level meter and field calibrator shall have been calibrated within two
years and one year, respectively, of the completion of monitoring by a National Institute
of Standards and Technology traceable facility.

Anemometers must be located adjacent to each monitoring station at microphone height
to measure wind speed.

D1.2.3 Siting

At least two sound monitors shall be sited representative of the nonparticipating
residential receptors with the highest modeled sound levels from the future facility.
Preconstruction monitoring locations should be analogous to and applicable for the
postconstruction study. Projects covering larger areas with more than two soundscape
types should monitor at additional locations.

The monitor locations shall be outdoors and acoustically representative of a nearby
residence. Specifically, monitoring equipment shall, to the extent practically possible, be
placed at a similar distance from prominent soundscape sources such as roadways,
heavy vegetation, and stationary equipment. The microphone shall either be fagade
mounted or in the free-field at least 25 feet from any building, and approximately 1.2 m to
1.5 m above ground level.

Packet Page 91



D1.2.4 Data Collection and Analysis

The target sound level metric and averaging time for assessment of noise compliance are
the one-hour equivalent continuous level (L1n). Sound levels shall be logged at a finer
interval than one-hour to provide the fidelity to enable source characterization through 1/3
octave band spectrograms and the calculation of statistical sound levels over the course
of an hour, i.e. 10th percentile (L10), median (Lso), and 90th percentile (Loo) sound levels.
To this end, 1/3 octave band data should be logged at least once per minute; a one-
second measurement interval is preferred.

D1.2.4.1 Data Exclusions

To ensure an acoustically valid dataset, periods during which any of the following
conditions occur shall be excluded from analysis:

= High wind gusts — Ground-level wind gust speeds above 5 m/s (11.2 mph).

= Precipitation — Snow, rain, and thunderstorm events identified through regional
data and inspection of acoustic data.

= Anomalies — The presence of short-term contaminating sound caused by human
or other activity that is atypical of the site or directly attributable to the presence of
the equipment.

= Temperature or humidity outside the specification of the sound level meter or
microphone.

If more than half of a one-hour aggregation period was not acoustically valid, (due to high
winds or precipitation, for example), the entire one-hour period should be excluded from
the analysis.

D1.2.4.2 Biogenic Sound

Biogenic sounds (particularly insects, birds, and amphibians) are typically tonal and can
have a pronounced effect on overall A-weighted sound levels. If biogenic sounds are a
dominant aspect of the soundscape during monitoring, their influence on overall sound
level should be quantified.

The “ANS” frequency-weighting (ANSI/ASA S12.100) should be applied to spectral sound
levels to filter out high-frequency biogenic sound. ANS filters out sound above the 1 kHz

Packet Page 92



octave band. Ideally, ANS weighting should only be used when tonal sounds, indicative
of seasonal biogenic sound, are detected.

When the effect of biogenic sound is significant, that is, the overall A-weighted sound level
is at least 3 dB greater than the ANS-weighted sound level, then both A-weighted and
ANS-weighted sound level results shall be reported.

D1.3 Monitoring and Modeling Documentation to submit (Exhibit A-1.7)

A preconstruction noise assessment study shall include, but is not limited to, the following:

1) Facility Description

2) Maps and descriptions of sources and monitoring locations, including the distance
from each to the nearest facility equipment.

3) Sound Modeling Results

a.

b.

Model configuration and inputs
Sound power level source data (by 1/1 or 1/3 octave band, if available)
Tonality assessment for each source

Maps of sound level isolines depicting the maximum one-hour equivalent
sound level contributions to the surrounding area

Table of sound level representing the maximum facility one-hour equivalent
sound level at the walls of each dwelling within 1 mile of the facility.

4) Sound Monitoring Results

a.

Narrative description of the soundscape, i.e., diurnal fluctuations, common
sources of sounds, anthropogenic vs. biogenic sounds, etc.

Summary of overall day and night A-weighted sound level metrics (Leg, L1o,
Lso, and Loo).

Overall A-weighted time history sound levels (one-hour Leq, L10, Lso, Loo) and
meteorological data at the monitoring stations

ANS weighted results for the above, if substantive biogenic sound is found.

Packet Page 93



e. A comparison of modeled sound levels to the existing background sound.

5) Discussion — An assessment of the facility’s noise impacts and ability to meet the
MCL 460.1226 noise limits, including a detailed description of all noise mitigation
used or required to meet the noise limits.

D1.4 Postconstruction Sound Monitoring Protocol (Exhibit A-1.7)

Postconstruction Sound Monitoring Protocol - A Protocol shall be developed by the
applicant for conducting postconstruction sound monitoring. The sound monitoring should
generally follow the requirements of Section 1.2 of this document. The Protocol shall
include details on:

1.
2.

Timing
Monitoring locations (maps of locations, wall-mounting or free field, etc.)

Equipment setup (sound level meter types, calibration methods, windscreens,
etc.)

Data collection (including logging intervals, meteorological and operational
criteria for valid periods, minimum number of valid periods, background
measurements, etc.)

Data analysis (including background correction methods, data scrubbing
methods, tonality assessments, etc.)

Reporting

Noise complaint response and resolution, detailing under what circumstances
postconstruction sound monitoring would be conducted and how
postconstruction monitoring would be done.

D1.5 Other documentation

Upon the request of Staff, sound modeling files and sound monitoring results shall be
submitted in electronic format. Files with trade secrets or otherwise confidential
information may be submitted under a confidential protective order.

Packet Page 94



D2.0 POSTCONSTRUCTION SOUND MONITORING
D2.1 Purpose

Postconstruction sound monitoring of the facility will be conducted to assess whether
sound levels from the as-built facility meet the noise limits defined in MCL 460.1226.
Sound monitoring should generally follow the requirements of IEC TC 61400-11-2 (for
wind projects) and ANSI S12.9 Part 3, as applicable. Postconstruction sound monitoring
shall be conducted in the first year after the facility is constructed, unless otherwise
directed by the commission.

D2.2 Monitoring Guidelines

The noise limit for energy facilities, as defined in MCL 460.1226, is 55 dBA Lin refers
specifically to facility-produced sound. To ensure that facility operation is assessed in a
variety of conditions, including those associated with maximum sound emissions from the
facility, unattended long-term monitoring (at least seven to 10 days) should be completed,
or until sufficient valid periods are obtained, as defined in the Protocol, whichever is later.
Other potential avenues for demonstrating noise compliance with MCL 460.1226 are
provided in Section 2.3.

D2.2.1 Equipment

Sound level meters shall meet the ANSI/IEC Class 1 performance requirements (i.e., IEC
61672-1 and ANSI S1.4) and log 1/3 octave band equivalent sound pressure levels. The
microphone shall be protected by a 7-inch diameter or equivalent hydrophobic
windscreen. Sound level meters should be coupled with audio recorders to aid in sound
source identification and soundscape characterization. Audio recordings may be triggered
by higher measured sound levels. If triggering is used, sound levels above 44 dBA should
trigger recordings. Lower trigger levels may also be used.

Each sound level meter shall be field calibrated with an acoustical calibrator meeting the
requirements of IEC 60942 Class 1 immediately before and after each monitoring period.
Any calibration drift above 0.5 dB will be noted and addressed with respect to ANSI
S12.18. Each sound level meter and calibrator shall have been calibrated within two
years/one year, respectively, of the completion of monitoring, by a National Institute of
Standards and Technology traceable facility.

Packet Page 95



Anemometers must be located adjacent to the monitoring station at microphone height to
measure wind speed.

Additional meteorological data can be obtained from nearby National Weather Service
station and/or facility logging systems.

D2.2.2 Siting

Monitors should be sited at representative locations for the two nonparticipating dwellings
with the highest modeled sound level.

Additional monitors for residences with formal noise complaints regarding facility
operation should also have monitoring equipment deployed. Up to three additional sound
monitoring locations will be identified for monitoring, representing areas where any noise
complaints were received. If more than three locations received complaints, then three
will be selected based on the modeled sound levels of each location and how well a site
can represent other complaint locations.2l Consideration of whether monitoring will be
done at a location will also be based on:

= The type of complaint (outdoor or indoor noise, tones, low frequency noise,
amplitude modulation, vibrations, rumbles, rattles, etc., if available).

= Whether the complaint was due to a continuing operational issue or a non-
recurring event.

=  Whether the modeled free-field sound level is above 44 dBA (or dwelling wall is
above 50 dBA).

=  Whether the landowner cooperates with the study.

For facilities with centrally located equipment, like an energy storage facility or an isolated
wind turbine, a “source” monitor, placed near the sound emitting equipment, can be
utilized to correlate sound levels from the source.

Sound level meter microphones shall be placed outside, approximately 1.2 mto 1.5 m
above the ground. The microphone shall not be placed such that any structure blocks the
line of sight between the microphone and otherwise visible facility components nor in such
a way that it is representative of the noise exposure at the monitoring location. A location
on the nearest vertical surface of the residence can be utilized or, more commonly, a
location in the free-field at least 25 feet from any building fagade or other large reflective

Packet Page 96



objects. If a free-field location is chosen, then 6 dB must be added to the results to account
for the pressure doubling at the wall of the dwelling.

Monitoring equipment should not be placed within dense vegetation and should be away
from other contributing sources of transient and consistent sound (e.g., heating systems,
roadways, stationary farm equipment).

If site access is denied by a landowner to measure near or on the dwelling, the sound
monitor may be sited at the closest property line at the same or similar modeled sound
isoline as the dwelling. If a location with a similar sound level cannot be obtained, then an
additional sound level correction shall be extrapolated to the dwelling through use of
sound propagation modeling.

The one-hour equivalent average (L1n) is the target sound level metric and averaging time
for assessment of noise compliance. Sound levels shall be logged at a finer interval than
one-hour to provide the fidelity to enable source characterization through 1/3 octave band
spectrograms and the calculation of statistical sound levels over the course of an hour,
i.e. 10th percentile (L10), median (Lso), and lower 10th percentile (Loo) sound levels. To
this end, 1/3 octave band data should be logged at least once per minute; a one-second
measurement interval is preferred.

Project operation logs (SCADA) and sound levels shall be collected to categorize
operational states of the facility. If necessary, confidential facility operational data can be
submitted to Staff under a confidential protective order.

D2.2.3 Data Processing and Analysis
D2.2.3.1 Data Exclusions

To ensure an acoustically valid dataset, periods during which any of the following
conditions occur shall be excluded from analysis:

= High wind gusts — ground-level wind gust speeds above 5 m/s (11.2 mph).

= Precipitation — snow, rain, and thunderstorm events identified through regional
data and inspection of acoustic data.

= Anomalies — The presence of short-term contaminating sound caused by human
or other activity that is atypical of the site or directly attributable to the presence of
the equipment.

Packet Page 97



= Temperature or humidity outside the specification of the sound level meter or
microphone.

If more than half of a one-hour aggregation period was not acoustically valid, (due to high
winds or precipitation, for example), the entire one-hour period should be excluded from
the analysis (ANSI S12.9 Part 3).

D2.2.3.2 Biogenic Sound

Sound level data containing notable biogenic sound should be treated carefully and noted
in the narrative description of the monitoring site and results.

Solar Energy and Energy Storage may contribute sound at frequencies above the 1 kHz
octave band. Therefore, additional care should be taken when monitoring the sound of
these facilities, including scheduling postconstruction monitoring during periods where
insects and other biogenic sounds are less prominent, such as late fall through early

spring.

Wind Energy facility contribution of sound above the 1 kHz octave band (the sound
spectrum of most biogenic sound) is typically negligible. Thus, sound monitoring for wind
facilities may be conducted at any time. However, wind turbine power output, and thus
sound output, tends to be highest in the late fall through early spring.

D2.2.3.3 Tonality

A prominent discrete tone is assessed by comparing the total sound level in a given 1/3
octave band to the adjacent 1/3 octave bands for each minute. The difference between
the 1/3 octave band sound level is compared to the arithmetic average of the sound levels
in the adjacent 1/3 octave bands. If the difference is greater than the values listed below,
a prominent discrete tone is present.

= 15 dB at low frequencies (1/3 octave band center frequencies 25 Hz to 125 Hz).

= 8 dB at middle-frequency bands (1/3 octave band center frequencies 160 to 400
Hz).

= 5 dB at high-frequency bands (1/3 octave band center frequencies 500 to 10,000
Hz).

Any one-minute period with prominent discrete tones shall have a tonal penalty of 5 dB
applied to the data if the tone is audible.

Packet Page 98



D2.3 Facility Sound Level Analysis
D2.3.1 General Procedures

In general, sound levels attributable to the facility (“facility sound”) can be determined by
an operational shutdown-based methodology. Facility sound shall be calculated from the
total (facility+ background) sound by quantifying the background sound immediately
before or after a period of facility operation at the same location. The sound level
attributed to facility operations shall be determined by subtracting, on an energy basis,
the background sound level from the total sound level, by 1/3 octave band, consistent
with ANSI S12.9 Part 3 Section 7.

The results for any free field monitoring locations shall have 6 dB added to account for
the pressure doubling that would have been measured had the measurement been taken
at the outer wall of the dwelling.

In some cases, long-term monitoring or facility shutdowns may not be practical due to
operational characteristics or restrictions and alternatives to determine compliance with
MI MCL 460.1226 are necessary.

= Short-term monitoring under worst-case meteorological and operational conditions
where total free field sound levels are below 44 dBA (55 dBA noise limit with 5 dB
tonality and the 6 dB fagcade correction) for at least three one-hour periods. No
tonal or background corrections are necessary, or

= Measurements of individual sources to confirm manufacturer specifications and
modeling inputs (e.g. 70 dBA at 1 meter or sound power using IEEE C57.12.90 or
the applicable method in the ISO 3740 series), or

= Other methods consistent with ASA/ANSI S12.9 Part 3.

D2.3.2 Special Procedures for Wind Energy

To the extent possible, the assessment of wind turbine noise should conform to IEC TS
61400-11-2. The recommended application of the technical standard in Michigan includes
practical simplifications to alleviate specialized equipment and high-fidelity SCADA data.

D2.3.2.1 Equipment, Siting, and Deployment

Monitors for assessment of wind turbines should either be mounted directly on wall or be
at least 25 feet from any vertical reflecting surfaces, if possible, to minimize reflections

Packet Page 99



from a facade. If the wall mount is not used, a +6 dB correction shall be applied to the
resulting facility only sound levels.

D2.3.2.2 Determination of Facility Sound

The method described herein applies the filtering method similar to that presented in IEC
TS 61400-11-2. It includes scheduled nighttime wind turbine shutdowns to allow for the
subtraction of background sound levels.

Maximum wind turbine sound shall be assessed at night. During nighttime hours,
background sound (particularly anthropogenic and avian activity) is typically lowest and
meteorological conditions for robust propagation of sound are most common.

All wind turbines within 1.5 miles of a monitor location shall be shut down four to eight
times per night for 20 minutes at a time. One-hour periods of wind turbine operation before
and after each shutdown shall be evaluated in 10-minutef! intervals.

From logged data for each monitor, each 10-minute period is aggregated to determine
the following:

= Overall A-weighted Legq.

= 1/3 octave band Leq.

=  Maximum wind gust near the ground.

= Average wind speed near the ground.

= Wind direction[4].

= Hub-height wind speed[5].

=  Wind turbine power production[6].

= Facility operational state (e.g., ON or OFF).

To qualify as a potential measurement of the maximum facility sound, the hour adjacent
to a shutdown shall have at least half of the 10-minute periods meeting the target
evaluation criteria to be “valid™:

= Datais acoustically valid (i.e. at least half not excluded for wind gusts, precipitation,
anomalies).

= Wind turbines within 1.5 miles are operating at or within 1 dB of their maximum
sound power output, expressed as an arithmetic average of those wind turbines.

Packet Page 100



= Average wind speed at microphone level is below 4 m/s and one minute wind gusts
are below 5 m/s.

= The wind direction is either +45 degrees downwind relative to the closest wind
turbines or within +45 degrees of the prevailing wind direction.

The total L1n is calculated from no less than three valid 10-minute periods in the hour. The
background sound level temporally adjacent shall then be logarithmically subtracted, on
a 1/3 octave band basis, from the L1 during operation, as described at the beginning of
this section (ANSI S12.9 Part 3 Section 7) to determine the facility L1n.

At least three valid facility L1h periods must be collected. The highest facility L1h shall be
used for comparison to the Ml MCL 450.1226 noise limit.

D2.3.2.3 Other Details

Since the Leq is the metric of interest, ensuring that sound level data is free from
anomalous and transient data during the target evaluation periods is critical to ensuring
the accuracy of the study. Anomalous data shall be excluded from background and turbine
operation periods.

The temporal filtering method assumes that wind speeds do not substantively change in
the 20 minutes the facility is shut down. This can be confirmed qualitatively by comparing
the turbine power production prior to the shutdown to the power production afterward.
Alternatively, ground wind speeds measured at each monitor can be evaluated. If they
are sufficiently similar, the background period can be assumed to be representative of the
background conditions during the adjacent one-hour turbine operational periods.
Otherwise, the one-hour periods around the background measurement cannot be used
to calculate the facility L1n.

If substation noise from a wind project is the subject of a noise complaint, then the
substation sound would be measured in accordance with the General Procedures of
Section 2.3.

D2.4 Documentation to Submit

A sound monitoring report shall be submitted within 60 calendar days of end of the field
data collection.

Packet Page 101



Sound monitoring reports must include a facility site map identifying relevant project
components and nearby features of interest, including the nearest dwellings and monitor
locations.

For each monitoring location, the following information will be reported:

1)
2)

3)

4)

Identification of monitoring locations with pictures and on a map.

Narrative of monitoring results - soundscape characteristics and effects of site
conditions on measurements as derived from site visits and monitored data, as
well as any significant features of the data or the monitoring period, such as the
presence of biogenic sound.

Time history results

a. Overall A-weighted hourly sound level time histories for Liomin and L1n. The
one-hour Loo, Lso, and L1o sound level metrics can also be included.

b. Ground-level wind speed and rainfall.
c. Facility operational data (power output and shutdown dates/times if used).

Details for each compliance measurement period. For measurement
methodologies that involve sound source shutdowns to establish the background
sound levels, the compliance measurement period would be from one hour before
the shutdown to one hour after the shutdown. Otherwise, the compliance
measurement periods would consist of all valid periods under the protocol For each
compliance measurement period, provide (in the report or in electronic format):

a. 10-minute power output for individual sound sources.

b. For wind facilities, hub height wind speed and wind direction for each wind
turbine within 1.5 miles of the measurement location.

c. Average wind speed and maximum wind gust from the monitor anemometer
for each 10-minute period.

d. Temperature and relative humidity (on site or from the nearest National
Weather Service station).

e. Unweighted 1/3 octave band and overall A-weighted sound levels for each
10-minute period.

Packet Page 102



f. Determination of whether the period is valid and, if not, the reasoning.

g. If the period is valid, the background-corrected facility 1/3 octave band and
overall A-weighted sound level for each 10-minute period and for the entire
one-hour period.

5) For wind facilities, the presence of icing as indicated through icing alarms or visual
observation.

If results of the postconstruction study indicate that the facility sound levels exceed the
noise limit, mitigation measures shall be detailed in the report along with a schedule of
implementation.

Upon implementation of mitigation measures, the sound measurements shall be repeated
under similar conditions as the exceedance(s), with the updated results filed to the docket.

D2.5 Other Documentation

Upon the request of Staff, all sound monitoring data and results shall be submitted in
electronic format. If necessary, confidential data may be submitted with a confidential
protective order.

D3.0 Definitions, abbreviations, and references
D3.1 Definitions

“1/3 octave band” means is a commonly used subdivision of the octave scale, which
divides each octave into three bands. See “octave band.”

“‘A-weighting” means adjusting the sound level spectrum to represent the sensitivity of
the human ear to sounds of low to moderate level to produce a single value (in dBA) in
accordance with ASA/ANSI S1.4 Part 1.

“Ambient sound” is the total sound level, including the sound source of interest, of a
wide range of sounds located near and far.

“Background sound" means sound from typical and existing elements of a soundscape,
near and far, that does not include the source of interest (i.e., non-energy facility sound).

Packet Page 103



“Decibel” means 10 times the logarithm (base 10) of the ratio of a value to a reference
value. In the case of sound pressure levels, the value is air pressure in Pascals (Pa)
squared and the reference value is 20 micro-Pascals (uPa) squared.

“‘Dwelling” means an occupied or occupiable building where residents regularly sleep

"Energy facility” means an energy storage facility, solar energy facility, or wind energy
facility. An energy facility may be located on more than 1 parcel of property, including
noncontiguous parcels, but shares a single point of interconnection to the grid.

"Energy storage facility" means a system that absorbs, stores, and discharges
electricity. Energy storage facility does not include either of the following:

(i) Fossil fuel storage.
(i) Power-to-gas storage that directly uses fossil fuel inputs.

“Equivalent continuous sound level” also “time-averaged sound level” means 10 times
the logarithm (base 10) of the ratio of the time-mean-square frequency-weighted sound
pressure signal during a stated time interval and expressed as a decibel. The shortened
form is Leq. TO indicate the time interval, the shortened form can be “L” with the time
subscripted as in L1n for a time period of one hour. See ASA/ANSI S1.1-2013.

“Frequency” means the number of times in a second one cycle of a waveform passes a
fixed space. The perceived pitch of a sound is proportional to its frequency. The
relationship between wavelength (I) and frequency (f) is dependent on the speed of sound
(c) as f=c/I. The typical hearing range for young healthy individuals is roughly between
frequencies of 20 Hz (1 Hertz is one cycle per second) and 20,000 Hz (also designated
as 20 kHz, where 1 kHz is one thousand cycles per second). The distribution of
frequencies in a sound are often referred to as spectral characteristics or a spectrum.

“Free-field” means an environment with negligible sound reflections.

“Low frequency sound” means, nominally, the 1/3 octave band frequencies between
20 Hz and 200 Hz, inclusive.

"Nonparticipating property" means a property that is nearby an energy facility and not
a participating property.

Packet Page 104



"Occupied community building” means a school, place of worship, day-care facility,
public library, community center, or other similar building that the applicant knows or
reasonably should know is used on a regular basis as a gathering place for community
members.

“Octave band” means a sound spectrum range whose upper frequency limit is twice its
lower frequency limit (the same concept as an octave in music). The band is identified by
its center frequency, as defined in ASA/ANSI S1.6-2016.

"Participating property" means real property that either is owned by an applicant or that
is the subject of an agreement that provides for the payment by an applicant to a
landowner of monetary compensation related to an energy facility regardless of whether
any part of that energy facility is constructed on the property.

“Inverter” means a device to convert direct current (DC) power to alternating current
(AC) power. It is a component of Solar Energy and Energy Storage facilities. Types
include, but are not limited to, “central” and “string” inverters. In Energy Storage facilities,
they are often referred to as or a component of a PCS (power conversion system).

“Project” means the facility that is the subject of the application to the commission that
is proposed to be constructed or repowered.

“SCADA” means the Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition System that collects time-
stamped information from field devices such as wind turbines, solar panels, inverters,
transformers, and battery storage units.

"Solar energy facility” means a system that captures and converts solar energy into
electricity, for the purpose of sale or for use in locations other than solely the solar energy
facility property. Solar energy facility includes, but is not limited to, the following equipment
and facilities to be constructed by an electric provider or independent power producer:
photovoltaic solar panels; solar inverters; access roads; distribution, collection, and
feeder lines; wires and cables; conduit; footings; foundations; towers; poles; crossarms;
guy lines and anchors; substations; interconnection or switching facilities; circuit breakers
and transformers; energy storage facilities; overhead and underground control;
communications and radio relay systems and telecommunications equipment; utility lines
and installations; generation tie lines; solar monitoring stations; and accessory equipment
and structures.

Packet Page 105



“Sound power level” means the level of the acoustic energy radiated from a source. It
is often expressed as SWL or Lwand expressed in decibels (dB) referenced to 1 picoWatt.

“Sound pressure level” means the fluctuating air pressure that constitutes sound as
expressed in the logarithmic scale of decibels (dB) referenced to 20 micropascals.

“Tonal” means that a sound that has energy concentrated in a narrow frequency range.
Tonal sounds of the same overall sound level are more noticeable than broadband sound.
Sounds emissions from transformers, energy storage units, and inverters are typically
tonal. Although multiple procedures exist for determining tonal prominences, the methods
described in ANSI S12.9 Part 3, which utilizes 1/3 octave band data to assess tonal
prominence, is specified herein.

"Wind energy facility” means a system that captures and converts wind into electricity,
for the purpose of sale or for use in locations other than solely the wind energy facility
property. Wind energy facility includes, but is not limited to, the following equipment and
facilities to be constructed by an electric provider or independent power producer: wind
towers; wind turbines; access roads; distribution, collection, and feeder lines; wires and
cables; conduit; footings; foundations; towers; poles; crossarms; guy lines and anchors;
substations; interconnection or switching facilities; circuit breakers and transformers;
energy storage facilities; overhead and underground control; communications and radio
relay systems and telecommunications equipment; monitoring and recording equipment
and facilities; erosion control facilities; utility lines and installations; generation tie lines;
ancillary buildings; wind monitoring stations; and accessory equipment and structures

D3.2 List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

ACP — American Clean Power Association

ANS — A, Natural Sounds — an A-weighted decibel that eliminates sounds at and above
the 1,600 Hz 1/3 octave band.

ANSI — American National Standards Institute
ASA - Acoustical Society of America
BESS - Battery energy storage system

dBA — A-weighted decibels

Packet Page 106



dBZ - Z-weighted (unweighted) decibels

G — The portion of ground that is porous, with O representing hard ground and 1
representing porous ground (as defined in ISO 9613-2)

Hz — Hertz, expressed as cycles per second

IEC — the International Electrotechnical Commission

ISO — the International Organization for Standardization.
INCE - the Institute of Noise Control Engineering

Leq - equivalent continuous sound pressure level

L1n — one-hour equivalent continuous sound pressure level
m — meters

m/s — meters per second

NEMA — National Electrical Manufacturers Association

D3.3 Standards Referenced in this Document

The following are standards referenced in this document as of the publication date. The
applicant may use this version of the standard or, if the standard is updated after
publication, the most recent version.

ASA/ANSI $1.1-2013. Acoustical Terminology

ASA/ANSI S1.4 Part 1-2014 / IEC 61672-1-2013. Electroacoustics — Sound Level
Meters — Part 1: Specifications

ASA/ANSI $1.6-2016. Preferred Frequencies and Filter Band Center Frequencies for
Acoustical Measurements

ASA/ANSI S12.9-2013 Part 3 (2023). Quantities and Procedures for Description and
Measurement of Environmental Sound — Part 3: Short-term Measurements with
an Observer Present

Packet Page 107



ASA/ANSI S$12.9-2021 Part 4 (2021). Quantities and procedures for description and
measurement of environmental sound — Part 4: Noise assessment and prediction
of long-term community response.

ANSI/ASA $12.54-2011 / 1ISO 3744:2010 (2016). Acoustics — Determination of sound
power levels and sound energy levels of noise sources using sound pressure —
Engineering methods for an essentially free field over a reflecting plane

ANSI S12.56-2011 / ISO 3746:2010 (2016). Acoustics — Determination of sound power
levels of noise sources using sound pressure — Survey method using an
enveloping measurement surface over a reflecting plane

ANSI/ASA $12.100-2014 (2014). Methods to Define and Measure the Residual Sound in
Protected Natural and Quiet Residential Areas

IEC 60942 (2017). Electroacoustics — Sound calibrators.
IEC 61400-11 (2012). Wind turbines — Part 11: Acoustic noise measurement techniques.

IEC TS 61400-14 (2005). Wind turbines — Part 14: Declaration of apparent sound power
level and tonality values.

IEC TS 61400-11-2 (2024). Wind energy generation systems — Part 11-2: Acoustic noise
measurement techniques — Measurement of wind turbine sound characteristics in
receptor position.

IEEE C57.12.90 (2021). IEEE Standard test code for liquid-immersed distribution, power,
and regulating transformers.

ISO 9613-2 (2024). Acoustics — Attenuation of sound during propagation outdoors —
Part 2: Engineering method for the prediction of sound pressure levels outdoors.

NEMA TR 1-2013 (2019). Transformers, Step Voltage Regulators, and Reactors.

D3.4 MCL 460.1226
MCL 460.1226 (the “MI Noise Limit Statute”) states:

Packet Page 108



The commission shall grant the application and issue a cetrtificate if it determines...[t]he
[energy] facility does not generate a maximum sound in excess of 55 average hourly
decibels as modeled at the nearest outer wall of the nearest dwelling located on an
adjacent nonparticipating property. Decibel modeling shall use the A-weighted scale as
designed by the American National Standards Institute.

II'MCL 460.1226 states that the noise limit is considered “at the nearest outer wall of the nearest
dwelling.” In practice, this would be measured with a microphone mounted directly on the fagade, that is,
flush mounted on the vertical reflecting surface of a building. The pressure doubling at the surface with
respect to the free-field condition leads to a 6 dB increase in sound level and is referred to as the “6-dB
position” in ANSI S12.9 Part 3. Sound modeling conducted using ISO 9613-2 does not include the +6 dB
adjustment. Therefore, 6 dB must be added to the sound modeling results to reflect what would be
measured at the fagade.

[2 This limit of three complaint locations only applies to the first postconstruction sound test. Complaint
monitoring after this is defined in the complaint resolution process proposed in the application, and as
approved by the commission.

Bl SCADA data from wind turbines is commonly available in 10-minute intervals, which sets the maximum
time interval for data aggregation. Care should be taken to understand the timestamp of SCADA and
meteorological data: they are often referred to as the ending time of the aggregation period (e.g., 03:10 =
03:00 to 03:10). Rather, time intervals shall be referred to as the starting time of the interval (e.g., 03:00 =
03:00 to 03:10).

4 Wind direction data from the nacelle shall not be used for classifying the direction of the wind during
that time when the facility is not operating.

Bl |f the facility has a nearby weather station tower that collects hub height wind speed that is not in the
direct wake of a turbine, the wind speed measured by the met tower at hub height is sufficient for
determining when the facility is at or near maximum sound emissions.

I8 Normalized electric power output, i.e. the percent maximum power output of each turbine, can be used
to compare turbines of different ratings together on a common axis.

Packet Page 109



ATTACHMENT E

SAMPLE DECOMMISSIONING AGREEMENT

SAMPLE DECOMMISSIONING AGREEMENT

This Decommissioning Agreement is entered into between [INSERT APPLICANT NAME]
a [INSERT BUSINESS STRUCTURE AND STATE OF ORGANIZATION] at [INSERT
BUSINESS ADDRESS] (“Applicant”) and the Michigan Public Service Commission (the
“‘Commission” or “MPSC”) at 7109 W Saginaw Hwy, Lansing, M| 48917.

WHEREAS, PA 233 of 2023 (the “Act”) provides siting authority to the Commission for
utility-scale solar, wind, and energy storage projects under specific conditions and
requires applications under the Act to include a “decommissioning plan that is consistent
with agreements reached between the applicant and other landowners of participating
properties and that ensures the return of all participating properties to a useful condition
similar to that which existed before construction, including removal of above-surface
facilities and infrastructure that have no ongoing purpose”;

WHEREAS, the ACT provides that the “decommissioning plan shall include, but is not
limited to, financial assurance in the form of a bond, a parent company guarantee, or an
irrevocable letter of credit, but excluding cash”;

WHEREAS, on [INSERT APPLICATION DATE] the Applicant applied to the Commission
for a certificate pursuant to MCL 460.1221 et seq. (the “Application”) for a
megawatt [INSERT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING: solar energy facility, wind energy
facility, or energy storage facility] referred to as [INSERT NAME OF PROJECT]
located at [INSERT PROJECT LOCATION] (the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, the Commission opened a contested case pursuant to MCL 460.1226(3)
entited MPSC Case No. [INSERT CASE NUMBER] to conduct a proceeding on the
Application and found, pursuant to MCL 460.1226(7), that the Application should be
approved, subject to the conditions set forth in the Commission’s [INSERT ORDER
DATE] Order (Attachment A to this Agreement) and the Commission-approved
decommissioning plan (Attachment B to this Agreement).

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties to this Agreement set forth the following terms and
conditions of the Project decommissioning to which the parties, as well as any subsequent
successors in interest, are bound:

Packet Page 110



1.

Term. This Agreement is effective [INSERT EFFECTIVE DATE] and will continue until
terminated as provided below.

Decommissioning Obligations. The Applicant shall satisfy all obligations for
decommissioning the Project as provided in this Agreement, the Commission order
approving the Project certificate, and the Commission-approved Decommissioning
Plan. These obligations shall ensure the return of all participating properties to a useful
condition similar to that which existed before construction, including removal of above-
surface facilities and infrastructure that have no ongoing purpose. Specifically, these
decommissioning obligations include:

2.1. [INSERT OTHER PROJECT-SPECIFIC DECOMISSIONING ACTIVITIES
CONSISTENT WITH THE ORDER AND DECOMMISSIONING PLAN]

2.2. State and Local Units of Government Requirements. The Applicant
remains bound to obtain any permits or other authorizations required by the
State or any local unit of government for purposes of decommissioning
activities.

Decommissioning Process.

3.1. Initiation. Decommissioning of the Project shall commence under any of the
following conditions (“Decommissioning Trigger Events”):

3.1.1. Applicant-Initiated Decommissioning. The Developer may, subject to
its agreements with the participating landowners and the terms of
Commission approval, provide written notice to the parties of this
Agreement, and the affected local unit’s chief elected official, of its intent
to decommission the Project or a portion thereof.

3.1.2. Landowner Agreements. The Applicant has entered into separate
agreements with the owners of the land on which the Project will be
developed. To the extent these agreements require decommissioning
within a stated period or upon specific events, decommissioning shall
commence no later than upon the triggering of such terms to the extent
not in conflict with the Commission Order. This decommissioning
agreement is intended to be consistent with applicable landowner
agreements to the extent not in conflict with the Commission Order.

3.1.3. Depowering. [ADJUST THIS TERM BASED ON RESOURCE TYPE]
If the Project ceases to generate, store, or produce electricity for twelve

Packet Page 111



3.1.4.

3.1.5.

(12) consecutive months, the project shall be deemed depowered and
decommissioning shall commence unless the Applicant can
demonstrate that the lack of generation, storage, or production is the
result of a reasonable and temporary condition for which there is an
appropriate remedy approved through a Commission proceeding. If a
Project fails to generate, store, or produce electricity within 5 years of
commencing construction, it shall be deemed depowered, and
decommissioning shall commence unless the Applicant can
demonstrate through a Commission proceeding that generation,
storage, or production will proceed within a reasonable time and manner.
If the Project begins to generate, store, or produce electricity in
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement and the
Commission order approving the Project -certificate before a
decommissioning activity commences, the depowering may be deemed
reversed pursuant to a Commission proceeding.

Failure of Financial Assurance. The applicant must replace any
expiring financial assurance instrument meeting the requirements of this
Agreement and the Commission order approving the Project (including
any Estimated Decommissioning Cost updates pursuant to Paragraph
4.2.3) no less than ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date of the
financial assurance instrument. If the Applicant fails to do so, then
decommissioning shall commence; provided, that prior to commencing
decommissioning for failure to replace the expiring financial assurance
instrument, the Applicant shall have at least thirty (30) days to cure
such failure. If the Applicant’s financial assurance is to be revoked,
terminated, or otherwise ceases to meet the requirements of the Act and
Commission order approving the Project certificate, the Developer must
immediately notify the parties to this Agreement. If the Applicant cannot
cure this inadequacy and bring the Project into conformance with the Act
and Commission order approving the Project certificate within thirty (30)
days, then decommissioning shall commence.

Change of Ownership. If the ownership of the Project is transferred,
the Applicant seeks to dissolve, or the ownership structure of the
Developer is otherwise changed, the Developer must immediately file a
demonstration in the MPSC docket assigned to the Project confirming
the continued compliance with the Project certificate and the continued
validity of the financial assurance. If the Applicant fails to make any such

Packet Page 112



3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

demonstrations within 30 days of the underlying change, then
decommissioning shall commence.

3.1.6. Repowering. If the Applicant attempts to repower the Project, as
defined by MCL 460.1221(v), the Developer must seek a new certificate
pursuant to MCL 460.1222. If the Developer begins repowering but fails
to seek a new certificate, then decommissioning shall commence unless
the Developer halts all repowering activities and initiates the procedures
for seeking local approval or a certificate to the satisfaction of the
Commission within thirty (30) days of the start of repowering activities.

Decommissioning Notice. Upon the occurrence of any of the above-specified
Decommissioning Trigger Events, the Applicant shall immediately provide
written notice to the parties to this agreement and the affected local units of
government and file such notice in the MPSC docket assigned to the Project.

Completion Notice. Within sixty (60) days of completing decommissioning
activities, the Applicantr must notify the Commission and submit a
decommissioning report that includes a summary of decommissioning activities
and a description of any mitigation measures used during decommissioning in
the MPSC docket assigned to the Project.

Commission Decommissioning Authority.

3.4.1. Commission-lnitiated Decommissioning. If the Applicant, its
successors or assigns, or any other person controlling the Project fails,
refuses, or neglects to initiate decommissioning within 180 days of any
of the Decommissioning Trigger Events, the Commission shall itself
have the right, but not the obligation, to perform the Applicants
decommissioning obligations under this Agreement, the Commission
order approving the Project certificate, and the Commission-approved
Decommissioning Plan. In such event, the Applicant (or its successors
or assigns) agrees to give the Commission and its contractors or agents
the right to possess, dispose of, and otherwise decommission the
property that makes up the Project and shall defend, hold harmless, and
indemnify the Commission for any and all claims, liability, loss, or
damage arising out of its exercise of its right to decommission the
Project as provided for herein, except in cases of negligence by the
Commission or any of its contractors or agents. The Commission shall
not be required to expend funds beyond those funds provided through

Packet Page 113



the financial assurances in order to perform the Applicant’s
decommissioning obligations. In the event the Applicant (or its
successors or assigns) subsequently takes steps to initiate such
activities and a decommissioning proceeding before the Commission
within a reasonable time, the Commission may refrain from
decommissioning activities and allow the Applicant (or its successors or
assigns) to commence the necessary actions.

3.4.2. Access Representations. The Applicant hereby represents that it has
the rights of ingress, egress, access, and possession to the Project
location pursuant to its agreements with Landowners and that the
Commission’s rights under this Agreement are consistent with the terms
of such agreements with the landowners. The Commission shall provide
reasonable notice to the Applicant and Landowner before entering the
Project location if Commission-initiated decommissioning is warranted.
The Applicant hereby represents it possesses the authority to grant such
authority pursuant to its lease agreements and property rights.

3.4.3. Future Obligations. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge and
agree that appropriation of funds is a legislative function that the
Commission cannot contractually commit itself to perform. The
Commission’s obligations under this Agreement will not constitute a
general obligation of the State of Michigan and the Commission’s
obligations under this Agreement will not constitute either a pledge of
the full faith and credit or the taxing power of the State of Michigan.

4. Financial Assurance. [ADJUST THESE TERMS FOR IRREVOCABLE LETTERS
OF CREDIT OR PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES]

41.

Estimated Decommissioning Cost. Pursuant to MCL 460.1225(r) and the
Commission order approving the Project certificate, the estimated cost of
decommissioning the project (“Estimated Decommissioning Cost”), which is
subject to the periodic updates described below, is initially $ . The
Estimated Decommissioning Cost is intended to include the following:

4.1.1. Costs for removal of energy facility equipment and infrastructure, land
restoration and reclamation, and insurance requirements calculated by
a third party with expertise in decommissioning.

4.1.2. Salvage value for energy facility equipment and infrastructure
calculated by a third party with expertise in decommissioning.

Packet Page 114



4.2.

4.1.3. The cost to hire a decommissioning consultant to manage the
decommissioning process in the event of Applicant abandonment or
bankruptcy.

Bond Acquisition. [ADJUST THIS TERM BASED ON APPROVED
FINANCIAL ASSURANCE SCHEDULE] No later than the start of construction,
the Applicant shall post a Decommissioning Bond in the amount of at least
$ for the benefit of the Commission, which is 25% of the
Estimated Decommissioning Cost. No later than 1 year from the beginning of
construction, the Applicant shall post a Decommissioning Bond in the amount
of at least $ for the benefit of the Commission, which is 50% of
the Estimated Decommissioning Cost. No later than the start of full commercial
operation, the Applicant shall post a Decommissioning Bond in the amount of
at least $ for the benefit of the Commission, which is 100% of
the Estimated Decommissioning Cost. The bond shall conform to the Bond
Agreement (Attachment C to this Agreement).

4.2.1. Renewal. The Applicant or its successor in interest to the Project shall
be responsible for renewing the Bond until the financial assurance
requirement is terminated pursuant to this agreement and the
Commission order approving the Project certificate. At the end of each
bond term, the Applicant shall renew the bond.

4.2.2. Decommissioning Cost Update. The Estimated Decommissioning
Cost shall be updated as follows:

42.2.1. Timeline. For the first twenty (20) years of commercial
operation, the Estimated Decommissioning Cost will be
updated every five (5) years. Starting in the twenty-first (21st)
year of commercial operation and continuing until the financial
assurance requirement is terminated pursuant to this
agreement and the Commission order approving the Project,
the Estimated Decommissioning Cost will be updated every
three (3) years. The amount of any bond obtained subsequent
to an Estimated Decommissioning Cost update must be
based on such updated costs.

4.2.2.2. Expert Review. The Estimated Decommissioning Cost must

be updated by a third party with expertise in decommissioning
based on the updated decommissioning plan.

Packet Page 115



4.3.

42.2.3. Updated Decommissioning Plan. Upon the Estimated
Decommissioning Cost update, the Decommissioning Plans
must be updated to incorporate any improvements in the
decommissioning process or necessary changes. The
Applicant will file the updated Decommissioning Plan with the
Commission in the MPSC docket assigned to the Project.

4.2.2.4. Updated Financial Assurance. Upon the Estimated
Decommissioning Cost update, the financial assurance shall
be updated according to such updated cost estimates.

Use of Funds. If a Decommissioning Trigger Event occurs, the financial
assurance is called upon, and the Commission performs some or all of the
Applicant’'s decommissioning obligations, all funds received by the
Commission through the Commission’s claims on the financial assurances for
the Project shall be used for reasonable costs incurred by the Commission in
connection with performing the Applicant’'s decommissioning obligations for the
project and expenses related thereto (including, but not limited to, third-party
consultant and administrator fees, litigation expenses, attorney fees, and
expert fees).

5. Annual Showing. Every year, no later than [ADD DATE SPECIFIED BY THE
COMMISSION], the Developer must file proof that the financial assurance
requirements are satisfied in the MPSC docket assigned to the Project along with a
summary of the power generated, stored, or produced for the proceeding twelve (12)
month period and a description of any portions of the Project that have failed to
generate, store, or produce electricity during the proceeding twelve (12) months,
including the extent and length of such depowering.

6. Termination.

6.1.

6.2.

Commission-Approved Decommissioning. Upon completion of all
decommissioning obligations described in this agreement, the Commission
order approving the Project certificate, and the Commission-approved
Decommissioning Plan, the Applicant may apply to the Commission for
termination of this Agreement. The Commission shall determine whether any
outstanding obligations exist. Otherwise, the Commission shall terminate this
Agreement.

Financial Assurance Termination. If the Applicant applies for, and is granted,
termination of this Agreement upon completion of all decommissioning

Packet Page 116



obligations as addressed in the preceding paragraph, then the Commission
may terminate the applicable financial assurance requirements.

7. Miscellaneous.

7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

7.6.

Assignment. No party may assign all or any part of this Agreement without the
other parties’ prior written consent. This Agreement inures to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their successors and permitted assigns and is binding on
each other and each other's successors and permitted assigns.

Conflicts. In the event of a conflict between the Commission order approving
the Project certificate and this Agreement or any agreements between the
Applicant and Landowner, the Commission order shall control.

Severability. Any provision of this Agreement held to be void or unenforceable
will not affect the validity of its remaining provision.

Amendment. This Agreement cannot be modified or waived in any way without
express agreement signed by all parties.

Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed and delivered in counterparts
and duplicate originals, including by a facsimile and/or electronic transmission
thereof, each of which shall be deemed an original. Any document generated
by the parties with respect to this Agreement, including this Agreement, may be
imaged and stored electronically.

Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan.

[INSERT APPLICANT NAME]

Print Name:

MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Print Name:

Packet Page 117



ATTACHMENT F

EXHIBIT A-14 - CONDITIONS

PROPOSED MINIMUM CONDITIONS

The applicant shall include proposals to meet the proposed minimum conditions when
filing an application or provide an explanation justifying why any of the proposed minimum
conditions should not be applied to the facilities. Those participating in the case are
encouraged to evaluate the proposed conditions made by the applicant in the application
and to propose modifications or additions to proposed conditions in contested cases filed
pursuant to PA 233.

1.

An agreement from the applicant to obtain and comply with construction or
building permits from the ALU for the renewable energy and energy storage
facilities; or to enter into a third-party independent monitor agreement, funded
by the applicant, where the monitor is selected in consultation with the Staff to
be onsite during the periods when construction is taking place on a weekly
basis to monitor the construction activities. The independent monitor would be
granted authority to resolve complaints and request immediate cessation of
activities that the monitor can document are in material breach of any plan,
permit or agreement pertaining to the construction of the facility. The third-party
independent monitor shall provide periodic reports to the Staff, the ALU, and
the applicant from the start of construction and continuing through the first 3
months of commercial operation. The cadence of the reports will be determined
by the independent monitor in consultation with the Staff.

An agreement from the applicant to participate in a pre-construction meeting
with the Staff and either the ALU who has issued a construction or building
permit, or a third-party independent monitor, to ensure the Staff has access to
the most recent information and final documentation prior to construction for
use in answering questions and assisting with complaints. Invitations to attend
the pre-construction meeting should be extended to representatives of ALUs,
however, their attendance would not be required. The certificate may also be
conditioned on the applicant’'s agreement to file the final drawings, plans, and
permits received in the docket prior to the start of construction. The filing of final
drawings, plans, and permits received are for completeness and transparency
in the record and the pre-construction meeting serves to ensure that the final
plans conform with the certificate approved by the Commission.

Packet Page 118



10.

An agreement by the applicant to repair or replace all public and private
drainage systems, damaged from construction or decommissioning processes
except for those drainage systems that are already specifically addressed in
lease agreements or other agreements in place. This shall include county or
intercounty drains in the event there are established county or intercounty
drains that are part of the public drainage system.

An agreement by the applicant to file mechanical completion certificates for the
facilities in the MPSC docket assigned to the project

An agreement by the applicant to implement a complaint resolution process as
approved by the Commission as a condition of certificate approval that includes
the name of a designated developer/operator representative provided with the
authority to resolve local complaints, a dedicated phone number for complaints,
an email address for complaints, and website information instructing the public
on the complaint resolution process.

An agreement by the applicant to provide emergency contact information for its
representative of the proposed facility in the MPSC docket assigned to the
project and to file updated emergency contact information at a minimum on an
annual basis or as necessitated by applicant personnel changes.

An agreement by the applicant to implement screening, including, but not
limited to, vegetation, walls, and fencing berms, as approved by the
Commission as a condition of the siting certificate. '?

An agreement by the applicant to implement vegetative ground cover in
consideration of Michigan State University’s “Michigan Pollinator Habitat
Planning Scorecard for Solar Sites” and avoiding invasive species as approved
by the Commission as a condition to the siting certificate.

An agreement by the applicant to bury underground infrastructure to a minimum
depth of 4 feet or as approved by the Commission as a condition to the siting
certificate.

An agreement by the applicant to contract with and pay for a third-party
acoustics expert to conduct post-construction sound measurements in
accordance with sound modeling and measurement procedures '3 adopted by

2 Brownfield sites may have unique requirements related to fencing, screening, landscaping, and vegetative

cover.

¥ Sound modeling and measurement procedures are under development.

Packet Page 119



11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

the Commission and file the results in a report in the MPSC docket assigned to
the project. An agreement that if the post-construction sound measurements
do not meet the statutory requirements, noise mitigation plans will be
implemented, and the post-construction sound measurements will be repeated
and the results will be filed in a subsequent report in the docket.

An agreement by the applicant to demonstrate compliance in accordance with
sound modeling and measurement procedures adopted by the Commission
with the sound provisions in the statute upon request by the MPSC in response
to customer complaints and to maintain compliance with the sound provisions
in the statute by implementing additional noise mitigation measures during
facility operations should the sound levels be non-compliant with the statute.

For a wind project, an agreement by the applicant to mitigate shadow flicker
that does not meet the statutory provisions, report to the Commission on the
mitigation plans, and report to the Commission on the results of the mitigation
to reduce the shadow flicker. Such reports shall be filed in the MPSC docket
assigned to the project

An agreement by the applicant to, at the applicant’s cost, contract with a third
party to conduct a pre-construction study of radio reception near planned
installation of wind facilities and to remedy, at the applicant’s cost, any impacts
to reception caused by the wind energy facility and restore reception to at least
the levels present before the wind energy facility began operations. If no impact
is expected, provide support for why this is not necessary to include.

For battery storage projects, an agreement by the applicant to provide annual
training for local fire departments and other first responders. For wind and solar
projects, an agreement to conduct additional training for local fire departments
and other first responders upon request.

Approval contingent upon receiving approval for all necessary applicable state,
federal, and local permits and all permits need to be obtained before beginning
construction on the portion of the project for which the permit is necessary.

Approval contingent upon the execution of a decommissioning agreement
approved by the Commission and an agreement by the applicant to
demonstrate that financial assurance has been acquired and will be maintained
throughout the operational life of the facilities, as outlined in the
decommissioning agreement.

Packet Page 120



17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

An agreement by the applicant to comply with all other applicable (non-zoning)
ordinances throughout the operational life of the facilities that were in effect at
the time the MPSC certificate was issued.

An agreement by the applicant to comply with the provision of periodic reports
over time (as specified by the Commission as a condition of approval) on the
amount of electricity produced per turbine or per parcel, a report listing
complaints received during the time period as well as the developer/operators’
response including resolution and/or plans for mitigation, a report outlining the
operating condition and performance of the facilities on the site (including non-
producing ancillary equipment, structures, fencing, locks, gates, screening,
vegetative ground cover and other items specifically listed in the condition), a
report listing any failures of equipment or structures that took place during the
period as well as repairs that have been made during the time period or are
planned or underway, and a report of any improvements made to the site or
facilities during the period as well as any planned improvements or planned
changes to the site or facilities including changes to fencing or ancillary
equipment during the reporting period, to be filed in the docket.

An agreement by the applicant to provide annual maintenance plans and
annual inspection results in the MPSC docket assigned to the project.

An agreement by the applicant to utilize a project labor agreement or operate
under a collective bargaining agreement for the construction and maintenance
work to be performed.

An agreement by the applicant to enter into an agreement with the County
Road Agency regarding reimbursement for the repair and restoration of County
roads modified or damaged during the construction process. In lieu of an
agreement with a County Road Agency, a signed letter from the County Road
Agency indicating that an agreement is not necessary may be submitted.

Packet Page 121



PROOF OF SERVICE

STATE OF MICHIGAN )

Case No. U-21547

County of Ingham )

Brianna Brown being duly sworn, deposes and says that on October 10, 2024 A.D. she
electronically notified the attached list of this Commission Order via e-mail transmission,

to the persons as shown on the attached service list (Listserv Distribution List).

Brianna Brown(/

Subscribed and sworn to before me
this 10" day of October 2024.

(o Sodsamns

Angela P. Sanderson

Notary Public, Shiawassee County, Michigan
As acting in Eaton County
My Commission Expires: May 21, 2030

Packet Page 122



GEMOTION DISTRIBUTION SERVICE LIST

kabraham@mpower.org
mkuchera@AEPENERGY.COM
mfurmanski@algerdelta.com
kd@alpenapower.com
kerdmann@atcllc.com

acotter@atcllc.com

awebster@baycitymi.gov
rbishop@BISHOPENERGY.COM
braukerL@MICHIGAN.GOV
cherie.fuller@bp.com
greg.bass@calpinesolutions.com
Ichappelle@potomaclaw.com
rjiohnson@cherrylandelectric.coop
frucheyb@DTEENERGY.COM
crystalfallsmgr@HOTMAIL.COM
gpirkola@escanaba.org
jolson@gladstonemi.gov
kmaynard@cityofmarshall.com
tdavlin@portland-michigan.org
cwilson@cloverland.com
mheise@cloverland.com
todd.mortimer@CMSENERGY.COM
sarah.jorgensen@cmsenergy.com
Michael.torrey@cmsenergy.com
CANDACE.GONZALES@cmsenergy.com

mpsc.filings@ CMSENERGY.COM
mpsc.filings@CMSENERGY.COM
david.fein@CONSTELLATION.COM
kate.stanley@CONSTELLATION.COM
kate.fleche@CONSTELLATION.COM
Ipage@dickinsonwright.com
info@dillonpower.com

Neal.fitch@nrg.com
Kara.briggs@nrg.com
Ryan.harwell@nrg.com
mpscfilings@DTEENERGY.COM
joyce.leslie@dteenergy.com
karen.vucinaj@dteenergy.com
customerservice@eligoenergy.com
ftravaglione@energyharbor.com

rfawaz@energyintl.com
sejackinchuk@varnumlaw.com
customercare@plymouthenergy.com

Abraham,Katie - MMEA

AEP Energy

Alger Delta Cooperative

Alpena Power

American Transmission Company
American Transmission Company
Bay City Electric Light & Power

Bishop Energy

Brauker, Linda

bp Energy Retail Company, LLC
Calpine Energy Solutions
Chappelle, Laura

Cherryland Electric Cooperative
Citizens Gas Fuel Company
City of Crystal Falls

City of Escanaba

City of Gladstone

City of Marshall

City of Portland

Cloverland

Cloverland

CMS Energy

Consumers Energy Company
Consumers Energy Company
Consumers Energy Company
Consumers Energy Company
Consumers Energy Company
Constellation Energy
Constellation Energy
Constellation New Energy
Dickinson Wright

Dillon Power, LLC

Direct Energy

Direct Energy

Direct Energy

DTE Energy

DTE Energy

DTE Energy

Eligo Energy M, LLC

Energy Harbor

Energy International Power Marketing d/b/a PowerOne

Energy Michigan

ENGIE Gas & Power f/k/a Plymouth Energy

Packet Page 123



GEMOTION DISTRIBUTION SERVICE LIST

felicel @ MICHIGAN.GOV
bgorman@FIRSTENERGYCORP.COM
phil@allendaleheating.com
dburks@glenergy.com
slamp@glenergy.com
sculver@glenergy.com
Irgustafson@CMSENERGY.COM
jhammel@hillsdalebpu.com
coneill@homeworks.org
psimmer@HOMEWORKS.ORG
mgobrien@aep.com
dan@megautilities.org
daustin@IGSENERGY.COM
general@itctransco.com
kadarkwa@itctransco.com
apascaris@itctransco.com
igoodman@commerceenergy.com
krichel@DLIB.INFO
dbodine@LIBERTYPOWERCORP.COM
ham557@GMAIL.COM
tlundgren@potomaclaw.com

tcarpenter@mblp.org

suzy@megautilities.org

dan@megautilities.org
mmann@USGANDE.COM
shannon.burzycki@wecenergygroup.com
mrzwiers@INTEGRYSGROUP.COM
kabraham@mpower.org

JHDillavou@midamericanenergyservices.com
JCAltmayer@midamericanenergyservices.com

LMLann@midamericanenergyservices.com

dave.allen@TEAMMIDWEST.COM
bob.hance@teammidwest.com
kerri.wade@teammidwest.com
Marie-Rose.Gatete@teammidwest.com
meghan.tarver@teammidwest.com
d.motley@COMCAST.NET
rarchiba@FOSTEROIL.COM
customerservice@nordicenergy-us.com

karl.j.hoesly@xcelenergy.com

esoumis@ontorea.com
mpauley@GRANGERNET.COM
mmpeck@fischerfranklin.com

Felice, Lisa

First Energy

Forner, Phil

Great Lakes Energy

Great Lakes Energy Cooperative
Great Lakes Energy Cooperative
Gustafson, Lisa

Hillsdale Board of Public Utilities
HomeWorks Tri-County Electric Cooperative
HomeWorks Tri-County Electric Cooperative
Indiana Michigan Power Company
Integrys Group

Interstate Gas Supply Inc

ITC Holdings

ITC Holdings

ITC Holdings

Just Energy Solutions

Krichel, Thomas

Liberty Power

Lowell S.

Lundgren, Timothy

Marquette Board of Light & Power
MEGA

MEGA

Michigan Gas & Electric

Michigan Gas Utilities Corporation

Michigan Gas Utilities/Upper Penn Power/Wisconsin

Michigan Public Power Agency
MidAmerican Energy Services, LLC
MidAmerican Energy Services, LLC
MidAmerican Energy Services, LLC
Midwest Energy Cooperative
Midwest Energy Cooperative
Midwest Energy Cooperative
Midwest Energy Cooperative
Midwest Energy Cooperative
Motley, Doug

My Choice Energy

Nordic Energy Services, LLC
Northern States Power
Ontonagon County Rural Elec
Pauley, Marc

Peck, Matthew

Packet Page 124



GEMOTION DISTRIBUTION SERVICE LIST

bschlansker@PREMIERENERGYLLC.COM

MVanschoten@pieg.com
aberg@pieg.com
johnbistranin@realgy.com
BusinessOffice@REALGY.COM
mvorabouth@ses4energy.com
rabaey@SES4ENERGY.COM
cborr@WPSCI.COM

jbelec@stephenson-mi.org
kay8643990@YAHOO.COM
regulatory@texasretailenergy.com
bessenmacher@tecmi.coop
James.Beyer@wecenergygroup.com
Richard.Stasik@wecenergygroup.com

jlarsen@uppco.com
estocking@uppco.com
manager@Uvillageofbaraga.org
Villagemanager@villageofclinton.org
jeinstein@volunteerenergy.com
leew@WVPA.COM
tking@WPSCI.COM
Amanda@misostates.org
Deborah.e.erwin@xcelenergy.com
Michelle.Schlosser@xcelenergy.com

Premier Energy Marketing LLC
Presque Isle Electric & Gas Cooperative, INC

Presque Isle Electric & Gas Cooperative, INC

Realgy Corp.

Realgy Energy Services

Santana Energy

Santana Energy

Spartan Renewable Energy, Inc. (Wolverine Power Marketing
Corp)

Stephenson Utilities Department

Superior Energy Company

Texas Retail Energy, LLC

Thumb Electric Cooperative

Upper Michigan Energy Resources Corporation
Upper Michigan Energy Resources Corporation
Upper Peninsula Power Company

Upper Peninsula Power Company

Village of Baraga

Village of Clinton

Volunteer Energy Services

Wabash Valley Power

Wolverine Power

Wood, Amanda

Xcel Energy

Xcel Energy

Packet Page 125



	1. 2026.01.22 PC Agenda
	2. Public Comment Policy
	3. 2026.01.08 Planning Commission minutes
	4.  2026-01-22 mem_regarding guest speakers
	5.  2026-01-15 mem_draft one
	6.  Draft One_2026-1-15
	7.  2026-01-22 mem_sharing MPSC Certificate App Instructions
	8. MPSC application and filing instructions
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



